Risk Factors Comparison 2025-02-07 to 2024-02-08 Form: 10-K

Legend: New Text RemevedFext-Unchanged Text Moved Text Section

Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can result in the initiation of certain mandatory and possibly additional
discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could limit our business activities and have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations and financial condition. See *“ Regulation — Risk Factors Relating to Regulation — Failure
by Synchrony and the Bank to meet applicable capital adequacy and liquidity requirements could have a material adverse effect
on us. ” Off- Balance Sheet Arrangements and Unfunded Lending Commitments

We do not
have any material off- balance sheet arrangements, including guarantees of third- party obligations. Guarantees are contracts or
indemnification agreements that contingently require us to make a guaranteed payment or perform an obligation to a third- party
based on certain trigger events. At December 31, 2623-2024 , we had not recorded any contingent liabilities in our Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position related to any guarantees. See Note 6- Variable Interest Entities to our consolidated financial
statements for more information on our investment commitments for unconsolidated variable interest entities ¢-VHE~s"3- We
extend credit, primarily arising from agreements with customers for unused lines of credit on our credit cards, in the ordinary
course of business. Each unused credit card line is unconditionally cancellable by us. See Note 5. Loan Receivables and
Allowance for Credit Losses to our consolidated financial statements for more information on our unfunded lending
commitments. Critical Accounting Estimates In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we have identified certain
accounting estimates and assumptions that we consider to be the most critical to an understanding of our financial statements
because they involve significant judgments and uncertainties. The critical accounting estimates we have identified relate to
allowance for credit losses and fair value measurements. These estimates reflect our best judgment about current, and for some
estimates future, economic and market conditions and their effects based on information available as of the date of these
financial statements. If these conditions change from those expected, it is reasonably possible that these judgments and estimates
could change, which may result in incremental losses on loan receivables, or material changes to our Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position, among other effects. See Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to
our consolidated financial statements, which discusses the significant accounting policies related to these estimates. Losses on
loan receivables are estimated and recognized upon origination of the loan, based on expected credit losses for the life of the
loan balance as of the period end date. This requires us to estimate expected losses in the portfolio as of each balance sheet date.
The method for calculating the estimate of expected credit loss takes into account historical experience, and current conditions
and future expectations for pools of loans with similar risk characteristics, and reasonable and supportable forecasts about the
future. The model utilizes a macroeconomic forecast, with unemployment as the primary macroeconomic variable. We also
perform a qualitative assessment in addition to model estimates and apply qualitative adjustments as necessary. The reasonable
and supportable forecast period is determined primarily based upon an assessment of the current economic outlook and our
ability to use available data to accurately forecast losses over time. The reasonable and supportable forecast period used in our
estimate of credit losses at December 31, 2023-2024 was 12 months, consistent with the forecast period utilized since adoption
of CECL. The Company reassesses the reasonable and supportable forecast period on a quarterly basis. Beyond the reasonable
and supportable forecast period, we revert to historical loss information at the loan receivables segment level over a 6- month
period, gradually increasing the weight of historical losses by an equal amount each month during the reversion period, and
utilize historical loss information thereafter for the remaining life of the portfolio. The reversion period, similar to the
reasonable and supportable forecast period, may change in the future depending on multiple factors such as forecasting methods,
portfolio changes, and macroeconomic environment. We evaluate each portfolio quarterly. For credit card receivables, our
estimation process includes analysis of historical data, and there is a significant amount of judgment applied in selecting inputs
and analyzing the results produced by the models to determine the allowance. Our risk process includes standards and policies
for reviewing major risk exposures and concentrations, and evaluates relevant data either for individual loans or on a portfolio
basis, as appropriate. More specifically, we use an enhanced migration analysis to estimate the likelihood that a loan will
progress through the various stages of delinquency. The enhanced migration analysis considers uncollectible principal, interest
and fees reflected in the loan receivables, segmented by credit and business parameters. We use other analyses to estimate
expected losses on non- delinquent accounts, which include past performance, bankruptcy activity such as filings, policy
changes, loan volumes and amounts. Holistically, for assessing the portfolio credit loss content, we also evaluate portfolio risk
management techniques applied to various accounts, historical behavior of different account vintages, account seasoning,
economic conditions, recent trends in delinquencies, account collection management, forecasting uncertainties, expectations
about the future, and a qualitative assessment of the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses. We estimate our allowance for
credit losses using pools of loans with similar risk characteristics. Further, when experience is not available for new portfolios 3
therefore-, while we accumulate experience, we utilize our experience with the most closely analogous products and segments in
our portfolio. The underlying assumptions, estimates and assessments we use to provide for losses are updated periodically to
reflect our view of current and forecasted conditions and are subject to the regulatory examination process, which can result in
changes to our assumptions. Changes in such estimates can significantly affect the allowance and provision for credit losses. It is
possible that we will experience credit losses that are different from our current estimates. Fair Value Measurements Assets ane
habtities-measured at fair value everyreporting-period-on a recurring basis primarily eensists— consist of investments in debt
securities . Liabilities at December 31, 2024 measured at fair value on a recurring basis were not material . Assets that are




not measured at fair value every reporting period, but that are subject to fair value measurements in certain circumstances,
primarily include business acquisitions and dispositions, acquired loans, loans that have been reduced to fair value when they
are held for sale, equity method investments that are written down to fair value when they are impaired, as well as certain equity
%ecurme% without readlly determlnable fair value that are measured based upon observable prlce changes. Assets that Our

Value measurement is determlned as the price that we would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a hablhty in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In the absence of active markets for the identical assets or
liabilities, such measurements involve developing assumptions based on market observable data and, in the absence of such data,
internal information that is consistent with what market participants would use in a hypothetical transaction that occurs at the
measurement date. The determination of fair value often involves significant judgments about assumptions such as determining
an appropriate discount rate that factors in both risk and liquidity premiums, identifying the similarities and differences in
market transactions, weighting those differences accordingly and then making the appropriate adjustments to those market
transactions to reflect the risks specific to eur-the asset or liability being valued. Assets-that-are-writtenrdown-to-During the
year ended December 31, 2024, we completed the disposition of Pets Best and acquisition of Ally Lending. These
transactions included fair valuc measurements related whenimpaired-are-notsubsequently-adjusted-to both the
consideration received at the closing of the sale of Pets Best and the assets and liabilities acquired at the closing of the
acquisition of Ally Lending, which primarily included loan receivables with an unpaid principal balance of $ 2. 2 billion.
To determine the fair value unless-furtherimpairment-oeeurs-of loan receivables acquired through our acquisition of Ally
Lending, we estimated expected cash flows and discounted those cash flows using an observable market rate of interest,
when available, and adjusted for factors that a market participant would consider in determining fair value. In
determining fair value, expected cash flows are adjusted to include prepayment, default rate and loss severity estimates.
The difference between the fair value of the loan receivables and the amount contractually due was recorded as a loan
discount at acquisition. Including the impact of measurement period adjustments, the loan discount at the acquisition
date was $ 469 million, which is to be amortized into interest income over the estimated remaining life of the loans. See
Note 3. Acquisitions and Dispositions to our consolidated financial statements for additional information on the Ally
Lending acquisition and disposition of Pets Best . RISKS Risk Factors Summary We are providing the following summary of
the risk factors contained in this Annual Report on Form 10- K to enhance the readability and accessibility of our risk factor
disclosures. We encourage you to carefully review the full risk factors contained in this Annual Report on Form 10- K in their
entirety for additional information regarding the material factors that make an investment in our securities speculative or risky.
These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the following: Macroeconomic, Strategic and Operational Risks *
Macroeconomic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. ¢
Our results of operations and growth depend on our ability to retain existing partners and attract new partners. Further, a
significant percentage of our interest and fees on loans comes from relationships with a small number of large retail partners,
and the loss of any of these partners could adversely affect our business and results of operations. « Our business is heavily
concentrated in U. S. consumer credit, and therefore our results are more susceptible to market fluctuations and legislative and
regulatory developments in that market than a more diversified company. « The CFPB' s propesed-final rule on credit card late
fees, if adepted-implemented , would likely materially adversely affect our business and results of operations. * Our results
depend, to a significant extent, on the active and effective promotion and support of our products by our partners, and on the
financial performance of our partners. * Competition in the consumer finance industry is intense. * We may be unable to
successfully develop and commercialize new or enhanced products and services, or realize the value of acquisitions,
dispositions, strategic investments and strategic initiatives that we pursue. * Fraudulent activity associated with our products and
services could negatively impact our operating results, brand and reputation and cause the use of our products and services to
decrease and our fraud losses to increase. ¢ The failure of third parties to provide various services that are important to our
operations could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. « Qur remote As-we-eontiftre-to
utthize-work frem-home-arrangements may have -ouroperations-are-subjeetto-new-and- an heightened-risks-adverse impact
on our business . Technological Risks ¢ Cyber- attacks or other security breaches could have a material adverse effect on our
business. * Disruptions in the operation of our and our outsourced partners' technology environments could have a material
adverse effect on our business. Financial Risks ¢ Our allowance for credit losses may prove to be insufficient to cover losses on
our loans. * If assumptions or estimates we use in preparing our financial statements, including those related to the CECL
accounting guidance, are incorrect or are required to change, our reported results of operations and financial condition may be
adversely affected.  Adverse financial market conditions, our inability to effectively manage our funding and liquidity risk or
our inability to maintain or grow our deposits in the future could have a material adverse effect on our funding, liquidity and
ability to meet our obligations. « Changes in market interest rates could have a material adverse effect on our net earnings,
funding and liquidity. * A reduction in our credit ratings could materially increase the cost of our funding from, and restrict our
access to, the capital markets. * Various risks related to the securitization of our loan receivables, including our ability to
securitize our loan receivables on favorable terms or at all, the occurrence of an early amortization event, our loss of the right to
service or subservice our loan receivables or lower payment rates on such receivables could have a material adverse effect on our
business, liquidity, cost of funds and financial condition. « We rely extensively on models in managing many aspects of our
business, and if they are not accurate or are misinterpreted, it could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of
operations. * Our business depends on our ability to successfully manage our credit risk, and failing to do so may result in high



charge- off rates. * We may not be able to offset increases in our costs with decreased payments under our retailer share
arrangements, which could reduce our profitability. « Reductions in interchange fees and changes to the regulations governing
such fees, could have a material adverse impact on our business and results of operations. Legal Risks « We have international
operations that subject us to various international risks as well as increased compliance and regulatory risks and costs. * If we
are alleged to have infringed upon the intellectual property rights owned by others or are not able to protect our intellectual
property, our business and results of operations could be adversely affected. ¢ Litigation, regulatory actions and compliance
issues could subject us to significant fines, penalties, judgments, remediation costs and / or requirements resulting in increased
expenses. Regulatory Risks ¢ Our business is subject to government regulation, supervision, examination and enforcement,
which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. * Ongoing changes to the regulatory
framework applicable to us , including with respect to the CFPB, anti- money laundering and anti- terrorism financing
laws, and our third party vendors have had, and may continue to have, a significant impact on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. ¢ Failure by Synchrony and the Bank to meet applicable capital adequacy and liquidity
requirements could limit our ability to pay dividends and repurchase our common stock or otherwise have a material adverse
effect on us. * Regulations relating to privacy, information security and data protection could increase our costs, affect or limit
how we collect and use personal information and adversely affect our business opportunities. Risk Factors Relating to Our
Business The following discussion of risk factors contains * forward- looking statements, ” as discussed in “ Cautionary Note
Regarding Forward- Looking Statements. ” These risk factors may be important to understanding any statement in this Annual
Report on Form 10- K or elsewhere. The following information should be read in conjunction with “ Management’ s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ” (MD & A), the consolidated financial statements and related
notes in “ Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ” and ““ Regulation — Risk Factors Relating to Regulation
” of this Form 10- K Report. Our business routinely encounters and addresses risks, some of which will cause our future results
to be different- sometimes materially different- than we anticipate. Discussion about important operational risks that our
business encounters can be found in the business descriptions in “ Our Business ”” and the MD & A section of this Form 10- K
Report. The key categories of risks our business faces are macro- economic, strategic, operational, technological (including
cybersecurity), financial, legal and regulatory. Our reactions to material future developments as well as our competitors’
reactions to those developments will affect our future results. Key macroeconomic conditions historically have affected our
business, results of operations and financial condition and are likely to affect them in the future. Consumer confidence,
affordability, inflation, unemployment , personal income, personal savings and access to other liquidity, housing prices
and values and other economic indicators are among the factors that often impact consumer spending and payment behavior
and demand for credit. Poor economic conditions reduce the usage of our credit cards and other financing products and the
average purchase amount of transactions on our credit cards and through our other products, which, in each case, reduces our
interest and fee income. We rely primarily on interest and fees on our loan receivables to generate our net earnings. Our interest
and fees on our loan receivables was $ +9-21 . 9-6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . Poor economic
conditions also adversely affect the ability and willingness of customers to pay amounts owed to us, increasing delinquencies,
bankruptcies, charge- offs and allowances for credit losses ;-and settlements and-deereastngreeovertes-. For example, our over-
30 day delinquency rate as a percentage of period- end loan receivables was 8. 25 % at December 31, 2009 during the financial
crisis, compared to 4. 74-70 % at December 31, 2623-2024 , and our full- year net charge- off rate was 11. 26 % for the year
ended December 31, 2009, compared to 4-6 . -8—7—31 % for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . The assessment of our
credit profile mcludes the evaluation of peﬁ-fehe—mn&aeemmt—matura&en—as—weﬁ—as—broader consumer and industry trends,

such as payment behavior and overall indebtedness. Economic growth in the United States can slow due to higher
unemploymentrates;tower—- low housing-values-productivity, declining investments, limited access to credit, shrinking
labor force, labor relations , concerns about the level of U. S. government debt, inflation, interest rates , tariffs (including
retaliatory tariffs in response to tariffs imposed by the United States), and monetary and / or fiscal actions thatmay-be
taketrto-address-these-eoneerns-, as well as economic and political conditions in the U. S. and global markets , including
international trade relations. Additionally, there is uncertainty regarding the impact of changes in the U. S. presidential
administration and Congress on fiscal, monetary and regulatory policy . A prolonged period of slow economic growth or a
significant deterioration in economic conditions or broader consumer trends, including employment, wage growth, savings rates
and consumer indebtedness, would likely affect consumer spending levels and the ability and willingness of customers to pay
amounts owed to us, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, key credit trends, results of operations and
financial condition. Further, while the primary-effects of the COVID- 19 pandemic have subsided —t-he—e*teﬂt—e—ﬁt-he—eﬂge-}ng
-}mpaets—ef—GG¥I-D-—1-9—aﬂd—the impact of any future outbreaks, epidemics, pandemics or other public health crises on our
business remain uncertain and are difficult to predict. Macroeconomic conditions may also cause net earnings to fluctuate and
diverge from expectations of securities analysts and investors, who may have differing assumptions regarding the impact of

these conditions on our business, and this may adversely nnpact our stock prrce In addrtron as—gevefnmeﬂts,—m—vestefs—aﬂd—et-hef

toptes;-governments may implement regulatlons or investors and other stakeholders may adopt new 1nvestment policies or
otherwise impose new expectations regarding sustainability, social or other topics that cause significant shifts in disclosure,
commerce and consumption behaviors that may have negative impacts on our business and / or reputation. Substantially all of
our revenue is generated from the credit products we provide to customers of our partners pursuant to program agreements we
enter into with our partners. As a result, our results of operations and growth depend on our ability to retain existing partners and
attract new partners. Hrstorlcally, there has been turnover in our partners, and we expect th1s will continue in the future. Fer

e-Many of the program
agreements we have in place with our large partners and natronal and reglonal retailer and manufacturer partners are for multi-



year terms. These program agreements generally permit us or our partner to terminate the agreement prior to its scheduled
termination date under certain circumstances. A partner may terminate an agreement for various reasons, including, in
some cases, if we fail to meet certain service levels or change certain key cardholder terms or our credit criteria, we fail to
achieve certain targets with respect to approvals of new customers as a result of the credit criteria we use, we elect not to
increase the program size when the outstanding loan receivables under the program reach certain thresholds or we are not
adequately capitalized, certain force majeure events or changes in our ownership occur, or a material adverse change in our
financial condition or a significant change in law occurs. A few programs with national and regional retailer and manufacturer
partners also may be terminated at will by the partner on specified notice to us (e. g., several months). In addition, programs with
manufacturers, buying groups and industry associations generally are made available to certain partners such as individual retail
outlets, dealers and merchants under dealer agreements, which typically may be terminated at will by the-us or our partner on
short notice te-as(e. g., 15 days). There is significant competition for our existing partners, and our failure to retain our existing
larger partner relationships upon the expiration or our earlier loss of a relationship upon the exercise of a partner’ s early
termination rights, or the expiration or termination of a substantial number of smaller partner relationships, could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations (including growth rates) and financial condition to the extent we do not acquire new
partners of similar size and profitability or otherwise grow our business. In addition, existing relationships may be renewed with
less favorable terms to the Company in response to increased competition for such relationships. The competition for new
partners is also significant, and our failure to attract new partners could adversely affect our ability to grow. A significant
percentage of our interest and fees on loans comes from relationships with a small number of large retail partners, and the loss
of any of these partners could adversely affect our business and results of operations. Our five largest programs based upon
interest and fees on loans for the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 were Amazon, JCPenney, Lowe’ s, PayPal and Sam’ s
Club. These programs accounted in aggregate for 55-54 % of our total interest and fees on loans for the year ended December
31,2023-2024 , and 51 % of loan receivables at December 31, 2023-2024 . Our programs with Lowe' s, PayPal, which includes
our Venmo program, and Sam' s Club, each accounted for more than 10 % of our total interest and fees on loans for the year
ended December 31, 2623-2024 . See “ Our Business — Our Sales Platforms. ” The program agreements generally permit us or
our partner to terminate the agreement prior to its scheduled termination date under various circumstances as described in the
preceding risk factor. Some of our program agreements also provide that, upon expiration or termination, our partner may
purchase or designate a third party to purchase the accounts and loans generated with respect to its program and all related
customer data. The loss of any of our largest partners or a material reduction in the interest and fees we receive from their
customers could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. Our business is heavily
concentrated in the U. S. consumer credit industry . As a result, we are more susceptible to fluctuations and risks particular to
U. S. consumer credit than a more diversified company. Our business is particularly sensitive to macroeconomic conditions that
affect the U. S. economy, consumer spending and consumer credit. For example, during-beginning in the second half of 2022
and threughett---- through 2623-2024 , we experienced moderation in payment rates due to lower consumer savings and other
factors. To the extent that payment rates continue to moderate, we could see a decline and / or volatility in purchase volume, as
well as increases in our delinquencies, net charge- off rate and allowance for credit losses. The extent of the impacts on U. S.
consumer credit from these and other macroeconomic conditions is currently uncertain and dependent on various factors and
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition . Additionally, we have and
may in the future implement measures to tighten credit access in response to certain consumer and economic indicators
which have and may in the future impact our financial performance, such as purchase volume and new accounts . [n
addition, we are more susceptible to the risks of increased regulations and legal and other regulatory actions that are targeted at
consumer credit or the specific consumer credit products that we offer (including pricing on our credit products, our payment
security program and promotional financing). ©ur-For example, recent legislative and regulatory proposals have sought to
limit pricing on consumer credit products. In addition, our Health & Wellness platform is more susceptible to increased
regulations and legal and other regulatory actions targeted at healthcare related procedures or services, in contrast to other
industries. Our business concentration in U. S. consumer credit and susceptibility to associated legislative and regulatory
actions could have ama materlal adverse effect on our resultq of operatlonq On -Febfuaﬁy—l—March 5,2623-2024 , the CFPB
issued a final rule #e v amend-amending its regulations that
implement the Truth in Lendlng Act to, among other thmgs, lower the safe halbor dollar amount for credit card late
payment-fees from the-earrent$ 30 (adjusted to $ 41 for each subsequent late payment within the next six billing cycles) to $ 8
and eliminate to-eaplate-fees-at25-%of the mintmumpayment-due-automatic annual inflation adjustment to such safe
harbor dollar amount . The propesed-final rule, if-adopted-when effective , weu-}d-wﬂl reqult ina slgmﬂcant reduction ef
eredit-eard-tate-in our interest and fces on loan receivables
ofa-Industry organizations have challenged the final rule in court The final rule had an orlgmal effectlve date of May 14,
2024; however, on May 10, 2024, the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas granted an
injunction and stay of the final rule, and the injunction remains in effect. The ultimate outcome of this litigation and the
impact on the final rule, including whether the final rule will become effective and if effective, the timing of
implementation, is snknewnand-we-uncertain. We continue to closely monitor relevant developments and the impact on our
business. If the final rule does not become effective, there is also a risk that new regulations relating to late fees may be
proposed. For the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , interest income on loan receivables includes fees on loans, which
primarily consist of late fees on our credit products, of $ 2. 75 billion, net of reversals. A significant reduction in the late fees
the Company charges would reduce our fees on loans and could also impact the competitiveness of our credit products and our
ability and willingness to provide certain products and services, or to continue to offer our products to certain customers.
Additionally-In anticipation that the final rule will become effective , we have implemented a number of product, pricing




and policy changes to adjust for the significant reduction in the-our late fee safe-harbor-wouldrequire-income. The effects of
these changes have started to be reflected in our Consolidated Statement of Earnmgs for the year ended December 31
2024. These changes may subject us to adeptrew-a variety of risks , erma o-stra afrd
praetices-which-may-be-difftentt-for-us-to-implement-due to, among other things, addltlonal ecostcosts —fequﬁed-feseﬂfee
eenmﬁmen-t—and maﬂageﬁaeﬂt—&&eﬁ&en—partner customer and other stakeholder acceptance rand-operational-eomplexities-and

. Further, it will tkeby-take time for sueh-strategies-these
product pfeeesses-prlclng and pfaeﬁees—pohcy changes to offset the impact of a significant reduction in the late fees we

charge and there can be no assurance that these changes will fully offset the impact. Additionally, we are unable to
predict the impact the product, pricing and policy changes and the implementation of the final rule itself or the final rule
not becoming effective, will have on our customers’ and overall consumer behavior, including in regard to our ability to
retain existing customers and attract new customers . Our inability to successfully manage these—- the foregoing risks could
result in harm to our reputation and our brand , as well as subject us to additional scrutiny from regulators and other
stakeholders . If we are unable to continue to charge late fees at the-same-levels similar to those permitted under existing the
eurrentregulatory guidance or effectively offset the impacts of a significant reduction in the late fees we charge, there would be
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and / or financial condition. Our results depend, to a significant
extent, on the active and effective promotion and support of our products by our partners. Our partners generally accept most
major credit cards and various other forms of payment, and therefore our success depends on their active and effective
promotion of our products to their customers. We depend on our partners to integrate the use of our credit products into their
physical and digital point - of - sale systems, to train their customer facing associates about our products, encourage their
customers to apply for, and use, our products and otherwise effectively market our products through all physical and digital
channels. In addition, although our programs with national and regional partners typically are exclusive with respect to the credit
products we offer at that partner, some programs and most Health & Wellness provider relationships are not exclusive to us, and
therefore a partner may choose to promote a competitor’ s financing over or alongside ours, depending upon cost, availability or
attractiveness to consumers or other factors. Typically, we do not have, or utilize, any recourse against these non- exclusive
partners when they do not prioritize the promotion of our products. Partners may also implement or fail to implement changes in
their systems and technologies that may disrupt the integration between their systems and technologies and ours, which could
disrupt or reduce the use of our products. The failure by our partners to effectively promote and support our products as well as
changes they may make in their business models that negatively impact card usage could have a material adverse effect on our
business and results of operations. In addition, if our partners engage in improper business practices, do not adhere to the terms
of our program agreements or other contractual arrangements or standards, or otherwise diminish the value of our brand, we may
suffer reputational damage and customers may be less likely to use our products, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business and results of operations. Our results are impacted, to a significant extent, by the financial performance of our
partners. Our ability to generate new loans and the interest and fees and other income associated with them is dependent upon
sales of merchandise and services by our partners. The retail and healthcare industries in which our partners operate are
intensely competitive. Our partners compete with retailers and department stores in their own geographic areas, as well as direct
to consumer and online or digital sales businesses. Our partners in the healthcare industry compete with other healthcare
providers. Our partners’ sales may decrease or may not increase as we anticipate for various reasons, some of which are in the
partners’ control and some of which are not. For example, partner sales may be adversely affected by macroeconomic conditions
having a national, regional or more local effect on consumer spending ; regulatory actions such as tariffs , as well as
retaliatory tariffs in response to tariffs imposed by the United States; taxes that impact the cost of consumer goods;
business conditions affecting the general retail environment, such as supply chain disruptions or the ability to maintain sufficient
staffing levels, or a particular partner or industry ;=3 or catastrophes affecting broad or more discrete geographic areas. If our
partners’ sales decline for any reason, it generally results in lower credit sales, and therefore lower loan volume and associated
interest and fees and other income for us from their customers. In addition, if a partner closes some or all of its stores or
locations, or becomes subject to a voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy proceeding (or if there is a perception that it may become
subject to a bankruptcy proceeding), its customers who have used our financing products may have less incentive to pay their
outstanding balances to us, which could result in higher charge- off rates than anticipated and our costs for servicing its
customers’ accounts may increase. This risk is particularly acute with respect to our largest partners that account for a
significant amount of our interest and fees on loans. See “ — A significant percentage of our interest and fees on loans comes
from relationships with a small number of partners, and the loss of any of these partners could adversely affect our business and
results of operations. ” Moreover, if the financial condition of a partner deteriorates significantly or a partner becomes subject to
a bankruptcy proceeding, we may not be able to recover amounts due to us from the partner such as customer returns or
customer payments made in partner stores. A decrease in sales by our partners for any reason or a bankruptcy proceeding
involving any of them could have a material adverse impact on our business and results of operations. The success of our
business depends on our ability to retain existing partners and attract new partners. The competition for partners is intense and
highly competitive across our product set. Our primary competitors for partners include major financial institutions, such as
American Express, Bread Financial, Capital One, JPMorgan Chase, Citibank, TD Bank and Wells Fargo, and to a lesser extent,
financial technology companies, point- of- sale lending focused companies , and potential partners’ own in- house financing
capabilities. Some of our competitors are substantially larger, have substantially greater resources and may offer a broader range
of products and services. In addition, some of our competitors have been acquired , and others may in the future be acquired,
by private- equity led consortia, which may expand the level of resources available to these competitors. We compete for
partners on the basis of a number of factors, including program financial and other terms, technological capabilities,
underwriting capabilities, marketing expertise, service levels, product and service offerings (including incentive and loyalty




programs), and integration, brand and reputation. In addition, some of our competitors fer-partrers-have a business model that
allows for their partners to manage underwriting (e. g., new account approval), customer service and collections, and other core
banking responsibilities that we retain but some partners may prefer to handle. As a result of competition, we may be unable to
acquire new partners, lose existing relationships to competing companies or find it more costly to maintain our existing
relationships. In addition, new tech- enabled platforms have arisen to support our potential partners in scaling quickly. These
include eCarts 5-(e. g., Shopify ;-and Magento ) , and independent software vendors ;-(e. g., ServiceTitan ) . Building
relationships with and integrating our offerings into these platforms is wit-be-important to attract and retain certain types of new
merchants (e. g., smaller digital merchants or specialty merchants such as contractors). If our competitors secure and maintain
advantaged positions with these platforms, we may be unable to drive growth with merchants that leverage these platforms. Our
success also depends on our ability to attract and retain customers and generate usage of our products by them. The consumer
credit and payments industry is highly competitive and we face an increasingly dynamic industry as emerging technologies enter
the marketplace. As a form of payment, our products compete with cash, checks, debit cards, general purpose credit cards
(including Visa, MasterCard, American Express and Discover Card), various forms of consumer installment loans, other private
label card brands and, to a certain extent, prepaid cards and all forms of electronic payments. In the future, we expect our
products may face increased competitive pressure to the extent that our products are not, or do not continue to be, accepted in, or
compatible with digital wallet technologies such as Apple Pay, Samsung Pay, Android Pay and other similar technologies. We
may also face increased competition from current competitors or others who introduce or embrace disruptive technology that
significantly changes the consumer credit and payment industry. We compete for customers and their usage of our products, and
to minimize transfers to competitors of our customers’ outstanding balances, based on a number of factors, including pricing
(interest rates and fees), product offerings, credit limits, incentives (including loyalty programs) and customer service. Although
we offer a variety of consumer credit products, some of our competitors provide a broader selection of services, including home
and automobile loans and other consumer banking services, which may position them better among customers who prefer to use
a single financial institution to meet all of their financial needs. Some of our competitors are substantially larger than we are,
which may give those competitors advantages, including a more diversified product and customer base, the ability to reach out
to more customers and potential customers, operational efficiencies, more versatile technology platforms, broad- based local
distribution capabilities and lower- cost funding. In addition, some of our competitors, including new and emerging competitors
in the digital and mobile payments space, are not subject to the same regulatory requirements or legislative scrutiny to which we
are subject. Non- bank providers of pay- over- time solutions, such as Affirm, Afterpay, Klarna and others, extend consumer
credit- like offerings but do not face the same restrictions, such as capital requirements and other regulatory requirements, as
banks , which also could place us at a competitive disadvantage. In addition, some larger technology focused companies, e. g.,
Apple and Google, and larger retailers, e. g., Walmart and Target, are now offering financial products sometimes in
collaboration with our competitors. Customer attrition from any or all of our credit products or any lowering of the pricing of our
products by reducing interest rates or fees in order to retain customers could reduce our revenues and , therefore , our earnings.
In addition, companies that control access to consumer and merchant payment method choices at the point - of - sale or through
digital wallets, commerce- related experiences, mobile applications or other technologies could choose not to accept, suppress
use of, or degrade the experience of using our products. Such companies could also require payments from us to participate in
such digital wallets, experiences or applications or negotiate incentives or pricing concessions, impacting our profitability on
transactions. In our retail deposits business, we have acquisition and servicing capabilities similar to other direct banking
competitors. We compete for deposits with traditional banks, including separately branded direct banking platforms of
traditional banks and other banks that have direct banking models similar to ours, such as Ally Financial, American Express,
Barclays, Capital One 360, CIT, Citi, Citizens Bank, Discover, E- Trade and Marcus by Goldman Sachs. Competition among
direct banks is intense because online banking provides customers the ability to rapidly deposit and withdraw funds and open
and close accounts in favor of products and services offered by competitors. In addition, we compete for deposits with other
consumer cash alternatives such as government money market funds offered by brokerages. See “ — Our inability to maintain
or grow our deposits in the future could materially adversely affect our liquidity and ability to grow our business ” for
additional information regarding the risks associated with our deposit business. [f we are unable to compete effectively for
partners, customer usage , or deposits, our business and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. We may be
unable to successfully develop and commercialize new or enhanced products and services. Our industry is subject to rapid and
significant changes in technologies, products, services and consumer preferences. A key part of our financial success depends on
our ability to develop and commercialize new products and services or enhancements to existing products and services,
including with respect to loyalty programs, mobile and point- of- sale technologies, and Synchrony- branded bank deposit and
credit products. Realizing the benefits of those products and services is uncertain. We may not assign the appropriate level of
resources, priority or expertise to the development and commercialization of these new products, services or enhancements. Our
ability to develop, acquire or commercialize competitive technologies, products or services on acceptable terms or at all may be
limited by intellectual property rights that third parties, including competitors and potential competitors, may assert. In addition,
success is dependent on factors such as partner and customer acceptance, adoption and usage, competition, the effectiveness of
marketing programs, the availability of appropriate technologies and business processes and regulatory approvals. Success of a
new product, service or enhancement also may depend upon our ability to deliver it on a large scale, which may require a
significant investment, and we may not realize any benefits for many years. We also may select, utilize and invest in
technologies, products and services that ultimately do not achieve widespread adoption and therefore are not as attractive or
useful to our partners, customers and service partners as we anticipate, or partners may not recognize the value of our new
products and services or believe they justify any potential costs or disruptions associated with implementing them. In addition,
because our products and services typically are marketed through our partners, if our partners are unwilling or unable to



effectively implement our new technologies, products, services or enhancements, we may be unable to grow our business.
Competitors may also develop or adopt technologies or introduce innovations that change the markets we operate in and make
our products less competitive and less attractive to our partners and customers. Our failure to successfully develop and
commercialize new erenhaneed-products, services or enhancements could have a material adverse effect on our business and
results of operations. We may not realize the value of acquisitions, dispositions, strategic investments and strategic initiatives
that we pursue and such transactions and initiatives could divert resources or introduce unforeseen risks to our business. We
have and may in the future execute strategic acquisitions, dispositions, partnerships or initiatives or make other strategic
investments in businesses, products, technologies or platforms to enhance or grow our business from time to time. For example,
we antouneed-completed the sale of Pets Best #nrNevember2023-and our acquisition of Ally Lending in Janwary-March 2024.
These acquisitions, dispositions and strategic investments may divert management' s time and resources, and introduce new
costs, operational complexities or liabilities, including as a results— result of any transition arrangements, which could impact
our ability to grow or maintain acceptable performance. We may be unable to integrate systems, personnel or technologies from
our acquisitions and strategic investments. These acquisitions, dispositions and strategic investments may also present
unforeseen legal, regulatory or other challenges that we may not be able to manage effectively. The planning and integration of
an acquisition, including of a new partner or credit card portfolio, partnership or investment, may shift employee time and other
resources away from other matters which could impair our ability to focus on our core business. New partnerships,
acquisitions, dispositions, strategic investments and strategic initiatives may not perform as expected due to lack of acceptance
by partners, customers or employees, higher than forecasted costs or losses, lengthy transition periods, difficulties retaining key
personnel, synergies or savings not being realized and a variety of other factors. This may result in a delay or unrealized benefit,
or in some cases, increased costs or other unforeseen risks to our business. We are subject to the risk of fraudulent activity
associated with partners, customers and third parties handling customer information. Our fraud- related operational losses were
$ 192 million, $ 288 million ;-and $ 173 mihenand-$+084-million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 s-and 2022
and202+-, respectively. Our lending products are susceptible to application fraud, because among other things, we provide
immediate access to the credit line at the time of approval. In addition, sales on the internet and through mobile channels are
becoming a larger part of our business and pose a greater fraudulent threat than sales made in stores. Dual Cards, general
purpose, general purpose co- branded credit cards and private label credit cards are susceptible to different types of fraud, and,
depending on our product channel mix, we may continue to experience variations in, or levels of, fraud- related expense that are
different from or higher than that experienced by some of our competitors or the industry generally. Our funding products are
potentially susceptible to different types of fraud, including transactional fraud given the size of deposit balances. The risk of
fraud continues to increase for the financial services industry in general, and credit card fraud, identity theft and related crimes
are already prevalent and are likely to become more eontinte-te-be-prevalent as ;and-perpetrators grow are-growing-more
sophisticated. Our resources, technologies and fraud prevention tools are not foolproof and may be insufficient to accurately
detect and prevent all of the various forms and instances of fraud. High profile fraudulent activity also could negatively impact
our brand and reputation, which could negatively impact the use of our cards and thereby have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations. In addition, significant increases in fraudulent activity could lead to regulatory intervention (such as
increased customer notification requirements), which could increase our costs and afse-negatively impact our operating results,
brand and reputation and could lead us to take additional steps to reduce fraud risk, which could increase our costs. Some
services important to our business are outsourced to third- party vendors. For example, our principal technology and related
services (including credit card transaction processing, production and related services (including the printing and mailing of
customer statements ) ), and the platform for our online retail deposits are handled via a contractual arrangement with Fiserv
Sehattens EECFiserv)-. Fiserv, and, in some cases, other third- party vendors, are the sole source or one of a limited number of
sources of the services they provide for us. It would be difficult and disruptive for us to replace certain of these third- party
vendors, particularly Fiserv, in a timely or seamless manner if they were unwilling or unable to continue to provide us with these
services in the future (as a result of the pace or level of investment in their business, their ability to execute and deliver
enhancements, a deterioration of their financial or business conditions or otherwise), and our business and operations likely
would be materially adversely affected. Our principal agreement with Fiserv for technology, production, and online retail
deposits services expires in December 2030, unless it is terminated earlier or is extended pursuant to the terms thereof. In
addition, if a third- party provider fails to provide the services we require, fails to meet contractual requirements, such as
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, or suffers a cyber- attack or other security breach, our business could suffer
economic and reputational harm that could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Qur remote
work arrangements, may have an adverse impact on our business. We have adopted remote work arrangements, on either a
full- time or part- time basis, for a majority of our employee population ;- Employees who work from home rely on residential
communication networks and internet providers that may not be as resilient as commercial networks and providers available in
company office premises and may be more susceptible to service interruptions and cyber- attacks than commercial systems.
Our business continuity and disaster recovery plans, which have been historically developed and tested with a focus on
centralized delivery locations, may not work as effectively in a distributed work from home model, where such plans designed
to address weather impacts, network and power grid downtime may net be available diffienlt-te-manage-. Remote work by a
majority of our employee population or not requiring our employees to work in an office or a specified location on a daily
regular basis may impact our culture ;-and employee engagement with our company ;whieh-. This could affect productivity and
our ability to retain employees who are critical to our operations ane-may-, as well as increase our costs aned-, impact our
financial results of operations and expose us to tax compliance risks within certain jurisdictions . In addition, an increase in
work from home opportunities offered by other companies may create more job opportunities for employees and make it more
difficult for us to attract and retain key talent. If we are unable to continue to manage the work from home environment



effectively to address these and other risks, our reputation and results of operations may be impacted. In the normal course of
business, we collect, process and retain sensitive and confidential information regarding our partners and our customers. We
also have arrangements in place with our partners and other third parties through which we share and receive information about
their customers who are or may become our customers. Although we devote significant resources and management focus to
enstrig-maintaining the integrity of our systems and strength of our processes through information security and business
continuity programs, our facilities and systems, and those of our partners and third- party service providers, are nonetheless
vulnerable to external or internal security breaches, acts of vandalism, computer viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming or
human errors, or other similar events. Security incidents or breaches have from time to time occurred and we and our partners
and third- party service providers have experienced all of these events in the past and expect to continue to experience them in
the future. These events could interrupt our business or operations, result in significant legal and financial exposure, supervisory
liability, damage to our reputation and our relationships with our partners and customers, or a loss of confidence in the security
of our systems, products and services. Additionally, while we maintain insurance coverage that, subject to applicable terms and
eondittorrconditions , may cover certain aspects of cybersecurity and 1nformat10n I"ISkS such Insurance coverage may not be
sufﬁment to cover all losses or offset the lmpact of such events - g ;

. Information security rlsks for large financial
1nst1tut10ns hke us have 1ncreased recently in part because of new or expanded technologies such as artificial intelligence, the
expanded use of the internet and telecommunications technologies (including mobile, other connected devices and cloud
technologies) to conduct financial and other business transactions, increased remote working dynamics, and the increased
sophistication and activities of organized crime, perpetrators of fraud, hackers, terrorists and others. In addition to cyber- attacks
or other security breaches involving the theft of sensitive and confidential information, hackers recently have engaged in attacks
against large financial institutions that are designed to disrupt key business services, such as consumer- facing web sites, via
increasing use of ransomware technologies. Our business performance and marketing efforts may increase our profile and
therefore our risk of being targeted for cyber- attacks and other security breaches, including attacks targeting our key business
services, websites, executives, and partners. We are not able to anticipate or implement effective preventive measures against all
security breaches of these types, especially because the techniques used change frequently and because attacks can originate
from a wide variety of sources. We employ detection, prevention and response mechanisms designed to identify, contain and
mitigate security incidents, but early detection may be thwarted by sophisticated attacks and malware designed to avoid
detection and the extent to which preventative measures may be effective may likewise be dependent on the sophistication
and complexity of attacks . We also face risks related to cyber- attacks and other security breaches in connection with credit
card and deposit transactions that typically involve the transmission of sensitive information regarding our customers through
various third- parties, including our partners, retailers that are not our partners where our Dual Cards and general purpose co-
branded credit cards are used, merchant acquiring banks, payment processors, card networks (e. g., Visa and MasterCard) and
our processors (e. g., Fiserv). Some of these parties have in the past been the target of security breaches and cyber- attacks, and
because the transactions involve third parties and environments such as the point - of - sale that we neither control nor have the
ability to secure, future security breaches or cyber- attacks affecting any of these third parties could impact us through no fault
of our own, and in some cases, we may have exposure and suffer losses for breaches or attacks relating to them. We also rely on
numerous other third- party service providers to conduct other aspects of our business operations and face similar risks relating
to them. While we regularly conduct security assessments of critical third- party service providers using a risk based
methodology, swe-eannet-be-eompletely-sure-that-their information security protocols s#may not be sufficient enough to
withstand all forms of cyber- attacks or other security breaches. The access by unauthorized persons to, or the improper
disclosure by us of, confidential information regarding our customers or our own proprietary information, software,
methodologies and business secrets could interrupt our business or operations, result in significant legal and financial exposure,
regulatory limitations and liability, damage to our reputation or a loss of confidence in the security of our systems, products and
services, all of which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In
addition, there have been a number of well- publicized cyber- attacks or breaches directed at others in our industry that have
heightened concern by consumers generally about the security of using credit cards, which have caused some consumers,
including our customers, to use our credit cards less in favor of alternative methods of payment perceived to be more secure,
and has led to increased regulatory focus on, and new regulations relating to, these matters. Further cyber- attacks or other
breaches in the future, whether affecting us or others, could intensify consumer concern and regulatory focus and result in
reduced use of our cards or other products and increased costs arising from, among other things new regulatory requirements
relating to data security, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Our ability to deliver products and
services to our partners and our customers, service our loans and otherwise operate our business and comply with applicable
laws depends in large part on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of our computer systems, on premises data centers and
cloud- based capabilities, as well as those of our partners and third- party service providers. Service interruptions in certain of
these environments may be encountered at any time due to system or software failure resulting from events such as, extreme
weather conditions, natural disasters, cyber- attacks or other reasons. In addition, climate change may exacerbate certain of these
threats, including the frequency and severity of weather- related events and other natural disasters ;. The implementation of
technology changes and upgrades to maintain current , and integrate new , systems, such as our efforts to migrate certain
operations to third- party cloud infrastructure platforms, may expose us to increasing risk of service interruptions, transaction
processing errors and system conversion delays, including as a result of cyber or information security incidents, and may cause
our failure to comply with applicable laws, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business. We expect that
new technologies and business processes applicable to the consumer credit industry will continue to emerge, and these new
technologies and business processes may be better than those we currently use. The pace of technology change is rapid and our



industry is intensely competitive . We may not s-and-we-eannet-assure-you-that-we-will-be able to timely deploy #rnew

technologies , including emerging technologies such as generative artificial intelligence and blockchain, where their
adoption is rapidly accelerating, as critical systems and applications become obsolete and better ones become available or
implement adequate controls to manage the risks associated with these technologies . Additionally, our competitors may
successfully adopt or innovate new technologies or new uses of existing technology before we do, which could leave us at
a competitive disadvantage . A failure to maintain current technology and business processes or effectively implement and
maintain new technologies and business processes, could cause disruptions in our operations or cause our products and services
to be less competitive, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. We maintain an allowance for credit losses (a reserve established through a provision for credit losses charged to
expense) that we believe is appropriate to provide for expected credit losses for the life of our loan portfolio. In addition, for
portfolios we acquire when we enter into new partner program agreements we are required to establish an allowance for
expected credit losses for the life of the acquired loan portfolio. Any subsequent deterioration in the performance of the
purchased portfolios after acquisition results in incremental credit loss reserves. Growth in our loan portfolio generally would
also lead to an increase in the allowance for credit losses. The process for establishing an allowance for credit losses is critical to
our results of operations and financial condition, and requires eemplex-sophisticated models and judgments, including forecasts
of economlc Condmons We ut1llze an nnpalrment rnodel in accordance with U. S. GAAP ASH20+6-—13FinanetaHnstruments-
v ; , known as the CECL model. The CECL model requlres
upon orlgmatlon of a loan the recognition of all expected credit losses over the life of the loan based on historical experience,
current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Changes in economic conditions affecting borrowers, new
information regarding our loans and other factors, both within and outside of our control, may require an increase in the
allowance for credit losses. We may underestimate our expected losses and fail to maintain an allowance for credit losses
sufficient to account for these losses. If freases-where-we-modify-atoanifthe medifted-loans do not perform as anticipated,
we may be required to establish-additionat-increase our allowances on these loans and / or recognize further losses . We will
continue to periodically review and update-enhance our current methodology, models and the underlying assumptions, estimates
and assessments we use to establish our allowance for credit losses to reflect our view of current conditions and reasonable and
supportable forecasts. Moreover, our regulators, as part of their supervisory function, periodically review our methodology,
models and the underlying assumptions, estimates and assessments we use for calculating, and the adequacy of, our allowance
for credit losses —Ourregulators-, and based on their judgment, may conclude that we should modify our current methodology,
models or the underlying assumptions, estimates and assessments, increase our allowance for credit losses and / or recognize
further losses. We will implement further enhancements or changes to our methodology, models and the underlying
assumptions, estimates and assessments, as needed. Our We-eannot-assure-you-thateurcredit loss reserves withb-may not be
sufficient to cover actual losses. Future increases in the allowance for credit losses or actual losses (as a result of any review,
update, regulatory guidance or otherwise) will result in a decrease in net earnings and capital and could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. We are required to make various assumptions and estimates
in preparing our financial statements under GAAP, primarily including for purposes of determining our allowance for credit
losses and for fair value measurements , assetimpairment-as well as other areas such as , reserves related to litigation and
other contmgencles -}ega-l-ma&efs— valuation ﬁf—allowances on deferred i income tax assets and et-hepdetermlnlng llabll1t1es

aette . Our most critical estimate used in preparing our financial statements is
the determmatlon of our allowance for Credlt losses which was $ 10. -9 billion at December 31, 2623-2024 . Upon 0r1g1nat10n
of a loan, the estimate of expected credit losses, and any subsequent changes to such estimate, are recorded through provision
for credit losses in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Fair value measurements utilized in preparing our financial
statements include business acquisitions and dispositions, such as our acquisition of Ally Lending in March 2024, as well
as other areas such as determining the fair value of debt securities and asset impairment evaluations. As a result, any
subsequent changes we make to eur-these underlying assumptions and estimates may result in a material adverse impact to our
results of operations and the Company’ s ability to return capital to our shareholders. In addition, significant assumptions and
estimates are involved in determining certain disclosures required under GAAP, including those involving the fair value of our
financial instraments-assets and financial liabilities carried at other than fair value in our Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position . If the assumptions or estimates underlying our financial statements are incorrect or are required to change,
the actual amounts realized on transactions and balances subject to those estimates will be different, and this could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. For additional information on the key areas for
which assumptions and estimates are used in preparing our financial statements, see “ Management’ s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Critical Accounting Estimates ” and Note 2. Basis of Presentation and
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements. Adverse financial market conditions or
our inability to effectively manage our funding and liquidity risk could have a material adverse effect on our funding, liquidity
and ability to meet our obligations. We need to effectively manage our funding and liquidity in order to meet our cash
requirements such as day- to- day operating expenses, extensions of credit to our customers, payments of principal and interest
on our borrowings and payments on our other obligations. Our primary sources of funding and liquidity are collections from our
customers, deposits, funds from securitized financings and proceeds from unsecured borrowings. If we do not have sufficient
liquidity, we may not be able to meet our obligations, particularly during a liquidity stress event. If we maintain or are required
to maintain too much liquidity, it could be costly and reduce our financial flexibility. We will need additional financing in the
future to refinance any existing debt and finance growth of our business. The availability of additional financing will depend on
a variety of factors such as financial market conditions generally, including the availability of credit to the financial services



industry, consumers’ willingness to place money on deposit in the Bank, our performance and credit ratings and the
performance of our securitized portfolios. Disruptions, uncertainty or volatility in the capital, credit or deposit markets, such as
the uncertainty and volatility experienced in the capital and credit markets during periods of financial stress and other economic
and political conditions in the global markets and concerning the level of U. S. government debt and fiscal measures that may be
taken over the longer term to address these matters, may limit our ability to obtain additional financing or refinance maturing
liabilities on desired terms (including funding costs) in a timely manner or at all. As a result, we may be forced to delay
obtaining funding or be forced to issue or raise funding on undesirable terms, which could significantly reduce our financial
flexibility and cause us to contract or not grow our business, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations and financial conditions. In addition, at December 31, 2023-2024 , we had an aggregate of $ 3-2 . 8-6 billion of
undrawn credit facilities, subject to customary borrowing conditions, from private lenders under our securitization programs and
an unsecured revolving credit facility. Our ability to draw on such commitments is subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions, including the applicable securitization trust having sufficient collateral to support the draw and the absence of an
early amortization event. Moreover, there are regulatory reforms that have been proposed or adopted in the United States and
internationally that are intended to address certain issues that affected banks in the last financial crisis. These reforms, generally
referred to as ““ Basel 111, ” subject banks to more stringent capital, liquidity and leverage requirements. To the extent that the
Basel III requirements result in increased costs to the banks providing undrawn committed capacity under our securitization
programs, these costs are likely to be passed on to us. In addition, in response to Basel 111, some banks in the market (including
certain of the private lenders in our securitization programs) have added provisions to their credit agreements permitting them to
delay disbursement of funding requests for 30 days or more. If our bank lenders require delayed disbursements of funding and /
or higher pricing for committing undrawn capacity to us, our cost of funding and access to liquidity could be adversely affected.
While financial market conditions are generally stable, there-ean-be-ne-assuranee-that-significant disruptions, uncertainties and
volatility may wilkset-occur in the future. If we are unable to continue to finance our business, access capital markets and
attract deposits on favorable terms and in a timely manner, or if we experience an increase in our borrowing costs or otherwise
fail to manage our liquidity effectively, our results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.
Our inability to maintain or grow our deposits in the future could materially adversely affect our liquidity and ability to grow our
business. We obtain deposits directly from retail and commercial customers or through brokerage firms that offer our deposit
products to their customers. At December 31, 2623-2024 , we had $ 6772 . 8-3 billion in direct deposits and $ +4-9 . 2-8 billion
in deposits originated through brokerage firms (including network deposit sweeps procured through a program arranger who
channels brokerage account deposits to us). A key part of our liquidity plan and funding strategy is to continue to fund our
growth through direct deposits. The deposit business is highly competitive, with intense competition in attracting and retaining
deposits. We compete on the basis of the rates we pay on deposits, features and benefits of our products, the quality of our
customer service and the competitiveness of our digital banking capabilities. Our ability to originate and maintain retail deposits
is also highly dependent on the products we offer, the strength of the Bank and the perceptions of consumers and others of our
business practices and our financial health. Adverse perceptions regarding our reputation could lead to difficulties in attracting
and retaining deposits accounts. Negative public opinion could result from , among other things, actual or alleged conduct in a
number of areas, including lending practices, the composition of our deposit base, regulatory compliance, inadequate protection
of customer information or sales and marketing activities, and from actions taken by regulators or others in response to such
conduct. The demand for the deposit products we offer may also be reduced due to a variety of factors, such as demographic
patterns, macroeconomic shocks, significant changes in the level of interest rates, changes in customer preferences, reductions
in consumers’ disposable income, regulatory actions that decrease customer access to particular products or the availability of
competing products which may offer more features or perceived benefits than the Bank' s products. Competition from other
financial services firms and others that use deposit funding products may affect deposit renewal rates, costs or availability.
Changes we make to the rates offered on our deposit products may affect our profitability and liquidity. In 2022, we launched a
partnership with PayPal Holdings Inc. to offer demand savings accounts exclusively to PayPal customers. This is , and other
future affiliate banking products ;-could become , an important seurees— source of funding and liquidity to the Bank. To the
extent such partnerships are dissolved, the Bank may need to find suitable replacement sources of that funding and liquidity at
potentially higher costs. The Federal Deposit Insurance Act (the “ FDIA ”) prohibits an insured bank from accepting brokered
deposits or offering interest rates on any deposits significantly higher than the prevailing rate in the bank’ s normal market area
or nationally (depending upon where the deposits are solicited), unless it is “ well capitalized, ” or it is “ adequately capitalized ”
and receives a waiver from the FDIC. A bank that is “ adequately capitalized ”” and accepts brokered deposits under a waiver
from the FDIC may not pay an interest rate on any deposit in excess of 75 basis points over certain prevailing market rates.
There are no such restrictions under the FDIA on a bank that is “ well capitalized ” and at December 31, 2623-2024 , the Bank
met or exceeded all applicable requirements to be deemed “ well capitalized ” for purposes of the FDIA. However, there--- the
eairBank may not be able to ne-assuranee-that-the Bankswitl-continue to meet those requirements. Limitations on the Bank’ s
ability to accept brokered deposits for any reason (including regulatory limitations on the amount of brokered deposits in total or
as a percentage of total assets) in the future could materially adversely impact our funding costs and liquidity . See also “
Regulation — Savings Association Regulation ” for additional discussion regarding restrictions and risks related to
brokered deposits . Any limitation on the interest rates the Bank can pay on deposits could competitively disadvantage us in
attracting and retaining deposits and have a material adverse effect on our business. Changes in market interest rates cause our
net interest income to increase or decrease, as certain of our assets and liabilities carry interest rates that fluctuate with market
benchmarks. At December 31, 2623-2024 , 62 % of our loan receivables were priced at a fixed interest rate to the customer, with
the remaining 38 % at a floating interest rate. We fund our assets with a combination of fixed rate and floating rate funding
sources that include deposits, asset- backed securities and unsecured debt. The interest rate benchmark for our floating rate



assets and the interest rate benchmark for our floating rate liabilities could reset at different times or could diverge, leading to
mismatches in the interest rates on our floating rate assets and floating rate liabilities. Competitive and regulatory factors may
limit our ability to raise interest rates on our loans or lower them on our liabilities . [n addition, some of our program
agreements limit the rate of interest we can charge to customers. If interest rates were to rise materially over a sustained period
of time, like we experienced during 2022 and 2023, and we are unable to sufficiently raise our interest rates in a timely manner,
or at all, our net interest margin could be adversely impacted, which could have a material adverse effect on our net earnings.
Further, if interest rates were to decline materially and we are unable to reprice our liabilities, this could also adversely
impact our net interest margin and net earnings. Interest rates may also adversely impact our customers’ spending levels and
ability and willingness to pay amounts owed to us. Our floating rate credit products bear interest at rates that fluctuate with the
prime rate. Higher interest rates often lead to higher payment obligations by customers to us and other lenders under mortgage,
credit card and other consumer loans, which may reduce our customers’ ability to remain current on their obligations to us and
therefore lead to increased delinquencies, bankruptcies, charge- offs, allowances for credit losses, and decreasing recoveries, all
of which could have a material adverse effect on our net earnings. Changes in interest rates and competitor responses to these
changes may also impact customer decisions to maintain deposits with us, and reductions in deposits could materially adversely
affect our funding costs and liquidity. We assess our interest rate risk by estimating the net interest income impact of various
interest rate scenarios. We take risk mitigation actions based on those assessments. Changes in interest rates could materially
reduce our net interest income and our net earnings, and could also increase our funding costs and reduce our liquidity,
especially if actual conditions turn out to be materially different from our assumptions. For a discussion of interest rate risk
sensitivities, see “ Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk — Interest Rate Risk. ” Synchrony' s senior
unsecured debt currently is rated BBB- (positive outlook) by Fitch Ratings, Inc. (“ Fitch ”’) and BBB- (stable outlook) by
Standard & Poor’ s (S & P ). The Bank’ s senior unsecured debt currently is rated BBB- ( stable-positive outlook) by Fitch
and BBB (stable outlook) by S & P. Although we have not requested that Moody’ s Investor Services, Inc. (“ Moody’ s )
provide a rating for our senior unsecured debt, we believe that if Moody’ s were to issue a rating on our unsecured debt, its
rating may be lower than the comparable ratings issued by Fitch and S & P. The ratings for our unsecured debt are based on a
number of factors, including our financial strength, as well as factors that may not be within our control, such as macroeconomic
conditions and the rating agencies’ perception of the industries in which we operate and the products we offer. The ratings of
our asset- backed securities are, and will continue to be, based on a number of factors, including the quality of the underlying
loan receivables and the credit enhancement structure with respect to each series of asset- backed securities, as well as our credit
rating as sponsor and servicer of our publicly registered securitization trust. These ratings also reflect the various methodologies
and assumptions used by the rating agencies, which are subject to change and could adversely affect our ratings. The rating
agencies regularly evaluate our credit ratings as well as the credit ratings of our asset- backed securities. A downgrade in our
unsecured debt or asset- backed securities credit ratings (or investor concerns that a downgrade may occur) could materially
increase the cost of our funding from, and restrict our access to, the capital markets. If the ratings on our asset- backed securities
are reduced, put on negative watch or withdrawn, it may have an adverse effect on the liquidity or the market price of our asset-
backed securities and on the cost of, or our ability to continue using, securitized financings to the extent anticipated. Our
inability to securitize our loan receivables would have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, cost of funds and
financial condition. We use the securitization of loan receivables, which involves the transfer of loan receivables to a trust and
the issuance by the trust of asset- backed securities to third- party investors, as a significant source of funding. Our average level
of securitized financings from third parties was $ 7. 7 billion and $ 6. 3 bithen-and-$-6-—-5-billion for the years ended December
31,2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respectively. For a discussion of our securitization activities, see “ Management’ s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Funding, Liquidity and Capital Resources — Funding Sources —
Securitized Financings ”” and Note 5-6 . Variable Interest Entities to our consolidated financial statements. Fhere—- The eanbe
no-assturanee-that-the-securitization market for credit cards may winetexperience future disruptions. The extent to which we
securitize our loan receivables in the future will depend in part upon the conditions in the securities markets in general and the
credit card asset- backed securities market in particular, the availability of loan receivables for securitization, the overall credit
quality of our loan receivables and the conformity of the loan receivables and our securitization program to rating agency
requirements, the costs of securitizing our loan receivables, and the legal, regulatory, accounting and tax requirements
governing securitization transactions. In the event we are unable to refinance existing asset- backed securities with new or other
existing asset- backed securities, we would be required to rely on other sources of funding, which may not be available or may
be available only at higher cost. Further, in the event we are unable to refinance existing asset- backed securities from our
nonbank subsidiary securitization trust with new or other existing securities from the same trust, there are structural and
regulatory constraints on our ability to refinance these asset- backed securities with Bank deposits or other funding at the Bank,
and therefore we would be required to rely on sources outside of the Bank, which may not be available or may be available only
at higher cost. A prolonged inability to securitize our loan receivables on favorable terms, or at all, or to refinance our asset-
backed securities would have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, cost of funds and financial condition. The
occurrence of an early amortization of our securitization facilities would have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and cost
of funds. Our liquidity would be materially adversely affected by the occurrence of events resulting in the early amortization of
our existing securitized financings. During an early amortization period, principal collections from the loan receivables in our
asset- backed securitization trust in which the early amortization event occurred would be applied to repay principal of the trust'
s asset- backed securities rather than being available on a revolving basis to fund purchases of newly originated loan receivables.
This would negatively impact our liquidity, including our ability to originate new loan receivables under existing accounts, and
require us to rely on alternative funding sources, which might increase our funding costs or might not be available when needed.
Our loss of the right to service or subservice our securitized loan receivables would have a material adverse effect on our



liquidity and cost of funds. Synchrony currently acts as servicer with respect to our nonbank subsidiary securitization trust, and
the Bank acts as servicer with respect to our other two securitization trusts. If Synchrony or the Bank, as applicable, defaults in
its servicing obligations, an early amortization event could occur with respect to the relevant asset- backed securities and / or
Synchrony or the Bank, as applicable, could be replaced as servicer. Servicer defaults include, for example, the failure of the
servicer to make any payment, transfer or deposit in accordance with the securitization documents, a breach of representations,
warranties or agreements made by the servicer under the securitization documents, the delegation of the servicer’ s duties
contrary to the securitization documents and the occurrence of certain insolvency events with respect to the servicer. Such an
early amortization event would have the adverse consequences discussed in the immediately preceding risk factor. If either
Synchrony or the Bank defaults in its servicing obligations with respect to any of our three securitization trusts, a third party
could be appointed as servicer of such trust. If a third- party servicer is appointed, there-ts-ne-asstranee-that-the third party wit
may not engage us as sub- servicer, in which event we would no longer be able to control the manner in which the related trust’
s assets are serviced, and the failure of a third party to appropriately service such assets could lead to an early amortization event
in the affected securitization trust, which would have the adverse consequences discussed in the immediately preceding risk
factor. Lower payment rates on our securitized loan receivables could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial
condition. Certain collections from our securitized loan receivables come back to us through our subsidiaries, and we use these
collections to fund our purchase of newly originated loan receivables to collateralize our securitized financings. If payment rates
on our securitized loan receivables are lower than they have historically been, fewer collections will be remitted to us on an
ongoing basis. Further, certain series of our asset- backed securities include a requirement that we accumulate principal
collections in a restricted account for a specified number of months prior to the applicable security’ s maturity date. We are
required under the program documents to lengthen this accumulation period to the extent we expect the payment rates to be low
enough that the current length of the accumulation period is inadequate to fully fund the restricted account by the applicable
security’ s maturity date. Lower payment rates, and in particular, payment rates that are low enough that we are required to
lengthen our accumulation periods, could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition. We rely extensively
on models in managing many aspects of our business, including liquidity and capital planning (including stress testing),
customer selection, credit and other risk management, pricing, reserving and collections management. The models may prove in
practice to be less predictive than we expect for a variety of reasons, including as a result of errors in constructing, interpreting
or using the models or the use of inaccurate assumptions (including failures to update assumptions appropriately or in a timely
manner). Our assumptions may be inaccurate for many reasons including that they often involve matters that are inherently
difficult to predict and beyond our control (e. g., macroeconomic conditions and their impact on partner and customer behaviors)
and they often involve complex interactions between a number of dependent and independent variables, factors and other
assumptions. The errors or inaccuracies in our models may be material, and could lead us to make wrong or sub- optimal
decisions in managing our business and / or provide inaccurate or misleading information to the public or our regulators, and this
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Our success depends on our
ability to manage our credit risk while attracting new customers with profitable usage patterns. We select our customers, manage
their accounts and establish terms and credit limits using proprietary scoring models, data and other analytical techniques that
are designed to set terms and credit limits to appropriately compensate us for the credit risk we accept, while encouraging
customers to use their available credit. The models and approaches we use to manage our credit risk may not accurately predict
future charge- offs for various reasons discussed in the preceding risk factors. Our ability to manage credit risk and avoid high
charge- off rates also may be adversely affected by economic conditions that may be difficult to predict, such as the last
financial crisis. The assessment of our credit profile includes the evaluation of portfolio mix, account maturation, as well as
broader consumer and industry trends, such as payment behavior and overall indebtedness. See * Management' s Discussion
and Analysis — Results of Operations — Business Trends and Conditions ” for further discussion of our expectations of future
credit trends, in the near term. Credit trends may deteriorate materially from our expectations if economic conditions were to
deteriorate beyond what we currently expect. In addition, we remain subject to conditions in the consumer credit environment.
Our credit underwriting and risk management strategies are used to manage our credit exposures; however, there can be no
assurance that those will enable us to avoid high charge- off levels or delinquencies, or that our allowance for credit losses will
be sufficient to cover actual losses. A customer’ s ability to repay us can be negatively impacted by increases in their payment
obligations to other lenders under mortgage, credit card and other loans (including student and auto loans). These changes can
result from increases in base lending rates, structured increases in payment obligations, or the resumption of payments post
deferral, and could reduce the ability of our customers to meet their payment obligations to other lenders and to us. In addition, a
customer’ s ability to repay us can be negatively impacted by the restricted availability of credit to consumers generally,
including reduced and closed lines of credit. Customers with insufficient cash flow to fund daily living expenses and lack of
access to other sources of credit may be more likely to increase their card usage and ultimately default on their payment
obligations to us, resulting in higher credit losses in our portfolio. Our collection operations may not compete effectively to
secure more of customers’ diminished cash flow than our competitors. We may not identify customers who are likely to default
on their payment obligations to us and reduce our exposure by closing credit lines and restricting authorizations quickly enough,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, our
collection strategy depends in part on the sale of debt to third- party buyers. Regulatory or other factors may adversely affect the
pricing of our debt sales or the performance of our third- party buyers, which may result in higher credit losses in our portfolio.
At December 31, 2623-2024 , 2726 % of our loan receivables were from customers with a VantageScore credit score of 650 or
less (excluding unrated accounts), who typically have higher delinquency and credit losses than consumers with higher credit
scores. Our ability to manage credit risk also may be adversely affected by legal or regulatory changes (such as bankruptcy laws
and minimum payment regulations) and collection regulations, competitors’ actions and consumer behavior, as well as



inadequate collections staffing, techniques, models and performance of vendors such as collection agencies. Most of our
program agreements with larger retailers and certain other program agreements contain retailer share arrangements that provide
for payments to our partners if the economic performance of the relevant program exceeds a contractually defined threshold.
Although the share arrangements vary by partner, these arrangements are generally structured to measure the economic
performance of the program, based typically on agreed upon program revenues (including interest income and certain other
income) less agreed upon program expenses (including interest expense, provision for credit losses, retailer payments and
operating expenses), and share portions of this amount above a negotiated threshold. These arrangements are typically designed
to permit us to achieve an economic return before we are required to make payments to our partners based on the agreed
contractually defined threshold. However, because the threshold and the economic performance of a program that are used to
calculate payments to our partners may be based on, among other things, agreed upon measures of program expenses rather than
our actual expenses, we may not be able to pass on increases in our actual expenses (such as funding costs, higher provision for
credit losses or operating expenses) in the form of reduced payments under our retailer share arrangements, and our economic
return on a program could be adversely affected. While most of our agreements contain retailer share arrangements, in some
cases, where we instead provide other economic benefits to our partners such as royalties on purchase volume or payments for
new accounts (for example, on our co- branded credit cards), our ability to offset increases in our costs is limited. Merchants
generally pay a merchant discount fee in connection with accepting branded payment cards. Although the structure and
economlcs of payment card networks may vary, the fee paid to the card issuer as part of that transaction — known as the
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pense ; We earn 1nterchange fees on Dual Card transactlons
0uts1de of our partners' sales channels and from general purpose co- branded credit card transactions but we typically do not
charge or earn interchange fees , as that term has been commonly understood, from our partners or customers on our private
label credit card products. Merchants trying to decrease their operating expenses, have sought to ;-and-have-had-some-sueeess-aty
fowering—-- lower interchange rates , —Severalreeentevents-and policymakers aetions-indieate-a-—econtinting-continue to
tereasetr-focus on interchange by—befh—fegu}afefs—regulatlon . For example, in June 2024, the State of Illinois adopted the
Interchange Fee Prohibition Act, which restricts credit card and merehants-debit card interchange fees, as defined in the
legislation, that may be charged on portions of electronic payment transactions attributable to taxes and gratuities.
While a U. S. District Court has preliminarily enjoined this law from applying to federally chartered banking
organizations, including the Bank, other jurisdictions may seek to adopt similar or other types of restrictions on
interchange fees in the future . Beyond pursuing litigation, legislation and regulation, merchants are also pursuing alternate
payment platforms as a means to lower payment processing costs. To the extent interchange fees are reduced, one of our current
competitive advantages with our partner
products are used to purchase our partners’ goods and services — may be reduced. Moreover, to the extent interchange fees are
reduced, our income from those fees will be lower. We received $ 1. 0 billion of interchange fees for the year ended December
31,2023-2024 . As a result, a reduction in interchange fees could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of
operations. In addition, for our Dual Cards and general purpose co- branded credit cards, we are subject to the operating
regulations and procedures set forth by the interchange network, and our failure to comply with these operating regulations,
which may change from time to time, could subject us to various penalties or fees, or the termination of our license to use the
interchange network, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. We have
international operations, primarily in India and the Philippines, and some of our third- party service providers provide services
to us from other countries, all of which subject us to a number of international risks, including, among other things, sovereign
volatility and socio- political instability. For example, the Philippines has in the past experienced severe political and social
instability. Any future political or social instability in the countries in which we operate could have a material adverse effect on
our business operations. U. S. regulations also govern various aspects of the international activities of domestic corporations and
increase our compliance and regulatory risks and costs. Any failure on our part or the part of our service providers to comply
with applicable U. S. regulations, as well as the regulations in the countries and markets in which we or they operate, could
result in fines, penalties, injunctions or other similar restrictions, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition. Competitors or other third parties may allege that we, or consultants or
other third parties retained or indemnified by us, infringe on their intellectual property rights. We also may face allegations that
our employees have misappropriated intellectual property of their former employers or other third parties. Given the complex,
rapidly changing and competitive technological and business environment in which we operate, and the potential risks and
uncertainties of intellectual property- related litigation, an assertion of an infringement claim against us may cause us to spend
significant amounts to defend the claim (even if we ultimately prevail), pay significant money damages, lose significant
revenues, be prohibited from using the relevant systems, processes, technologies or other intellectual property, cease offering
certain products or services, or incur significant license, royalty or technology development expenses. Moreover, it has become
common in recent years for individuals and groups to purchase intellectual property assets for the sole purpose of making claims
of infringement and attempting to extract settlements from companies like ours. Even in instances where we believe that claims
and allegations of intellectual property infringement against us are without merit, defending against such claims is time
consuming and expensive and could result in the diversion of time and attention of our management and employees. In addition,
although in some cases a third party may have agreed to indemnify us for such costs, such indemnifying party may refuse or be
unable to uphold its contractual obligations. Moreover, we rely on a variety of measures to protect our intellectual property and
proprietary information, including copyrights, trademarks, patents, trade secrets and controls on access and distribution. These
measures may not prevent misappropriation or infringement of our intellectual property or proprietary information and a




resulting loss of competitive advantage, and in any event, we may be required to litigate to protect our intellectual property and
proprietary information from misappropriation or infringement by others, which is expensive, could cause a diversion of
resources and may not be successful. Third parties may challenge, invalidate or circumvent our intellectual property, or our
intellectual property may not be sufficient to provide us with competitive advantages. Our competitors or other third parties may
independently design around or develop similar technology, or otherwise duplicate our services or products such that we could
not assert our intellectual property rights against them. In addition, our contractual arrangements may not effectively prevent
disclosure of our intellectual property or confidential and proprietary information or provide an adequate remedy in the event of
an unauthorized disclosure. Our business is subject to increased risks of litigation and regulatory actions as a result of a number
of factors and from various sources, including the highly regulated nature of the financial services industry, the focus of state
and federal prosecutors on banks and the financial services industry and the structure of the credit card industry. In the normal
course of business, from time to time, we have been named as a defendant in various legal actions, including arbitrations, class
actions and other litigation, arising in connection with our business activities. Certain of the legal actions include claims for
substantial compensatory and / or punitive damages, or claims for indeterminate amounts of damages. In addition, while
historically the arbitration provision in our customer agreements generally has limited our exposure to consumer class action
litigation, there-ean-be-ne-assuranee-that-we witmay not be successful in enforcing our arbitration clause in the future. There
may also be legislative or other efforts to directly or indirectly prohibit the use of pre- dispute arbitration clauses, or we may be
compelled as a result of competitive pressure or reputational concerns to voluntarily eliminate pre- dispute arbitration clauses. If
the arbitration provision is not enforceable or eliminated (for whatever reason), our exposure to class action litigation could
increase significantly. Even if our arbitration clause remains enforceable, we may be subject to mass arbitrations in which large
groups of consumers bring arbitrations against the Company simultaneously. These mass arbitrations may, among other
risks, require the Company to bear the cost of potentially exorbitant filing fees. e arc also involved, from time to time, in
reviews, investigations and proceedings (both formal and informal) by governmental agencies regarding our business
(collectively, “ regulatory matters *’), which could subject us to significant fines, penalties, obligations to change our business
practices or other requirements resulting in increased expenses, diminished earnings and damage to our reputation. The current
environment of additional regulation, increased regulatory compliance efforts and enhanced regulatory enforcement has resulted
in significant operational and compliance costs and may prevent or make it less attractive for us to continue providing certain
products and services. Fhere-These is-no-assuranee-that-these-regulatory matters or other factors may withkset, in the future,
affect how we conduct our business and in turn have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition. We contest liability and / or the amount of damages as appropriate in each pending matter. The outcome of pending
and future matters could be material to our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows depending on, among other
factors, the level of our earnings for that period, and could adversely affect our business and reputation. For a discussion of
certain legal proceedings, see “ Regulation — Consumer Financial Services Regulation, ” and Note 718 . Legal Proceedings
and Regulatory Matters to our consolidated financial statements. In addition to litigation and regulatory matters, from time to
time, through our operational and compliance controls, we identify compliance issues that require us to make operational
changes and, depending on the nature of the issue, result in financial remediation to impacted cardholders. These self- identified
issues and voluntary remediation payments could be significant depending on the issue and the number of cardholders impacted.
They also could generate litigation or regulatory investigations that subject us to additional adverse effects on our business,
results of operations and financial condition. General Risks Damage to our reputation could negatively impact our business.
Maintaining a positive reputation is critical to our attracting and retaining customers, partners, investors and employees. In
particular, adverse perceptions regarding our reputation could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain
customers, partners and employees, promote and increase the utilization of our credit products, as well as cxecute on our
strategy of increasing retail deposits at the Bank and may lead to decreases in deposits. Harm to our reputation can arise from
many sources, including employee misconduct, misconduct by our partners, outsourced service providers or other
counterparties, litigation or regulatory actions, failure by us or our partners to meet minimum standards of service and quality,
inadequate protection of customer information and compliance failures. Negative publicity regarding us (or others engaged in a
similar business or activities), whether or not accurate, may damage our reputation, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Our risk management processes and procedures may not be
effective in mitigating our risks. Our risk management processes and procedures seek to appropriately balance risk and return
and mitigate risks. We have established processes and procedures intended to identify, measure, monitor and control the types of
risk to which we are subject, including credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, operational risk , {ineluding-compliance risk ¥,
legal risk , strategic risk, and reputational risk. Credit risk is the risk of loss that arises when an obligor fails to meet the terms
of an obligation. We are exposed to both consumer credit risk, from our customer loans, and institutional credit risk, principally
from our partners. Market risk refers to the risk that a change in the level of one or more market prices, rates, indices,
correlations or other market factors will result in losses for a position or portfolio. Liquidity risk is the risk that financial
condition or overall safety and soundness are adversely affected by an inability, or perceived inability, to meet obligations and
support business growth. Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed processes, people or systems,
external events (e. g., natural disasters and cybersecurity incidents ) ereomphanee-, reputational erdegat-matters and includes
those risks as they relate directly to us as well as to third parties with whom we contract or otherwise do business. Compliance
risk is the risk of non- compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations, other supervisory guidance, and internal
policies, and also includes any of those risks as they relate directly to us and our subsidiaries, as well as to third parties
with whom we contract or otherwise do business. Legal risk is the risk of potential disputes, litigation, defective
agreements or unprotected or infringed rights that can disrupt or otherwise negatively affect operations or condition of
the organization. Strategic risk is the risk from changes in the business environment, improper implementation of decisions or



inadequate responsiveness to changes in the business environment. Reputational risk is the risk arising from negative perception
on the part of stakeholders, including customers, counterparties, shareholders, investors, rating agencies, regulators and
employees that can adversely affect the Company’ s ability to maintain existing talent and customers and establish new business
relationships with continued access to sources of funding. See “ Our Business — Credit Risk Management ” and ““ Risks — Risk
Management ” for additional information on the types of risks affecting our business. We seek to monitor and control our risk
exposure through a framework that includes our Risk Appetite Statement (RAS), Enterprise Risk Assessment and Risk
Aggregation Reporting (ERA / RAR ) process, risk policies, procedures and controls, reporting requirements, and corporate
culture and values in conjunction with the risk management accountability incorporated into our integrated Risk Management
Framework, which includes our governance structure and three distinct Lines of Defense. Management of our risks in some
cases depends upon the use of analytical and / or forecasting models. If the models that we use to manage these risks are
ineffective at predicting future losses or are otherwise inadequate, we may incur unexpected losses or otherwise be adversely
affected. In addition, the information we use in managing our credit and other risk may be inaccurate or incomplete as a result of
error or fraud, both of which may be difficult to detect and avoid. There may also be risks that exist, or that develop in the
future, that we have not appropriately anticipated, identified or mitigated including when processes are changed or new products
and services are introduced. If our Risk Management Framework does not effectively identify and control our risks, we could
suffer unexpected losses or be adversely affected, and that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, and financial condition. Our business could be adversely affected if we are unable to attract, retain, motivate and
develop key officers and employees. Our success depends, in large part, on our ability to retain, recruit and motivate key officers
and employees. Specifically, our ability to remain competitive with our peers, manage our business effectively and to execute
our strategic plans and initiatives depends on our ability to attract, retain, motivate and develop key officers and employees, as
well as manage the costs of employee compensation and benefits within budget. Our senior management team has significant
industry experience and would be difficult to replace. Competition for senior executives and other key talent in the financial
services and payment industry has been intense and may further increase. We may not be able to attract and retain qualified
personnel to replace or succeed members of our senior management team or other key personnel, particularly if we do not offer
employment terms that are competitive with the rest of the labor market. Guidelines issued by the federal banking regulators
prohibits our payment of" excessive" compensation, or compensation that could lead to our material financial loss, to our
executives, employees, and directors. In addition, proposed rules implementing the executive compensation provisions of the
Dodd- Frank Act would limit the type and structure of compensation arrangements that we may enter into with our senior
executives and persons deemed" significant risk- takers." These restrictions could negatively impact our ability to compete with
other companies in recruiting, retaining and motivating key personnel. Failure to retain talented senior leadership could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Tax legislation initiatives or challenges to
our tax positions could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. We operate in multiple jurisdictions
and we are subject to tax laws and regulations of the U. S. federal, state and local governments, and of various foreign
jurisdictions. From time to time legislative initiatives may be proposed, which may impact our effective tax rate and could
adversely affect our deferred tax assets, tax positions and / or our tax liabilities, if enacted. In addition, U. S. federal, state and
local, as well as foreign, tax laws and regulations are extremely complex and subject to varying interpretations. There can be no
assurance that our historical tax positions will not be challenged by relevant tax authorities or that we would be successful in
defending our positions in connection with any such challenge. State sales tax rules and regulations, and their application and
interpretation by the respective states, could change and adversely affect our results of operations. State sales tax rules and
regulations, and their application and interpretation by the respective states, could adversely affect our results of operations.
Retailers collect sales tax from retail customers and remit those collections to the applicable states. When customers fail to
repay their loans, including the amount of sales tax advanced by us to the merchant on their behalf, we are entitled, in some
cases, to seek a refund of the amount of sales tax from the applicable state. Sales tax laws and regulations enacted by the various
states are subject to change and interpretation, and our compliance with such laws is routinely subject to audit and review by the
states. Audit risk is concentrated in several states, and these states are conducting ongoing audits. The outcomes of ongoing and
any future audits and changes in the states’ interpretation of the sales tax laws and regulations involving the recovery of tax on
bad debts could materially adversely impact our results of operations. See “ Regulation — Risk Factors Relating to Regulation ”
on page 99-101 for additional risk factors. Strong risk management is at the core of our business strategy and we have
developed processes to manage the major categories of risk, namely credit, market, liquidity, operational , tinelading
compliance ¥, legal , strategic , and reputational risk (considered across all risk types). As described in greater detail below
under “ — Risk Management Roles and Responsibilities, ”” we manage enterprise risk using an integrated framework that
includes board- level oversight, administration by a group of cross- functional management committees ;-and day- to- day
implementation by a dedicated risk management team led by the Chief Risk Officer (“ CRO ) a role currently held by our Chief
Risk and Legal Officer. We also utilize the “ Three Lines of Defense ” risk management model to demonstrate and structure the
roles, responsibilities and accountabilities in the organization for taking and managing risk. The Risk Committee of the Board of
Directors has responsibility for the oversight of the risk management program, and three-four other board committees have
other oversight roles with respect to risk management. Several management committees and subcommittees have important
roles and responsibilities in administering the risk management program, including the Enterprise Risk Management Committee
(the “ ERMC ”), the Management Committee (the “ MC ), the Asset and Liability Management Committee (the “ ALCO ) and
the Capital Management Committee (the “ CMC ). This committee- focused governance structure provides a forum through
which risk expertise is applied cross- functionally to all major decisions, including development of policies, processes and
controls used by the CRO and risk management team to execute the risk management philosophy. The enterprise risk
management philosophy is to ensure that all relevant risks are appropriately identified, measured, monitored and controlled. The



approach in executing this philosophy focuses on leveraging risk expertise to drive enterprise risk management using a strong
governance framework structure, a comprehensive enterprise risk assessment programand risk aggregation reporting process
and an effective risk appetite framework. Risk Categories Risk management is organized around six-eight major risk categories:
credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, operational risk , Ginelading-compliance yrisk, legal risk , strategic risk, and reputational
risk. We evaluate the potential impact of a risk event on us (including subsidiaries) by assessing the partner and customer,
financial, reputational, legal and regulatory impacts. Credit risk is the risk of loss that arises when an obligor fails to meet the
terms of a contract and / or the underlying collateral is insufficient to satisfy the obligation. Credit risk includes exposure to
consumer credit risk from customer loans as well as institutional credit risk, principally from our partners. Consumer credit risk
is one of our most significant risks. See “ Our Business — Credit Risk Management ” for a description of the customer credit
risk management procedures. Market risk refers to the risk that a change in the level of one or more market prices, rates, indices,
correlations , or other market factors will result in losses for a position or portfolio. The principal market risk exposures arise
from Volatlhty in interest rates and their impact on economic value —eap-}ta-l-tz&t—teﬁ—leve}s—and earnings. Market risk is managed
by the ALCO, and is subject to policy and risk appetite limits on sensitivity of both earnings at risk and the economic value of
equity. Market risk metrics are reviewed by ALCO monthly, the Risk Committee on a quarterly basis and the Board of Directors
as required. Liquidity Risk Liquidity risk is the risk that an institution’ s financial condition or overall safety and soundness are
adversely affected by a real or perceived inability to meet contractual or contingent obligations and support planned growth.
The primary liquidity objective is to maintain a liquidity profile that will enable us, even in times of stress or market disruption,
to fund our existing assets and meet liabilities in a timely manner and at an acceptable cost. Policy and risk appetite limits
require us and the Bank (and other entities within our business, as applicable) to ensure that sufficient liquid assets are available
to survive liquidity stresses over a specified time period. Our Risk Appetite Statement requires funding diversification,
monitoring early warning indicators in the capital markets, and other related limits. ALCO reviews liquidity exposures
continuously in the context of approved policy and risk appetite limits and reports results quarterly to the Risk Committee, and
the Board of Directors as required. Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed processes, people or
systems, external events (such as natural disasters or cyber- attacks) ereemphanee-, reputational erdegal-matters, and includes
any of those risks as they relate dlrectly to us and our subsidiaries, as Well as to third parties Wlth whom we contract or otherwise
do business - phiar : adh : ea : stia Ao ar
procedures-. Operatlonal risk also includes model risk relating to various ﬁnanc1a1 and other models used by us and our
subsidiaries, including the Bank, and is subject to a formal governance process. Compliance Risk Compliance risk is the risk
of non- compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations, other supervisory guidance, and internal policies, and
includes any of those risks as they relate directly to us and our subsidiaries, as well as to third parties with whom we
contract or otherwise do business. Compliance risk includes risks related to complying with regulations and laws that
protect customers, requirements applicable to non- consumer transactions and business, conduct and behavior of
individuals and organizations, and potential illicit activities and criminal behavior. Legal Risk is the risk of potential
disputes, litigation, defective agreements or unprotected or infringed rights that can disrupt or otherwise negatively
affect operations or the condition of a banking organization, and includes any of those risks as they relate directly to us
and our subsidiaries, as well as to third parties with whom we contract or otherwise do business. Legal risk includes
risks related to litigation and / or disputes against the organization as well as potential management of own assets or
compliance with third- party asset rights. Strategic Risk Strategic risk consists of the current or prospective risk to earnings
and capital arising from changes in the business environment and from adverse business decisions, improper implementation of
decisions or lack of responsiveness to changes in the business environment. The New Product Introduction (“ NPI **) Sub-
Committee assesses the strategic viability and consistency of each new product or service. All new initiatives require the
approval of the NPI Sub- Committee , and a select number of new product requests are escalated to the MC and the Board of
Directors, based on level of risk. Reputational Risk Responsibility for risk management flows to individuals and entities
throughout our Company, including the Board of Directors, various board and management committees and senior management.
The corporate culture and values, in conjunction with the risk management accountability incorporated into the integrated
Enterprise Risk Governance Framework, which includes governance structure and three distinct Lines of Defense, has
facilitated, and will continue to facilitate, the evolution of an effective risk presence across the Company. The “ First Line of
Defense ” is comprised of the business areas whose day- to- day activities involve decision- making and associated risk- taking
for the Company. As the business owner, the first line is responsible for identifying, assessing, managing and controlling that
risk, and-as well as for mitigating our overall risk exposure. The first line formulates strategy and epetates-is tasked with
operating within the risk appetite and risk governance framework. The “ Second Line of Defense, ” also known as the
independent risk management organization, provides oversight of first line risk taking and management. The second line assists
in determining risk capacity, risk appetite, and the strategies, policies , and structure for managing risks. The second line owns
the risk governance framework. The “ Third Line of Defense ™ is comprised of Internal Audit. The third line provides
independent and objective assurance to senior management and to the Board of Directors and Audit Committee that the first and
second line risk management and internal control systems and its governance processes are well- designed and working as
intended. Set forth below is a further description of the roles and responsibilities related to the key elements of the Enterprise
Risk Governance Framework. The Board of Directors, among other things, has approved the enterprise- wide Risk Appetite
Statement for the Company, as well as certain other risk management policies and oversees the Company’ s strategic plan and
enterprise- wide risk management program. The Board of Directors may assign certain risk management activities to applicable
committees and management. Board Committees The Board of Directors has established five committees that assist the board in
its oversight of risk management. These committees and their risk- related roles are described below. In coordination with the
Risk Committees of the Company and the Bank, the Audit Committee’ s role, among other things, is to review: (i) the




Company’ s major financial risk exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor and control these risks; (ii) the
Company’ s risk assessment and risk management practices and the guidelines, policies and processes for risk assessment and
risk management; (iii) the organization, performance and audit findings of our internal audit function; (iv) our public disclosures
and effectiveness of internal controls; and (v) the Company’ s risk guidelines and policies relating to financial statements,
financial systems, financial reporting processes, compliance and auditing, cybersecurity and allowance for credit losses.
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee’ s role, among other
things, is to: (i) review and approve certain transactions with related persons; (ii) review and resolve any conflict of interest
involving directors or executive officers; (iii) oversee the risks, if any, related to corporate governance structure and practices;
and (iv) identify and discuss with management the risks, if any, related to social responsibility actions and public policy
initiatives. Management Development and Compensation Committee The Management Development and Compensation
Committee’ s role, among other things, is to: (i) review our incentive compensation arrangements with a view to appropriately
balancing risk and financial results in a manner that does not encourage employees to expose us or any of our subsidiaries to
imprudent risks, and are consistent with safety and soundness; and (ii) review (with input from our CRO and the Bank’ s CRO)
the relationship between risk management policies and practices, corporate strategies and senior executive compensation. The
Risk Committee’ s role, among other things, is to: (i) assist the Board of Directors in its oversight of the Company’ s Enterprise
Risk Governance Framework, including as it relates to credit, investment, market, liquidity, operational, cybersecurity,
compliance , third- party relationships , strategic and reputational risks; (ii) review and, at least annually, approve the
Company’ s Enterprise Risk Governance Framework and risk assessment and risk management practices, guidelines and
policies including significant policies that management uses to manage the risks discussed above; (iii) review and, at least
annually, recommend to the Board of Directors for approval the Company’ s enterprise- wide risk appetite (including the
Company’ s liquidity risk tolerance), and review and approve the Company’ s strategy relating to managing key risks and other
policies on the establishment of risk limits as well as the guidelines, policies and processes for monitoring and mitigating such
risks; (iv) meet separately on a regular basis with our CRO and (in coordination with the Bank’ s Risk Committee, as
appropriate) the Bank” s CRO; (v) receive periodic reports from management on metrics used to measure, monitor and manage
known and emerging risks, including management’ s view on acceptable and appropriate levels of exposure; (vi) receive reports
from our internal audit, risk management and independent liquidity review functions on the results of risk management reviews
and assessments; (vii) review and approve, at least annually, the Company’ s enterprise- wide capital and liquidity framework
(including its contingency funding plan) and, in coordination with the Bank’ s Risk Committee, review, at least quarterly, the
Bank’ s liquidity risk appetite, regulatory capital and ratios and internal capital adequacy assessment processes and, at least
annually, the Bank’ s allowance for credit losses methodology, annual capital plan and resolution plan; (viii) review, at least
semi- annually, information from senior management regarding whether the Company is operating within its established risk
appetite; (ix) review the status of financial services regulatory examinations; (x) review the independence, authority and
effectiveness of the Company’ s risk management funetion-andindependenthquidity review-function; (xi) approve the
appointment of, evaluate and, when appropriate, replace the CRO; and (xii) review disclosure regarding risk contained in the
Company’ s annual and quarterly reports. Technology Committee The Technology Committee’ s role, among other things, is to
review and make recommendations to the Board of Directors on major technology strategies and other subjects relating to: (i)
the Company’ s approach to technology- related innovation, including the Company’ s competitive position and relevant trends
in technology and innovation; (ii) the technology development process to assure ongoing business growth; and (iii)
developments on existing and emerging technologies which present opportunities or threats to the Company’ s strategic agenda.
Management Committees There are four management committees with important roles and responsibilities in the risk
management function: the MC, the ERMC, the ALCO and the CMC. These committees and their risk- related roles are
described below. The MC is under the oversight of the Board of Directors and is comprised of our senior executives and chaired
by our CEO €hiefExeeutive-Offteer-. The MC has responsibility for reviewing and approving lending and investment activities
of the Company, such as equity investments, acquisitions, dispositions, joint ventures, portfolio deals and investment issues
regarding the Company. It is also responsible for overseeing the Company’ s approach to managing its investments, reviewing
and approving the Company’ s annual strategic planand-annual-eperating-plan, and overseeing activities administered by its
Credit, Information Technology, New Product Introduction, Investment Review and Pricing sub- committees. The MC also
reviews management reports provided on a periodic basis, or as requested, in order to monitor evolving issues, effectiveness of
risk mitigation activities and performance against strategic plans. The MC may make decisions only within the authority that is
granted to it by the Board of Directors and must escalate any investment or other proposals outside of its authority to the Board
of Directors for final decision. The ERMC is a management committee under the oversight of the Risk Committee and is
comprised of senior executives and chaired by the CRO. The ERMC has responsibility for risk oversight across the Company
and for reporting on material risks to our Risk Committee. The responsibilities of the ERMC include the day- to- day oversight
of risks impacting the Company, establishing a risk appetite statement , and ensuring compliance across the Company with the
overall risk appetite. The ERMC also oversees establishment of risk management policies, the performance and functioning of
the relevant overall risk management function, and the implementation of appropriate governance activities and systems that
support control of risks. The ALCO is a management committee under the oversight of the Risk Committee and is comprised of
our senior executives and chaired by the Treasurer. It identifies, measures, monitors, manages and controls market, liquidity ,
and credit (investments and bank relationships) risks to the Company’ s balance sheet. ALCO activities include reviewing and
monitoring cash management, investments, liquidity, funding , and foreign exchange risk activities and overseeing the safe,
sound and efficient operation of the Company in compliance with applicable policies, laws , and regulations. The CMC is a
management committee under the oversight of the Risk Committee and is comprised of our senior executives and chaired by the
SVP, Capital Management and Stress Testing. The CMC provides oversight of the Company’ s capital management, stress



testing, and recovery and resolution planning activities. The CMC supports the Risk Committee in overseeing capital
management activities such as the Annual-annual Capital-capital Plan-plan , the Internal-internal €apttal-capital Adequaey
adequacy Assessmentassessment Proeess-process , stress testing, the Pre-pre - Proviston-provision Net-net Revenue-revenue
and €redit-credit Loss-loss Methodologies-methodologies , the Centingent-contingent Capital-capital Plan-plan as needed in
the event of a breach, and the Reeeveryrecovery and Resolutionrresolution Planning-planning Preeess-process . Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Risk Officer , and Other Senior Officers The ChiefExeeuntive-Offteer(~CEO 2)-has ultimate
responsibility for ensuring the management of the Company’ s risk in accordance with the Company’ s approved risk appetite
statement, including through their role as chairperson of the MC. The CEO also provides leadership in communicating the risk
appetite to internal and external stakeholders to help embed appropriate risk taking into the overall corporate culture of the
Company. The CRO manages our risk management team and, as chairperson of the ERMC, is responsible for establishing and
implementing standards for the identification, management, measurement, monitoring and reporting of risk on an enterprise-
wide basis. In collaboration with our CEO and the Chief Financial Officer, the CRO has responsibility for developing an
appropriate risk appetite with corresponding limits that aligns with supervisory expectations, and this risk appetite statement has
been approved by the Board of Directors. The CEO and CRO regularly reperts-- report to the Board of Directors and the Risk
Committee on risk management matters. The senior executive officers who serve as leaders in the “ First Line of Defense, ” are
responsible for ensuring that their respective functions operate within established risk limits, in accordance with the Company’ s
Risk Appetite Statement. As members of the ERMC and the MC, they are also responsible for identifying risks, considering risk
when developing strategic plans, budgets and new products and implementing appropriate risk controls when pursuing business
strategies and objectives. In addition, senior executive officers are responsible for deploying sufficient financial resources and
qualified personnel to manage the risks inherent in the Company’ s business activities. The risk management team, including
compliance, led by the CRO, provides oversight of our risk profile and is responsible for maintaining a compliance program that
includes compliance risk assessment, policy development, testing and reporting activities. This team effectively serves in a *
Second Line of Defense ” role by overseeing the operating activities of the “ First Line of Defense. ” Internal Audit Team The
internal audit team is responsible for performing periodic, independent reviews and testing of compliance with the Company’ s
and the Bank’ s risk management policies and standards, as well as with regulatory guidance and industry best practices. The
internal audit team also assesses the design of the Company' s and the Bank' s policies and standards and validates the
effectiveness of risk management controls, and reports the results of such reviews to the Audit Committee. The internal audit
team effectively serves as the “ Third Line of Defense ” for the Company. EnterpriseRisk-AssessmentProeess-he Enterprise
Risk Assessment process and Risk Aggregation Reporting (“ ERA / RAR 7) is atep—dewnproeess-designed to identify,
assess aneh, quantify , and aggregate risk across the Company’ s primary risk categories and serves as a basis to determine the
Company’ s risk profile. The Enterprise Risk Management team, in collaboration with the Riskerisk Pillar-pillar leaders,
performs an independent ERA / RAR using a methodology that measures tikelthoed-inherent risk , impaet-enterprise control
environment , vuinerabitity-and residual risk the-speed-efenset-to ratc enterprise- level risks across Synchrony for the ERA,
and aggregate risk level, enterprise control environment, and aggregate risk exposure to rate risk categories across
Synchrony for RAR . The ERA /RAR process plays an important role in directing the risk management activities by helping
prioritize initiatives and focus resources on the most approprlate rlsks The ERA / RAR process is performed quarterly. The
ERA output determines annuaty-an dis-the-basisofthe Material Risk Inventory , which is a key
input in the strategic and capital planning processes. Stress testlng activities provide a forward- looking assessment of risks and
losses. Stress testing is integrated into the strategic, capital and liquidity planning processes, and the results are used to identify
portfolio vulnerabilities and develop risk mitigation strategies or contingency plans across a range of stressed conditions. Risk
Appetite Framework We operate in accordance with a Risk Appetite Statement setting forth objectives, plans and limits, and
expressing preferences with respect to risk- taking activities in the context of overall business goals. The risk-Risk appetite
Appetite statement-Statement is approved annually by the Board of Directors, with delegated authority to the CRO for
implementation throughout the Company. The Risk Appetite Statement serves as a tool to preclude activities that are
inconsistent with the business and risk strategy. The Risk Appetite Statement is reviewed and approved at least annually as part
of the business planning process and will be modified, as necessary, to include updated risk tolerances by risk category, enabling
us to meet prescribed goals while continuing to operate within established risk beundartes-thresholds . Cybersecurity Risk
Management and Strategy Our information security program includes administrative, technical and physical safeguards and is
designed to provide an appropriate level of protection to maintain the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our Company’
s, our elient-clients ' ~s-and our customers’ information. This includes protecting against known and evolving threats to the
security of customer records and information, and against unauthorized access, compromise, or loss of customer records or
information. Our information security program is designed to continuously adapt to an evolving landscape of emerging threats
and available technology. Through data gathering and evaluation of emerging threats from internal and external incidents and
technology investments, security controls are adjusted on an as needed basis. We have developed a security strategy and
implemented layers of controls embedded throughout our technology environment that establish multiple control points between
threats and our assets. We test the effectiveness of our controls and data protection processes through internal and independent
external audits and assessments, including regular penetration tests, application code reviews, vulnerability scans, disaster
recovery tests and cyber exercises to simulate hacker attacks. Our information security program is supported by regular training
of information security employees and awareness training and activities for executives, directors, and employees companywide
through which we communicate our information security policies, standards, processes and practices. Further, our information
security program is designed to provide oversight of third parties who store, process or have access to sensitive data, and we
require similar levels of protection from third- party service providers as are required for the Company. We maintain supplier
risk assessment processes to identify risks associated with third- party service providers and have implemented enhanced




cybersecurity incident and data breach response requirements for critical supplier relationships. We employ business continuity,
backup and disaster recovery procedures for all the systems that are used for storing, processing and transferring customer
information, and we periodically test and validate our disaster recovery plans to ¥alidate-assess our resilience capabilities.
Additionally, we maintain insurance coverage that, subject to applicable terms and conditions, may cover certain aspects of
cybersecurity and information risks. However, there can be no assurance that liabilities or losses we may incur will be covered
under such policies or that the amount of insurance will be adequate. Our information security program is designed and
managed to be consistent with the Cyber Risk Institute (CRI) Profile, a cybersecurity assessment framework which is a financial
services industry- specific extension of the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Cybersecurity Framework.
We measure and monitor the maturity of the information security program against this framework, industry guidance, and a risk-
driven metrics program aligned to our business requirements. Along with periodically being examined by our regulators,
Synchrony regularly engages external experts to audit, evaluate and validate our controls against these standard frameworks, and
we adjust our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and practices as necessary based on the information provided by these
examinations, audits and evaluations. Cybersecurity threats, including as a result of asy-previous cybersecurity incidents, have
not materially affected the Company during the past three fiscal years. While we are not currently aware of any cybersecurity
threats that are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company there is no assurance that we will not be materially affected
by such threats in the future. For additional information on our risks related to cybersecurity, see “ Risk Factors Relating to Our
Business — Cyber- attacks or other security breaches could have a material adverse effect on our business. ” Our Board' s fully
independent Risk Committee evetsees-has primary oversight of the Company' s cybersecurity risk. Cybersecurity risk is a
component of operational risk within our enterprise risk management framework. For a detailed description of our enterprise
risk management framework, including its governance and processes, see *“ Risks — Risk Management. ” Our information
security team, led by our Chief Information Security Officer (" CISO"), in collaboration with our Risk Committee and our
executive leadership team, closely monitors our information security program, including our strategy, and information security
policies and practices, against a rapidly evolving landscape of threats and regulatory requirements and expectations . The
Risk Committee receives reports and briefings on our information security and enterprise risk management programs at least
quarterly, including the results of any external audits, examinations and evaluations, as well as maturity assessments of our
information security program , at least one of these sessions is held jointly with the Audit Committee . The CISO team
leading our information security program is responsible for identifying, assessing, managing and controlling cybersecurity risk,
and for mitigating our cybersecurity risk exposure. Our information security program is monitored and challenged by our risk
management team, led by our CRO. We have developed an incident response governance framework to timely identify,
evaluate and thereafter report cybersecurity incidents to our executive management team, appropriate management
committees, including the enterprise risk management committee, the Risk Committee, Audit Committee and Board, as
necessary. In addition to facilitating timely evaluation, escalation and reporting of cybersecurity incidents, this framework also
sets forth the process for identifying and assessing the severity of cybersecurity incidents, as well as for managing post- incident
activities, including recovery and resolution. The CISO reports directly to our Chief Technology and Operating Officer and on a
dotted line basis to our CRO. Our CISO has expertise in cybersecurity, information security risk management, identity and
access management, security architecture, application security, vulnerability management, threat intelligence, security
operations and incident management and response through prior roles leading information security functions at other large
organizations and has over 30 years of experience across technology and security . The CISO holds various professional
certifications, including the Certified Information Security Manager certification from the Information Systems Audit and
Control Association. REGULATION Regulation Relating to Our Business Our business, including our relationships with our
customers, is subject to regulation, supervision and examination under U. S. federal, state and foreign laws and regulations.
These laws and regulations cover all aspects of our business, including lending and collection practices, treatment of our
customers, safeguarding deposits, customer privacy and information security, capital structure, liquidity, dividends and other
capital distributions, transactions with affiliates and conduct and qualifications of personnel. Such laws and regulations directly
and indirectly affect key drivers of our profitability, including, for example, capital and liquidity, product offerings, risk
management, and costs of compliance. As a savings and loan holding company and financial holding company, Synchrony is
subject to regulation, supervision and examination by the Federal Reserve Board. As a large provider of consumer financial
services, we are also subject to regulation, supervision and examination by the CFPB. The Bank is a federally chartered savings
association. As such, the Bank is subject to regulation, supervision and examination by the OCC, which is its primary regulator,
and by the CFPB. In addition, the Bank, as an insured depository institution, is supervised by the FDIC. The Dodd- Frank Act
and regulations promulgated thereunder have had, and may continue to have, a significant impact on our business, results of
operations and financial condition. As a result, the extensive laws and regulations to which we are subject and with which we
must comply significantly impact our earnings, results of operations, financial condition and competitive position. The impact of
such regulations on our business is discussed further below, as well as in “ Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations ” (MD & A) and “ Risk Factors Relating to Regulation ” of this Form 10- K Report. The
Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Related Developments The Dodd- Frank Act, which was
enacted in 2010, significantly restructured the financial regulatory regime in the United States. Certain aspects of the Dodd-
Frank Act are subject to rules that have been taking effect over several years or have been revised since their initial adoption. On
May 24, 2018, the President signed into law the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act (**
EGRRCPA ), which amended the Dodd- Frank Act and modified certain post- crisis regulatory requirements. On October 10,
2019, the Federal Reserve Board, OCC, and FDIC issued final rules, which we refer to as the " Tailoring Rules, " that tailor the
applicability of the Federal Reserve Board’ s enhanced prudential standards relating to capital, liquidity, and other risk
management matters, and apply certain of these standards to savings and loan holding companies (other than those substantially



engaged in insurance underwriting or commercial actiVities) that have total consolidated assets of $ 100 billion or more based on
the average of the prevrous four quarters referred to as ¢ Covered saVlngs and loan holdrng companres Bee&use—Synchrony

wﬂ-l—beeeﬂ&e-became subj ect to these enhanced prudentral standards fe{-}ewrng—m 2023 These enhanced prudentlal standards,
including the applicable transition periods for Synchrony, —Fhe-enhaneed-prudential-standards-are discussed in greater detail
below. The recent and possible future changes to the regulatory framework applicable to Synchrony and the Bank make it
difficult to assess the overall financial impact of the Dodd- Frank Act and related regulatory developments on us and across the
industry. See also “ Regulation — Risk Factors Relating to Regulation — Ongoing changes to the regulatory framework
applicable to us have had, and may continue to have, a significant impact on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. ” Savings and Loan Holding Company Regulation Overview As a savings and loan holding company, we are
required to register and file periodic reports with, and are subject to regulation, supervision and examination by, the Federal
Reserve Board. The Federal Reserve Board has adopted guidelines establishing safety and soundness standards on such matters
as liquidity risk management, securitizations, operational risk management, internal controls and audit systems, business
continuity, and compensation and other employee benefits. We are regularly reviewed and examined by the Federal Reserve
Board, which results in supervisory comments and directions relating to many aspects of our business that require our response
and attention. The Federal Reserve Board has broad enforcement authority over us and our subsidiaries (other than the Bank and
its subsidiaries). Under the Dodd- Frank Act, we are required to serve as a source of financial strength for any insured
depository institution that we control, such as the Bank. As a savings and loan holding company, Synchrony is subject to capital
requirements. The following are the minimum capital ratios to which Synchrony is subject: * under the Basel 111 standardized
approach, a common equity Tier 1 capital to risk- weighted assets ratio of 7 % (the minimum of 4. 5 % plus a capital
conservation buffer of 2. 5 %), a Tier 1 capital to risk- weighted assets ratio of 8. 5 % (the minimum of 6 % plus a capital
conservation buffer of 2. 5 %), and a total capital to risk- weighted assets ratio of 10. 5 % (a minimum of 8 % plus a capital
conservation buffer of 2. 5 %); and * a leverage ratio of Tier 1 capital to total consolidated assets of 4 %. For a discussion of our
capital ratios at December 31, 2023-2024 , see “ Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations- Capital. ” Under the Tailoring Rules, mest-as a covered savings and loan holding company with average total
consolidated assets of $ 100 billion or more, but less than $ 250 billion, Synchrony is now subject to supervisory stress
tests on a biennial basis, in even calendar years. Synchrony currently expects that the 2026 supervisory stress test is the
first stress test in which it will be required to participate. Covered savings and loan holding Cornpanres with average total
consohdated assets of $ 100 brlhon or more 5 are also
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subject to a stress caprtal buffer in lieu of the 2. 5 % caprtal conservation buffer The stress capital buffer is calculated as the
amount of loss of common equlty Tier 1 capital incurred by the Company in the severely adverse scenario of the most recent
supervrsory stress test exercise, assuming certain Contrnued payments on Caprtal 1nstru1nents and is subject to a floor of 2. 5 %

qttafter—avef&ge—at—Mafeh—Zv—l,—Z@%—tt—wrll become sub]ect to the stress caprtal buffer once it beglns to participate in supervisory

stress tests. As a result, its capital requirements may increase and its ability to pay dividends, make other capital distributions, or
redeem or repurchase its stock may be adversely impacted. Under a December 2018 final rule, banking organizations were
permitted to phase in the regulatory capital effects of the CECL model, the new accounting standard for credit losses, over three
years. On March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was signed into law, and included a provision that permits financial institutions to
defer temporarily the use of CECL. In a related action, the joint federal bank regulatory agencies issued an interim final rule
effective March 31, 2020, that allows banking organizations that implemented CECL in 2020 to elect to mitigate the effects of
the CECL accounting standard on their regulatory capital for two years. This two- year delay is in addition to the three- year
transition period that the agencies had already made available in December 2018. Synchrony and the Bank have elected to defer
the regulatory capital effects of CECL in accordance with the interim final rule, and not to apply the deferral of CECL available
under the CARES Act. As a result, the effects of CECL on Synchrony’ s and the Bank’ s regulatory capital were delayed
through the year 2021, and were are-being-phased- in over a three- year period from January 1, 2022 through December 31,
2024. Under the March 31, 2020 interim final rule, the amount of adjustments to regulatory capital deferred until the phase- in
period included both the initial impact of a banking organization’ s adoption of CECL at January 1, 2020, and 25 % of
subsequent changes in its allowance for credit losses during each quarter of the two- year period ended December 31, 2021. On
July 27,2023, the federal banking agencies proposed rules , known as the “ Basel Endgame ” proposal, that would change the
regulatory capital requirements for banking organizations that have $ 100 brlhon or more in total assets, sueh as Synchrony, or
have srgnrfrcant tradrng actrvrty The proposed rules Would implement-the-international-eapital-standare

v v 6 e-among other changes the
pfepesed—ru-}es—weu-}d-lower the threshold for the amount of certain deferred tax assets that must be deducted from capital, and
introduce a new expanded risk =based approach for calculating risk weighted assets, which, compared to the standardized
approach to which Synchrony is currently subject, serdd-add an operational risk charge and apply higher credit conversion
factors to the-unused portion of unconditionally cancellable lines of credit. We-are-etrrently-assessing-On September 10, 2024,
the-then impaet-Vice Chair for Supervision at the Federal Reserve Board (the" Vice Chair'), gave a speech outlining a set
of potential revisions to the Basel Endgame proposal, such as recommending that the Federal Reserve Board issue a re-
proposal of the rule in which banking organizations with total assets between $ 100 billion and $ 250 billion, such as



Synchrony, would not be subject to the changes to their capital requirements outlined in the Basel Endgame proposal,
other than the proposed fu-}es—requlrement to etuebusrnes‘s—Heweveﬁte-recognlze unreallzed gains and losses of the-their
securities in € ; anrd-adop ase-onr-regulatory capital
fequﬁenaents—whteh-may—deefease- It remains uncertaln whether the federal bankmg agencles w1ll re- propose and / et
or returmromrequity-finalize the Basel Endgame rule, and eeuld v
repurehase-ourstoel-if so, whether the agencies will adopt the Vlce Chair’ s recommendatlons D1v1dends and Stock
Repurchases We are limited in our ability to pay dividends or repurchase our stock by the Federal Reserve Board, including on
the basis that doing so would be an unsafe or unsound banking practice. Where we intend to declare or pay a dividend or
repurchase our stock, we are expected to inform and consult with the Federal Reserve Board in advance to ensure that such
dividend or repurchase does not raise supervisory concerns. It is the policy of the Federal Reserve Board that a savings and loan
holding company like us should generally pay dividends on common stock and preferred stock out of earnings, and only if
prospective earnings retention is consistent with the company’ s capital needs and overall current and prospective financial
condition. According to guidance from the Federal Reserve Board, our dividend policies will be assessed against, among other
things, our ability to achieve applicable Basel III capital ratio requirements. If we do not achieve applicable Basel III capital
ratio requirements, we may not be able to pay dividends. Although we currently expect to meet applicable Basel 11 capital ratio
requirements, inclusive of the capital conservation buffer, we cannot be sure that we will meet those requirements or that even if
we do, if we will be able to pay dividends. In evaluating the appropriateness of a proposed redemption or repurchase of stock,
the Federal Reserve Board will consider, among other things, the potential loss that we may suffer from the prospective need to
increase reserves and write down assets as a result of continued asset deterioration, and our ability to raise additional common
equity and other capital to replace the stock that will be redeemed or repurchased. The Federal Reserve Board also will consider
the potential negative effects on our capital structure of replacing common stock with any lower- tier form of regulatory capital
issued. Moreover, we became subject to formal capital plan submission requirements as of January 1, 2024, and
regulatory review of any-our capital plan may we-are-eurrently-required-to-submit-eoutd-result in restrtetions-an increase in
our capital requirements and adverse impacts on our ability to pay dividends er, make other capital distributions , or
redeem or repurchase our stock . Sce “ Regulation — Risk Factors Relating to Regulation — Failure by Synchrony and the
Bank to meet applicable capital adequacy and liquidity requirements could have a material adverse effect on us ” and “ — We
are subject to restrictions that limit our ability to pay dividends and repurchase our common stock; the Bank is subject to
restrictions that limit its ability to pay dividends to us, which could limit our ability to pay dividends, repurchase our common
stock or make payments on our indebtedness. ” As a Gevefed-covered savrngs and loan holdrng eenapan-tes—company w1th
average total consolidated assets of $ 100 billion or more &

eertsehdated—assets—e%—l—%—erten—eﬁnefe—must comply W1th enhanced prudentlal standards w1th respect to hqurdlty
management 1nclud1ng 1na1nta1n1ng drversrﬁed hqurdlty buffers and regularly conductlng 11qu1d1ty stress tests —Beeause—

Actlvmes ln general savings and loan
holdlng Cornpanres may only conduct, or acquire control of companles engaged in, financial activities as permitted under the
relevant provisions of the Bank Holding Company Act and the Home Owners' Loan Act (“ HOLA ). Savings and loan holding
companies that have elected financial holding company status generally can engage in a broader range of financial activities than
are otherwise permissible for savings and loan holding companies, including securities underwriting, dealing and making
markets in securities, and making merchant banking investments in non- financial companies. Synchrony has elected for
financial holding company status. The Federal Reserve Board has the authority to limit a financial holding company’ s ability to
conduct otherwise permissible activities if the financial holding company or any of its depository institution subsidiaries ceases
to meet the applicable eligibility requirements, including requirements that the financial holding company and each of its U. S.
depository institution subsidiaries maintain their status as *“ well- capitalized ”” and *“ well- managed. ” The Federal Reserve
Board may also impose corrective capital and / or managerial requirements on the financial holding company and may, for
example, require divestiture of the holding company’ s depository institutions if the deficiencies persist. Federal regulations
additionally provide that if any depository institution controlled by a financial holding company fails to maintain at least a
Satisfactory ” rating under the Community Reinvestment Act (“ CRA ”), the financial holding company and its subsidiaries are
prohibited from engaging in additional activities that are permissible only for financial holding companies. In addition, we are
subject to banking laws and regulations that limit in certain respects the types of acquisitions and investments that we can make.
For example, certain acquisitions of and investments in depository institutions or their holding companies that we may undertake
are subject to the prior review and approval of our banking regulators, including the Federal Reserve Board, the OCC and the
FDIC. Our banking regulators have broad discretion on whether to approve such acquisitions and investments. In deciding
whether to approve a proposed acquisition or investment, federal bank regulators may consider, among other factors: (i) the
effect of the acquisition or investment on competition, (ii) our financial condition and future prospects, including current and
projected capital ratios and levels, (iii) the competence, experience and integrity of our management and its record of
compliance with laws and regulations, (iv) the convenience and needs of the communities to be served, including our record of
compliance under the CRA, (v) our effectiveness in combating money laundering, and (vi) any risks that the proposed
acquisition poses to the U. S. banking or financial system. Certain acquisitions of our voting stock may be subject to regulatory
approval or notice under federal law. Investors are responsible for ensuring that they do not, directly or indirectly, acquire shares



of our stock in excess of the amount that can be acquired without regulatory approval under the Change in Bank Control Act and
the HOLA, which prohibit any person or company from acquiring control of us without, in most cases, the prior written
approval of the Federal Reserve Board. Resolution As a savings and loan holding company with $ 100 billion or more in assets,
Synchrony may become subject to long- term debt requirements that are intended to facilitate an orderly resolution of large
banking organizations and make their funding profiles more stable. An August 2023 interagency notice of proposed rulemaking
would require depository institution holding companies with $ 100 billion or more in assets to issue minimum amounts of long-
term debt and to maintain “ clean ” holding companies without certain types of liabilities, and, relatedly, would require insured
depository 1nst1tut10n sub51d1anes with $ 100 b11110n or more in assets to issue mlnlmurn amounts of long- term debt to a holding
company. If Wh assesstng-the-impac he-propose e bustiess;if-the proposed changes are finalized and
adepted-, they may require changes to our fundlng strategy and / or increase our cost of fundlng Savings-AssoetationRegulation
The Bank is required to file periodic reports with the OCC and is subject to regulation, supervision, and examination by the
OCC, the FDIC, and the CFPB. The OCC has adopted guidelines establishing safety and soundness standards on such matters as
loan underwriting and documentation, asset quality, earnings, internal controls and audit systems, risk management, interest rate
risk exposure and compensation and other employee benefits. The Bank is periodically examined by the OCC, the FDIC, and
the CFPB, which results in supervisory comments and directions relating to many aspects of the Bank’ s business that require
the Bank’ s response and attention. In addition, the OCC, the FDIC, and the CFPB have broad enforcement authority over the
Bank. The Bank is required by OCC regulations to maintain specified levels of regulatory capital. Institutions that are not well-
capitalized are subject to certain restrictions on brokered deposits and interest rates on deposits. The OCC is authorized and,
under certain circumstances, required to take certain actions against an institution that fails to meet the minimum ratios for an
adequately capitalized institution. At December 31, 2623-2024 , the Bank met or exceeded all applicable requirements to be
deemed well- capitalized under OCC regulations. The following are the minimum capital ratios to which the Bank is subject:
For a discussion of the Bank” s capital ratios, see “ Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations — Capital. ” As an insured depository institution, the Bank is also subject to the FDIA, which requires, among
other things, the federal banking agencies to take “ prompt corrective action ” in respect of depository institutions that do not
meet minimum capital requirements. The FDIA sets forth the following five capital tiers: “ well- capitalized, ” “ adequately
capitalized, ” “ undercapitalized,  “ significantly undercapitalized ” and “ critically undercapitalized. ” A depository institution’
s capital tier will depend upon how its capital levels compare with various relevant capital measures and certain other factors
that are established by regulation. To be well- capitalized for purposes of the FDIA, the Bank must maintain a common equity
Tier 1 capital to risk- weighted assets ratio of 6. 5 %, a Tier 1 capital to risk- weighted assets ratio of 8 %, a total capital to risk-
weighted assets ratio of 10 %, and a leverage ratio of Tier 1 capital to total consolidated assets of 5 %, and not be subject to any
written agreement, order or capital directive, or prompt corrective action directive issued by the OCC to meet or maintain a
specific capital level for any capital measure. At December 31, 2023-2024 , the Bank met or exceeded all applicable
requirements to be deemed well- capitalized for purposes of the FDIA. OCC regulations limit the ability of savings associations
to make distributions of capital, including payment of dividends, stock redemptions and repurchases, cash- out mergers and
other transactions charged to the capital account. The Bank must obtain the OCC’ s approval or give the OCC prior notice
before making a capital distribution in certain circumstances, including if the Bank proposes to make a capital distribution when
it does not meet certain capital requirements (or will not do so as a result of the proposed capital distribution) or certain net
income requirements. In addition, the Bank must file a prior written notice of a planned or declared dividend or other
distribution with the Federal Reserve Board. The OCC or the Federal Reserve Board may object to a capital distribution if:
among other things, (i) the Bank is, or as a result of such distribution would be, undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized
or critically undercapitalized, (ii) the regulators have safety and soundness concerns or (iii) the distribution violates a
prohibition in a statute, regulation, agreement between us and the OCC or the Federal Reserve Board, or a condition imposed on
us in an application or notice approved by the OCC or the Federal Reserve Board. Additional restrictions on dividends apply if
the Bank fails the QTL test (described below under “ — Activities ). The FDIA also prohibits any insured depository
institution from making any capital distributions (including payment of a dividend) or paying any management fee to its parent
holding company if the depository institution would thereafter be “ undercapitalized. ” If a depository institution is less than
adequately capitalized, it must prepare and submit a capital restoration plan to its primary federal regulator for approval. For a
capital restoration plan to be acceptable, among other things, the depository institution” s parent holding company must
guarantee that the institution will comply with the capital restoration plan. If a depository institution fails to submit an
acceptable capital restoration plan, it is treated as if it is “ significantly undercapitalized. ” A “ significantly undercapitalized ”
depository institution may be subject to a number of requirements and restrictions, including orders to sell sufficient voting stock
to become ““ adequately capitalized, ” elect a new Board of Directors, reduce total assets or cease taking deposits from
correspondent banks. A “ critically undercapitalized * institution may be subject to the appointment of a conservator or receiver
which could sell or liquidate the institution, be required to refrain from making payments on its subordinated debt, or be subject
to additional restrictions on its activities. The Bank is required to comply with prudential regulation in connection with liquidity.
In particular, under OCC guidelines establishing heightened standards for governance and risk management (the *“ Heightened
Standards ), the Bank is required to establish liquidity stress testing and planning processes, which the Bank has done. For a
discussion of the Heightened Standards, see “ — Heightened Standards for Risk Management Governance ” below. Under
HOLA, the OCC requires the Bank to comply with the qualified thrift lender, or “ QTL ” test. Under the QTL test, the Bank is
required to maintain at least 65 % of'its “ portfolio assets ” (total assets less (i) specified liquid assets up to 20 % of total assets,
(ii) intangibles, including goodwill and (iii) the value of property used to conduct business) in certain “ qualified thrift
investments ” (primarily residential mortgages and related investments, including certain mortgage- backed securities, credit
card loans, student loans and small business loans) in at least nine months of the most recent 12- month period. The Bank




currently meets that test. A savings association that fails to meet the QTL test is subject to certain operating restrictions and may
be required to convert to a national bank charter. Savings associations, including the Bank, are subject to limitations on their
lending and investments. These limitations include percentage of asset limitations on various types of loans the Bank may make.
In addition, there are similar limitations on the types and amounts of investments the Bank may make. Insured depository
institutions, including the Bank, are subject to restrictions under Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act (as
implemented by Federal Reserve Board Regulation W), which govern transactions between an insured depository institution and
an affiliate, including an entity that is the institution’ s direct or indirect holding company and a nonbank subsidiary of such a
holding company. Restrictions in Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act apply to ““ covered transactions ” such as
extensions of credit, issuances of guarantees or asset purchases. In general, these restrictions require that any extensions of credit
made by the insured depository institution to an affiliate must be fully secured with qualifying collateral and that the aggregate
amount of covered transactions is limited, as to any one affiliate of the Bank, to 10 % of the Bank” s capital stock and surplus,
and, as to all of the Bank” s affiliates in the aggregate, to 20 % of the Bank’ s capital stock and surplus. In addition, transactions
between the Bank and its affiliates must be on terms and conditions that are, or in good faith would be, offered by the Bank to
non- affiliated companies (i. e., at arm’ s length). The CRA is a federal law that generally requires an insured depository
institution to identify the communities it serves and to make loans and investments, offer products and provide services, in each
case designed to meet the credit needs of these communities. The CRA also requires an institution to maintain comprehensive
records of CRA activities to demonstrate how it is meeting the credit needs of communities. These records are subject to
periodic examination by the responsible federal banking agency of the institution. Based on these examinations, the agency rates
the institution’ s compliance with CRA as “ Outstanding, ” *“ Satisfactory, ” “ Needs to Improve ” or “ Substantial
Noncompliance. ” The CRA requires the agency to take into account the record of an institution in meeting the credit needs of
the entire communities served, including low- and moderate- income neighborhoods, in determining such rating. Failure of an
institution to receive at least a “ Satisfactory ” rating could inhibit the institution or its holding company from undertaking
certain activities, including acquisitions. The Bank is currently designated as a Limited Purpose bank under the CRA and
therefore is generally evaluated on the basis of its community development activity in the geographies in which its physical
facilities are located. The Bank received a CRA rating of “ Outstanding ” as of its most recent CRA examination. On October
24,2023, the federal banking agencies issued a final rule that revises how they evaluate an insured depository institution’ s
record of satisfying the credit needs of its entire communities, including low- and moderate- income individuals and
neighborhoods, under the CRA. The final rule provides that Limited Purpose banks, such as the Bank, will continue to be
evaluated primarily on the basis of their community development activities. Industry organizations have challenged
Comphanee-withrmoestprovistens-ofthe final rule in court will-berequired-beginningJanuary+, and on March 29, 2626-2024
, —The-Bankis-evaluating-the impaet-United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas granted an injunction
and stay of the final rule . The final outcome of such challenge is uncertain . The FDIA prohibits insured banks from
accepting brokered deposits or offering interest rates on any deposits significantly higher than the prevailing rate in the bank’ s
normal market area or nationally (depending upon where the deposits are solicited) unless it is ““ well- capitalized, ” or it is
adequately capitalized ” and receives a waiver from the FDIC. A bank that is “ adequately capitalized ” and that accepts
brokered deposits under a waiver from the FDIC may not pay an interest rate on any deposit in excess of 75 basis points over
certain prevailing market rates. There are no such restrictions under the FDIA on a bank that is “ well- capitalized. ” Further,
undercapitalized ” institutions are subject to growth limitations. At December 31, 2623-2024 , the Bank met or exceeded all
applicable requirements to be deemed well- capitalized for purposes of the FDIA. An inability to accept brokered deposits in the
future could materially adversely impact our funding costs and liquidity . On September 17, 2024, the OCC finalized a new
Policy Statement Regarding Statutory Factors Under the Bank Merger Act (the “ Policy Statement ), which outlines
factors that the OCC will consider when evaluating a proposed bank merger transaction. Also on September 17, 2024,
the United States Department of Justice (the “ DOJ ) withdrew its 1995 Bank Merger Guidelines and announced that it
will instead evaluate the competitive impact of bank mergers using its 2023 Merger Guidelines that the DOJ applies to
mergers in all industries. Compared to the 1995 Bank Merger Guidelines, the 2023 Merger Guidelines set forth more
stringent concentration limits and add several largely qualitative bases on which the DOJ may challenge a merger. While
the effect of these changes for particular transactions remains unclear, both the Policy Statement and the change in the
DOJ’ s bank merger antitrust policy may make it more difficult and / or costly for us to obtain regulatory approval for
an acquisition or may otherwise result in more onerous conditions to obtain approval for an acquisition . The FDIA
requires the Bank to pay deposit insurance assessments. Under the FDIC” s current deposit insurance assessment methodology,
the Bank is required to pay deposit insurance assessments based on its average consolidated total assets, less average tangible
equity, and various other regulatory factors included in an FDIC assessment scorecard. Deposit insurance assessments are also
affected by the minimum reserve ratio with respect to the federal Deposit Insurance Fund (the “ DIF ). The Dodd- Frank Act
increased the minimum reserve ratio with respect to the DIF to 1. 35 % and removed the statutory cap on the reserve ratio. The
FDIC subsequently adopted a designated ratio of 2 % and may increase that ratio in the future. Since the outbreak of the
COVID- 19 pandemic, the amount of total estimated insured deposits has grown very rapidly while the funds in the DIF have
grown at a normal rate, causing the DIF reserve ratio to fall below the statutory minimum of 1. 35 %. The FDIC adopted a
restoration plan in September 2020, which it amended in June 2022, to restore the DIF reserve ratio to at least 1. 35 % by
September 30, 2028. On October 18, 2022 the FDIC adopted a final rule to increase initial base deposit insurance assessment
rates for insured depository institutions by 2 basis points, beginning with the first quarterly assessment period of 2023. The
increased assessment rate schedules will remain in effect unless and until the reserve ratio of the DIF meets or exceeds 2 %. As a
result of the final rule, the FDIC insurance costs of insured depository institutions, including the Bank, have generally increased.
In addition, on November 16, 2023, the FDIC adopted a final rule to implement a special assessment to recover losses to the DIF



arising from the protection of uninsured depositors following the receiverships of failed institutions in the spring of 2023. The
assessment base for the special assessment s-was equal to an insured depository institution’ s estimated uninsured deposits
reported for the quarter ended December 31, 2022, minus the first $ 5 billion in estimated insured-uninsured deposits. The
FDIC will collect the special assessment over eight initial quarterly assessment periods starting with the first quarter of 2024, at
a quarterly rate of 3. 36 basis points. Synchrony recognized the entire initial special assessment expense of $ 9 million in the
fourth quarter of 2023. However, depending on future adjustments to the DIF’ s estimated loss, the FDIC has-retained the ability
to cease collection early, extend the special assessment collection period, or impose a one- time final shortfall assessment .
During 2024, the FDIC revised its loss estimate and projected that the special assessment would be collected for an
additional two quarters beyond its initial eight- quarter collection period. The additional special assessment expense
related to the revision of the loss estimate was not material to Synchrony . The FDIA creates a depositor preference regime
for the resolution of all insured depository institutions, including the Bank. If any such institution is placed into receivership, the
FDIC will pay (out of the remaining net assets of the failed institution and only to the extent of such assets) first secured
creditors (to the extent of their security), second the administrative expenses of the receivership, third all deposits liabilities
(both insured and uninsured), fourth any other general or senior liabilities, fifth any obligations subordinated to depositors or
general creditors, and finally any remaining net assets to shareholders in that capacity. Resolution and Recovery Planning
Under FDIC regulations, an insured depository institution with $ 58-100 billion or more in total assets is required anmually
periodically to submit to the FDIC a plan for the institution’ s resolution in the event of its failure. The plan is designed to
enable the FDIC, if appointed receiver for the institution, to resolve the institution under sections 11 and 13 of the FDIA in a
manner that ensures that 1ts deposltors receive tlmely access to their 1nsured deposlts withitrone-business-day-of the-institution's
; day ; 6 3 day)-, maximizes the net present value return from the sale
or dlsposltlon of the institution’ s assets, and-minimizes the amount of any loss realized by the creditors in the resolution , and
addresses risks of adverse effects on U. S. economic conditions or economic stability . The resolution plan requirement is
intended to ensure that a covered insured depository institution develops a credible strategy to facilitate the FDIC’ s
resolution of the institution across a range of possible scenarios and that the FDIC has access to all of the material
information it needs to resolve the institution efficiently in the event of its failure. If the FDIC deems a farge-resolution plan

filing not credible and the insured depository institution fails to resubmit effietently-in-the-event-ofits-fathure—bndera
credible plan moratoriumthathas-been-inplace-sinee-AprH2649-, the FBIC-hassuspendedrequiring-institution could become

subject to an enforcement action. The Bank' s first resolution plan is due on July 1 submisstons-for-insured-depository
mstrtuﬁeﬁs—wrth—less—ﬂ&&ﬁ%—}%—bﬁﬁerﬁn—teta{-asseﬁh Wﬂﬂeh—rne}uded-lt)ZS and gomg forward the Bank will be priorto
plc-are-required to
submlt resolutlon plans every three years and mterlm supplements annually In October 9ﬂ—A:uguSt—2—9—292—3—2024 the
FB}GOCC 1ssued ﬁnal rev1s1ons to its recovery planmng guldelmes. These rev1sed guidelines apply to a-propesed-rale-that
; d-by-insured depository institutions with
average total consohdated assets of $ 100 b11110n or more tn—teta-l—assets— -mel-udmg—such as the Bank. The guidelines require
the Bank to develop and maintain a recovery plan that identifies triggers and options for responding to a wide range of
severe internal and external stress scenarios and for restoring the Bank, to the extent it is experiencing or is likely to
experience considerable financial or non- financial stress, to financial strength and viability in a timely manner. Under
the propesal-guidelines , if-thc FBIC-deems-a-resotutiorr Bank must test its recovery plan filing-neteredible-and-at least
annually. The Bank is required to comply with all aspects of t-he—these guldelmes by J anuary 1 tnsured—éepesﬁeﬁ‘
institution-fatls-to-resubmit-a-eredibleplam, 2026, the-other than ins 0 ; G
are-evaluating-the impaet-ofthisproposal-testing requirement, with which the Bank must comply by January 1,2027 . The

OCC’ s Heightened Standards establish guidelines for the governance and risk management practices of large OCC- regulated
institutions, including the Bank. These Heightened Standards require covered banks to establish and adhere to a written
governance framework in order to manage and control their risk- taking activities, provide standards for covered banks’ boards
of directors to oversee the risk governance framework, and describe the appropriate risk management roles and responsibilities
of front line units, independent risk management, and internal audit functions. The Bank believes it complies with the
Heightened Standards. The relationship between us and our U. S. customers is regulated under federal and state consumer
protection laws. Federal laws include the Truth in Lending Act, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, HOLA, the Fair Credit
Reporting Act (the “ FCRA ”), the Gramm- Leach- Bliley Act (the “ GLBA ”), the CARD Act and the Dodd- Frank Act. These
and other federal laws, among other things, require disclosures of the cost of credit, provide substantive consumer rights,
prohibit discrimination in credit transactions, regulate the use of credit report information, provide financial privacy protections,
require safe and sound banking operations, prohibit unfair, deceptive and abusive practices, restrict our ability to raise interest
rates on certain credit card balances, and subject us to substantial regulatory oversight. State and, in some cases, local laws also
may regulate the relationship between us and our U. S. customers in these areas, as well as in the areas of collection practices,
and may provide additional consumer protections. Moreover, we are subject to the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, which
protects persons called to active military service and their dependents from undue hardship resulting from their military service,
and the Military Lending Act (the “ MLA ), which extends specific protections if an account holder, at the time of account
opening, is a covered active duty member of the military or certain family members thereof. The Servicemembers Civil Relief
Act applies to all debts incurred prior to the commencement of active duty (including credit card and other open- end debt) and
limits the amount of interest, including service and renewal charges and any other fees or charges (other than bona fide
insurance) that are related to the obligation or liability. The MLA applies to certain consumer loans, including credit extended
pursuant to a credit card account, and extends specific protections if an account holder, at the time of account opening, is a
covered active duty member of the military or certain family members thereof (collectively, the ““ covered borrowers ). These




protections include, but are not limited to: a limit on the military annual percentage rate that can be charged to 36 %, delivery of
certain required disclosures and a prohibition on mandatory arbitration agreements. If we were to extend credit to a covered
borrower without complying with certain MLA provisions, the credit card agreement could be void from its inception.
Violations of applicable consumer protection laws can result in significant potential liability from litigation brought by
customers, including actual damages, restitution and attorneys’ fees. Federal banking regulators, as well as state attorneys
general and other state and local consumer protection agencies, also may seek to enforce consumer protection requirements and
obtain these and other remedies, including civil money penalties and fines. The CARD Act, which was enacted in 2009,
amended the Truth in Lending Act and required us to make significant changes to many of our business practices, including
marketing, underwriting, pricing and billing. The CARD Act’ s restrictions on our ability to increase interest rates on existing
balances to respond to market conditions and credit risk ultimately limits our ability to extend credit to new customers and
provide additional credit to current customers. Other CARD Act restrictions, such as limitations on late fees, have resulted and
will continue to result in reduced interest income and loan fee i income. On Febfuafy—l—March 5, %92—3—2024 the C F PB 1§§ued a
final rule amending its regulations that implement the Truth ;
restt-in a-signifteantreduetion-of Lending Act to, among other thmgs, lower the safe harbor dollar amount for Cledlt card
late fees assessed-by-erediteard-issters-from $ 30 (adjusted to $ 41 for each subsequent late payment within the next six
billing cycles) to $ 8 and eliminate the automatic annual inflation adjustment to such safe harbor dollar amount. The
final rule had and-- an may-adversely-original effective date of May 14, 2024. Industry organizations have challenged the
final rule in court, and on May 10, 2024, the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas granted an
injunction and stay of the final rule, and the injunction granted remains in effect. The final outcome of such challenge,
including the impact eur-earnings-on the final rule, is uncertain . Sce " Business Trends and Conditions' above for the
anticipated financial impacts related to the final rule and see " — Risk Factors Relating to es-Our Business- The CEPB's
propesed-final rule on credit card late fees, if implemented adopted;eottd-would likely materially adversely affect our
business and results of operations." The FCRA regulates our use of credit reports and the reporting of information to credit
reporting agencies, and also provides a standard for lenders to share information with affiliates and certain third parties and to
provide firm offers of credit to consumers. The FCRA also places further restrictions on the use of information shared between
affiliates for marketing purposes, requires the provision of disclosures to consumers when risk- based pricing is used in a credit
decision, and requires safeguards to help protect consumers from identity theft. Under HOLA, the Bank is prohibited from
engaging in certain tying or reciprocity arrangements with its customers. In general, the Bank may not extend credit, lease or sell
property, or furnish any services or fix or vary the consideration for these on the condition that: (i) the customer obtain or
provide some additional credit, property, or services from or to the Bank or Synchrony or their subsidiaries or (ii) the customer
may not obtain some other credit, property, or services from a competitor, except in each case to the extent reasonable
conditions are imposed to assure the soundness of the credit extended. Certain arrangements are permissible. For example, the
Bank may offer more favorable terms if a customer obtains two or more traditional bank products. The Dodd- Frank Act
established the CFPB, which regulates consumer financial products and services and certain financial services providers. The
CFPB is authorized to prevent “ unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices ” and ensure consistent enforcement of laws so that
all consumers have access to markets for consumer financial products and services that are fair, transparent and competitive. The
CFPB has rulemaking and interpretive authority under the Dodd- Frank Act and other federal consumer financial services laws,
as well as broad supervisory, examination and enforcement authority over large providers of consumer financial products and
services, such as us. In addition, the CFPB has an online complaint system that allows consumers to log complaints with respect
to various consumer finance products, including the products we offer. The system could inform future agency decisions with
respect to regulatory, enforcement or examination focus. There continues to be uncertainty as to how the CFPB’ s strategies and
priorities will impact our business and our results of operations going forward. See “ Regulation — Risk Factors Relating to
Regulation — There is ongoing eentintes-to-be-uncertainty as to how the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau’ s actions will
impact our business; the agency’ s actions have had and may continue to have an adverse impact on our business. ” On October
22,2024, the CFPB issued a final rule to implement Section 1033 of the Dodd- Frank Act. Under the final rule, financial
institutions that offer credit cards or consumer deposit accounts like the Bank are required, upon request, to make
available to a consumer or third party authorized by the consumer certain information the Bank has concerning a
consumer financial product or service covered by the rule, such as a credit card or a deposit account. In issuing this rule,
the CFPB said that the rule will move the U. S. closer to an “ open banking ” system that will allow consumers to switch
banks or other providers more easily. The final rule also requires, among other things, covered data providers, such as
the Bank, to establish a developer interface that satisfies certain performance and data security specifications through
which the data provider can receive requests for, and provide, specific types of data covered by the rule in electronic,
usable form to authorized third parties directly or through data aggregators. Under the final rule, the Bank will be
prohibited from charging fees for maintaining the developer interface or providing access to such data. The Bank may
also act as an authorized third party to request and access covered data under the final rule from other financial
institutions that are covered data providers. The final rule places data security, authorization, and other obligations on
those authorized third parties, including limitations on secondary uses of the data received. Industry organizations have
challenged the final rule in court and the litigation is ongoing. If the challenge is not successful, as a data provider, the
Bank must comply with the rule beginning April 1, 2027. We are monitoring the status of the litigation and evaluating
the impact of this rule. Privacy, Information Security, and Data Protection We are subject to various privacy, information
security and data protection laws, including requirements concerning security breach notification. For example, in the United
States, certain of our businesses are subject to the GLBA and implementing regulations and guidance. Among other things, the
GLBA: (i) imposes certain limitations on the ability of financial institutions to share consumers’ nonpublic personal information




with nonaffiliated third parties, (ii) requires that financial institutions provide certain disclosures to consumers about their
information collection, sharing and security practices and affords customers the right to ““ opt out ” of the institution’ s disclosure
of their personal financial information to nonaffiliated third parties (with certain exceptions) and (iii) requires financial
institutions to develop, implement and maintain a written comprehensive information security program containing safeguards
that are appropriate to the financial institution’ s size and complexity, the nature and scope of the financial institution’ s
activities, the sensitivity of customer information processed by the financial institution as well as plans for responding to data
security breaches. Federal and state laws also require us to respond appropriately to data security breaches. A final rule that the
federal banking agencies issued in November 2021 requires banking organizations to notify their primary federal regulator of
significant computer security incidents within 36 hours of determining that such an incident has occurred. In 2018, the State of
California enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act (“ CCPA ). The CCPA requires covered businesses to comply with
requirements that give consumers residing in California the right to know what information is being collected from them and
whether such information is sold or disclosed to third parties. The statute also allows consumers to access, delete, and prevent
the sale of personal information that has been collected by covered businesses in certain circumstances. The CCPA does not
apply to personal information collected, processed, sold, or disclosed pursuant to the GLBA or the California Financial
Information Privacy Act. In 2020, the State of California enacted the California Privacy Rights Act (“ CPRA ”). The
CPRA essentially serves to supplement the CCPA by, amongst other changes, bringing the personal information of
employees residing in California into the scope of the law. We believe we are a covered business under the CCPA and
CPRA . We have a program to comply with applicable privacy, information security, and data protection requirements imposed
by federal, state, and foreign laws. However, if we experience a significant cybersecurity incident or our regulators deemed our
information security controls to be inadequate, we could be subject to supervisory criticism or penalties, and / or suffer
reputational harm. See also “ Regulation — Risk Factors Relating to Regulation — Regulations relating to privacy, information
security and data protection could increase our costs, affect or limit how we collect and use personal information and adversely
affect our business opportunities. ” Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing Prevention Program We maintain an enterprise-
wide program designed to enable us to comply with all applicable anti- money laundering and anti- terrorism financing laws and
regulations, including, but not limited to, the Bank Secrecy Act and the Patriot Act. This program includes policies, procedures,
processes and other internal controls designed to identify, monitor, manage and mitigate the risk of money laundering or
terrorist financing posed by our products, services, customers and geographic locale. These controls include procedures and
processes to detect and report suspicious transactions, perform customer due diligence, respond to requests from law
enforcement, identify and verify a legal entity customer’ s beneficial owner (s) at the time a new account is opened and to
understand the nature and purpose of the customer relationship, and meet all recordkeeping and reporting requirements related to
particular transactions involving currency or monetary instruments. The program is coordinated by a compliance officer,
undergoes an annual independent audit to assess its effectiveness, and requires training of employees. See “ Regulation — Risk
Factors Relating to Regulation — Failure to comply with anti- money laundering and anti- terrorism financing laws could have
significant adverse consequences for us. ” Sanctions Programs We have a program designed to comply with applicable
economic and trade sanctions programs, including those administered and enforced by OFAC. These sanctions are usually
targeted against foreign countries, terrorists, international narcotics traffickers and those believed to be involved in the
proliferation of weapons of mass destruction. These regulations generally require either the blocking of accounts or other
property of specified entities or individuals, but they may also require the rejection of certain transactions involving specified
entities or individuals. We maintain policies, procedures and other internal controls designed to comply with these sanctions
programs. Risk Factors Relating to Regulation The following discussion of risk factors contains *“ forward- looking statements, ”
as discussed in “ Cautionary Note Regarding Forward- Looking Statements. ” These risk factors may be important to
understanding any statement in this Annual Report on Form 10- K or elsewhere. The following information should be read in
conjunction with “ Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ” (MD & A), the
consolidated financial statements and related notes in “ Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ” and *“ Risk
Factors Relating to Our Business ” of this Form 10- K Report. Our business, including our relationships with our customers, is
subject to regulation, supervision and examination under U. S. federal, state and foreign laws and regulations. These laws and
regulations cover all aspects of our business, including lending and collection practices, treatment of our customers,
safeguarding deposits, customer privacy and information security, capital structure, liquidity, dividends and other capital
distributions, transactions with affiliates and conduct and qualifications of personnel. As a savings and loan holding company
and financial holding company, Synchrony is subject to regulation, supervision and examination by the Federal Reserve Board.
As a large provider of consumer financial services, we are also subject to regulation, supervision and examination by the CFPB.
The Bank is a federally chartered savings association. As such, the Bank is subject to regulation, supervision and examination
by the OCC, which is its primary regulator, and by the CFPB. In addition, the Bank, as an insured depository institution, is
supervised by the FDIC. We, including the Bank, are regularly reviewed and examined by our respective regulators, which
results in supervisory comments and directions relating to many aspects of our business that require response and attention. See
“ Regulation ” for more information about the regulations applicable to us. Banking laws and regulations are primarily intended
to protect consumers, federally insured deposits, the DIF and the banking system as a whole, and are not intended to protect our
stockholders, noteholders or creditors. If we (or our service providers, including our partners) fail to satisfy applicable laws and
regulations, our respective regulators have broad discretion to enforce those laws and regulations, including with respect to the
operation of our business, required capital levels, payment of dividends and other capital distributions, engaging in certain
activities and making acquisitions and investments. Our regulators also have broad discretion with respect to the manner in
which they enforce applicable laws and regulations, including through enforcement actions that could subject us to civil money
penalties, customer remediation programs, increased compliance costs, and limits or prohibitions on our ability to offer certain



products and services or to engage in certain activities. In addition, to the extent we undertake actions requiring regulatory
approval or non- objection, our regulators may make their approval or non- objection subject to conditions or restrictions that
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Any other actions taken by
our regulators could have a material adverse impact on our business, reputation and brand, results of operations and financial
condition. Moreover, some of our competitors are subject to different, and in some cases less restrictive, statutory and / or
regulatory regimes, which may have the effect of providing them with a competitive advantage over us. New laws, regulations,
policies, or practical changes in enforcement of existing laws, regulations or policies applicable to our business, including as a
result of changes to the U. S. presidential administration and Congress, or our own reexamination of our current practices,
could adversely impact our profitability, limit our ability to continue existing or pursue new business activities or acquisitions,
require us to change certain of our business practices or alter our relationships with customers, affect retention of our key
personnel, affect how we interact with our partners and / or service providers, or expose us to additional costs (including
increased compliance costs and / or customer remediation). These changes may also require us to invest significant management
attention and resources to make any necessary changes and could adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition. For example, the CFPB has broad authority over our business and there continues to be uncertainty as to
how the CFPB's actions will impact our business. See “ — There is ongoing eentinties-to-be-uncertainty as to how the
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau’ s actions will impact our business; the agency’ s actions have had and may continue to
have an adverse impact on our business. ” We are also subject to potential enforcement and other actions that may be brought by
state attorneys general or other state enforcement authorities and other governmental agencies. Any such actions could subject
us to civil money penalties and fines, customer remediation programs and increased compliance costs, as well as damage our
reputation and brand and limit or prohibit our ability to offer certain products and services or engage in certain business
practices. For a discussion of risks related to actions or proceedings brought by regulatory agencies, see “ — Risk Factors
Relating to Our Business — Litigation, regulatory actions and compliance issues could subject us to significant fines, penalties,
judgments, remediation costs and / or requirements resulting in increased expenses. ~” Ongoing changes to the regulatory
framework applicable to us have had, and may continue to have, a significant adverse impact on our business, results of
operations and financial condition. For example, the Dodd- Frank Act and related regulations restrict certain business practices,
and impose stringent capital, liquidity and leverage ratio requirements, as well as additional costs (including increased
compliance costs and increased costs of funding raised through the issuance of asset- backed securities) s-on us, and impact the
value of our assets. In addition, the Dodd- Frank Act requires us to serve as a source of financial strength for any insured
depository institution we control, such as the Bank. Such support may be required by the Federal Reserve Board at times when
we might otherwise determine not to provide it or when doing so is not otherwise in the interest of Synchrony or its
stockholders, noteholders or creditors. We describe certain provisions of the Dodd- Frank Act and other legislative and
regulatory developments in *“ Regulation — Regulation Relating to Our Business. ” The EGRRCPA and related regulatory
reform initiatives modified many of the Dodd- Frank Act’ s requirements, including provisions in the Tailoring Rules that apply
certain enhanced prudential standards to covered savings and loan holdmg companres As aresult, because we had-now have
average total consolidated assets of over $ 100 billion e d verage-a ; , following
applicable transition periods we have become or will become subject to biennial superv1sory stress tests, formal caprtal plan
submission requirements, and the stress capital buffer, which will impose additional requirements and constraints on us.
Additional rulemaking may impose new capital requirements and limitations on our ability to pay dividends or redeem or
repurchase our stock, increase liquidity requirements, require changes to our funding strategy and / or increase our funding and
operating costs. Such additional rulemaking includes an existing rule proposal to change the regulatory capital requirements for
U. S. banking organizations with at least $ 100 billion in total assets, and an existing proposal to require depository institution
holding companies with $ 100 billion or more in assets to issue minimum amounts of long- term debt and maintain “ clean ”
holding companies. See *“ Regulation — Regulation Relating to Our Business — Savings and Loan Holding Company
Regulation — Capital ” and *“ Regulation — Regulation Relating to Our Business — Savings and Loan Holding Company
Regulation — Resolution. Further, the recent and possible future changes to the regulatory framework applicable to Synchrony
and the Bank, and any potential additional rulemaking make it difficult to assess the overall ﬁnanmal impact of the Dodd- Frank
Act and related regulatory developments on us and across the 1ndustry —Fh SOHE : ; ;

advefse—trﬂpaet—eﬁ-eu%bustﬁess— The CF PB has broad authorlty over our bus1ness This 1ncludes auth0r1ty to Wr1te regulatlons
under federal consumer financial protection laws and to enforce those laws against and examine large financial institutions, such
as us, for compliance. The CFPB is authorized to prevent ““ unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices ” through its regulatory,
supervisory and enforcement authority. The Federal Reserve Board and the OCC and state government agencies may also
invoke their supervisory and enforcement authorities to prevent unfair and deceptive acts or practices. These federal and state
agencies are authorized to remediate violations of consumer protection laws in a number of ways, including collecting civil
money penalties and fines and providing for customer restitution. The CFPB also engages in consumer financial education,
requests data and promotes the availability of financial services to underserved consumers and communities. In addition, the
CFPB maintains an online complaint system that allows consumers to log complaints with respect to various consumer finance
products, including the products we offer. This system could inform future CFPB decisions with respect to its regulatory,
enforcement or examination focus. There is ongoing uncertainty as to how the CFPB’ s strategies and priorities, including in
both its examination and enforcement processes, will impact our business and our results of operations going forward ,
including as a result of changes to the U. S. presidential administration and Congress . Actions by the CFPB could result in
requirements to alter or cease offering affected products and services, including deferred interest products, making them less
attractive to consumers and less profitable to us and also restricting our ability to offer them. In addition, since 2013, the Bank



has entered into two consent orders with the CFPB —— one in 2013, which has since been terminated; and another in 2014 with
respect to a debt cancellation product and sales practices and an unrelated issue that arose from the Bank’ s self- identified
omission of certain Spanish- speaking customers and customers residing in Puerto Rico from two offers that were made to
certain delinquent customers. The Bank” s resolutions with the CFPB do not preclude it or other regulators or state attorneys
general from seeking additional monetary or injunctive relief with respect to these or other issues, and any such relief could have
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition. Although we have committed significant
resources to enhancing our compliance programs, changes by the CFPB in regulatory expectations, interpretations or practices
or interpretations that are different or stricter than ours or those adopted in the past by the CFPB or other regulators could
increase the risk of additional enforcement actions, fines and penalties. Most recently, the CFPB has identified certain areas of
concern for consumers, including, for example, the increasing sophistication of underwriting, fair lending concerns (including in
marketing), debt collection, excessive and / or unexpected fees and medical debt. Actions by the CFPB with respect to these or
other areas could result in requirements to alter our products and services that may make them less attractive to consumers or
less profitable to us. For example, on Februwary+March S , 2623-2024 , the CFPB issued a final rule that nettee-ofpropesed
ralemaking-whieh;ifadepted,tkely-would result in a significant reduction of credit card late fees assessed by credit card issuers
if and when it is implemented . For a discussion of risks related to the CFPB' s prepesed-final late fee rule, please see"” — Risk
Factors Relating to eur-Our Business — The CFPB' s propesed-final rule on credit card late fees, if adopted-implemented ,
eould-would likely materially adversely affect our business and results of operations." Additionally, on July 7, 2023, the CFPB,
together with the U. S. Department of Health and Human Services and the U. S. Department of the Treasury, issued a request
for information soliciting public comment on medical credit cards, loans, and other financial products used to pay for health
care, which may lead to additional regulatory, supervisory, or enforcement activity regarding these products. Future actions by
the CFPB (or other regulators) against us or our competitors that discourage the use of products we offer or suggest to
consumers the desirability of other products or services could result in reputational harm and a loss of customers. If the CFPB
changes regulations which it adopted in the past or which were adopted in the past by other regulators and transferred to the
CFPB by the Dodd- Frank Act, or modifies, through supervision or enforcement, past related regulatory guidance or interprets
existing regulations in a different or stricter manner than they have been interpreted in the past by us, the industry or other
regulators, our compliance costs and litigation exposure could increase materially. If future regulatory or legislative restrictions
or prohibitions are imposed that affect our ability to offer promotional financing, including deferred interest, for certain of our
products or require us to make significant changes to our business practices, and we are unable to develop compliant alternatives
with acceptable returns, these restrictions or prohibitions could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of
operations and financial condition. The Dodd- Frank Act authorizes state officials to enforce regulations issued by the CFPB and
to enforce the Act’ s general prohibition against unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices. This could make it more difficult
than in the past for federal financial regulators to declare state laws that differ from federal standards to be preempted. To the
extent that states enact requirements that differ from federal standards or state officials and courts adopt interpretations of federal
consumer laws that differ from those adopted by the CFPB, we may be required to alter or cease offering products or services in
some jurisdictions, which would increase compliance costs and reduce our ability to offer the same products and services to
consumers nationwide, and we may be subject to a higher risk of state enforcement actions. Synchrony and the Bank must meet
rules for capital adequacy as discussed in “ Regulation — Regulation Relating to Our Business. ”” As a stand- alone savings and
loan holding company, Synchrony is subject to capital requirements similar to those that apply to the Bank. Synchrony and the
Bank may be subject to increasingly stringent capital adequacy standards in the future. For instance, because Synchrony now
had;-as-has over ef Mareh-34;2623;-5 100 billion ermere-in average total consolidated assets following applicable transition
periods based-enafourquarter-average-, Synchrony has or will become subject to biennial supervisory stress tests, a formal

capital plan submission requirement, and the stress capital buffer foHewing-apphieable-transittonperiods-which could impose
additional requirements and constraints on us, including additional restrictions on our ability to return capital to our

shareholders . See “ Regulation — Regulation Relating to Our Business — Savings and Loan Holding Company Regulation —
Capital ” and “ Regulation — Regulation Relating to Our Busmess — Savmgs and Loan Holdlng Company Regulatlon —
D1V1dends and Stock Repurchases ” Onee-Synehron beeo : y Ot

fefu:m—eapﬁa-l—te-sl-lafehe-}defs—ln addition, in July 2023 the federal banklng agencies proposed changes to the capltal

requirements of banking organizations that have $ 100 billion or more in total assets. See “ Regulation — Regulation Relating to
Our Business — Savings and Loan Holding Company Regulation — Capital. " To the extent the proposed changes are finalized
and adepted-apply to us , they would likely increase our regulatory capital requirements, which may decrease our return on
equity and could result in limitations on our ability to pay dividends or repurchase our stock. If Synchrony or the Bank fails to
meet current or future minimum capital, leverage or other financial requirements, its operations, results of operations and
financial condition could be materially adversely affected. Among other things, failure by Synchrony or the Bank to maintain its
status as ““ well capitalized ” (or otherwise meet current or future minimum capital, leverage or other financial requirements)
could compromise our competitive position and result in restrictions imposed by the Federal Reserve Board or the OCC,
including, potentially, on the Bank”’ s ability to engage in certain activities. These could include restrictions on the Bank’ s
ability to enter into transactions with affiliates, accept brokered deposits, grow its assets, engage in material transactions, extend
credit in certain highly leveraged transactions, amend or change its charter, bylaws or accounting methods, pay interest on its
liabilities without regard to regulatory caps on the rates that may be paid on deposits, and pay dividends or repurchase stock. In
addition, failure to maintain the well capitalized status of the Bank could result in our having to invest additional capital in the
Bank, which could in turn require us to raise additional capital. The market and demand for, and cost of, our asset- backed
securities also could be adversely affected by failure to meet current or future capital requirements. Synchrony must also




continue to comply with regulatory requirements related to the maintenance, management, monitoring and reporting of liquidity
as discussed in “ Regulation — Regulation Relating to Our Business. ” Under the Tailoring Rules, enhanced prudential
standards with respect to liquidity management apply to covered savings and loan holding companies with $ 100 billion or more
in average total consolidated assets ;-based-omra-fourquarteraverage-. Sce ~ Regulation — Regulation Relating to Our Business
—TLegislative-and RegulatoryDevelopments- ~” Because Synchrony now has met this the-four—euarter-average-total
eonsehdated-assets-threshold as-efMareh3+2623-, such requirements have begun to apply or will apply to us in the future
after a-applicable transition perted-periods , which could cause our results of operations and financial condition to be materially
adversely affected. We are limited in our ability to pay dividends and repurchase our common stock by the Federal Reserve
Board, which has broad authority to review our capital planning and risk management processes, and our current, projected and
stressed capital levels, and to object to any capital action that the Federal Reserve Board considers to be unsafe or unsound. In
addition, the declaration and amount of any future dividends to holders of our common stock or stock repurchases will be at the
discretion of the Board of Directors and will depend on many factors, including our financial condition, earnings, capital and
liquidity position, including the Bank, applicable regulatory requirements, corporate law and contractual restrictions and other
factors that the Board of Directors deems relevant. Any inability to pay dividends or repurchase our common stock could
adversely affect the market price of our common stock and market perceptions of Synchrony Financial. See *“ Regulation —
Regulation Relating to Our Business — Savings and Loan Holding Company Regulation- Dividends and Stock Repurchases. ”
We rely significantly on dividends and other distributions and payments from the Bank for liquidity, including to pay our
obligations under our indebtedness and other indebtedness as they become due, and federal law limits the amount of dividends
and other distributions and payments that the Bank may pay to us. For example, OCC regulations limit the ability of savings
associations to make distributions of capital, including payment of dividends, stock redemptions and repurchases, cash- out
mergers and other transactions charged to the capital account. The Bank must obtain the OCC’ s approval prior to making a
capital distribution in certain circumstances, including if the Bank proposes to make a capital distribution when it does not meet
certain capital requirements (or will not do so as a result of the proposed capital distribution) or certain net income requirements.
In addition, the Bank must file a prior written notice of a planned or declared dividend or other distribution with the Federal
Reserve Board. The Federal Reserve Board or the OCC may object to a capital distribution if, among other things, the Bank is,
or as a result of such dividend or distribution would be, undercapitalized or the Federal Reserve Board or OCC has safety and
soundness concerns. Additional restrictions on bank dividends may apply if the Bank fails the QTL test. The application of
these restrictions on the Bank’ s ability to pay dividends involves broad discretion on the part of our regulators. Limitations on
the Bank’ s payments of dividends and other distributions and payments that we receive from the Bank could reduce our
liquidity and limit our ability to pay dividends or our obligations under our indebtedness. See “ Regulation — Regulation
Relating to Our Business — Savings Association Regulation — Dividends and Stock Repurchases ”” and “ — Activities. ” We
are subject to various privacy, information security and data protection laws, including requirements concerning security breach
notification, and we could be negatively impacted by them. For example, in the United States, certain of our businesses are
subject to the GLBA and implementing regulations and guidance. Among other things, the GLBA: (i) imposes certain
limitations on the ability of financial institutions to share consumers’ nonpublic personal information with nonaffiliated third
parties, (ii) requires that financial institutions provide certain disclosures to consumers about their information collection,
sharing and security practices and affords customers the right to “ opt out ” of the institution’ s disclosure of their personal
financial information to nonaffiliated third parties (with certain exceptions) and (iii) requires financial institutions to develop,
implement and maintain a written comprehensive information security program containing safeguards that are appropriate to the
financial institution’ s size and complexity, the nature and scope of the financial institution’ s activities, and the sensitivity of
customer information processed by the financial institution as well as plans for responding to data security breaches. Moreover,
various United States federal banking regulatory agencies, states and foreign jurisdictions have enacted data security breach
notification requirements with varying levels of individual, consumer, regulatory and / or law enforcement notification in certain
circumstances in the event of a security breach. Many of these requirements also apply broadly to our partners that accept our
cards. In many countries that have yet to impose data security breach notification requirements, regulators have increasingly
used the threat of significant sanctions and penalties by data protection authorities to encourage voluntary notification and
discourage data security breaches. Furthermore, legislators and / or regulators in the United States and other countries in which
we operate are increasingly adopting or revising privacy, information security and data protection laws that potentially could
have a significant impact on our current and planned privacy, data protection and information security- related practices; our
collection, use, sharing, retention and safeguarding of consumer and / or employee information; and some of our current or
planned business activities. This could also increase our costs of compliance and business operations and could reduce income
from certain business initiatives. In the United States, this includes increased privacy- related enforcement activity at the federal
level, by the Federal Trade Commission, as well as at the state level, such as with regard to mobile applications, and state
legislation such as the CCPA, which could increase our costs. In the European Union, this includes the General Data Protection
Regulation. See “ Regulation — Regulation Relating to Our Business — Privacy. ” Compliance with current or future privacy,
data protection and information security laws (including those regarding security breach notification and consumer privacy)
affecting customer and / or employee data to which we are subject could result in higher compliance and technology costs and
could restrict our ability to provide certain products and services (such as products or services that involve us sharing
information with third parties or storing sensitive credit card information), which could materially and adversely affect our
profitability. Our failure to comply with privacy, data protection and information security laws could result in potentially
significant regulatory investigations and government actions, litigation, fines or sanctions, consumer or partner actions and
damage to our reputation and our brand, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of
operations. Our use of third- party vendors and our other ongoing third- party business relationships are subject to increasing



regulatory requirements and attention. We regularly use third- party vendors and subcontractors as part of our business. We also
have substantial ongoing business relationships with our partners and other third parties. These types of third- party relationships
are subject to increasingly demanding regulatory requirements and attention by our federal bank regulators (the Federal Reserve
Board, the OCC and the FDIC) and our consumer financial services regulator (the CFPB). Regulatory guidance requires us to
enhance our due diligence, ongoing monitoring and control over our third- party vendors and subcontractors and other ongoing
third- party business relationships, including with our partners. In certain cases, we may be required to renegotiate our
agreements with these vendors and / or their subcontractors to meet these enhanced requirements, which could increase our
costs. These regulatory expectations may change, and may potentially become more rigorous in certain ways ;-due-to-an
Hteraseney—e eplace-existite—ot S 5 anag d—partyrelationships-withnew g . We
expect that our regulators will hold us responsible for deficiencies in our oversight and control of our third- party relationships
and in the performance of the parties with which we have these relationships. As a result, if our regulators conclude that we
have not exercised adequate oversight and control over our third- party vendors and subcontractors or other ongoing third- party
business relationships, or that such third parties have not performed appropriately, we could be subject to enforcement actions,
including the imposition of civil money penalties or other administrative or judicial penalties or fines as well as requirements for
customer remediation. We maintain an enterprise- wide program designed to enable us to comply with all applicable anti-
money laundering and anti- terrorism financing laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, the Bank Secrecy Act and the
Patriot Act. This program includes policies, procedures, processes and other internal controls designed to identify, monitor,
manage and mitigate the risk of money laundering or terrorist financing posed by our products, services, customers and
geographic locale. These controls include procedures and processes to detect and report suspicious transactions, perform
customer due diligence, respond to requests from law enforcement, identify and verify a legal entity customer’ s beneficial
owner (s) at the time a new account is opened and to understand the nature and purpose of the customer relationship, and meet
all recordkeeping and reporting requirements related to particular transactions involving currency or monetary instruments. Qur
We-eantot-be-sure-otr-programs and controls sw-may not be effective to ensure our compliance with all applicable anti-
money laundering and anti- terrorism financing laws and regulations, and our failure to comply could subject us to significant
sanctions, fines, penalties and reputational harm, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA Report
of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm To the Stockholders and Board of Directors Synchrony Financial: Opinion
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting We have audited Synchrony Financial and subsidiaries' (the Company) internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024 , based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024 ,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position of the Company as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, the related Consolidated Statements of Earnings, Comprehensive Income, Changes in
Equity, and Cash Flows for each of the years in the three- year period ended December 31, 2623-2024 , and the related notes
(collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated February 8-7 , 2624-2025 expressed an unqualified
opinion on those consolidated financial statements. Basis for Opinion The Company’ s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Report on Management’ s Assessment of Internal Control over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion. Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting A company’ s
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’ s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’ s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. / s/ KPMG LLP New York, New York Opinion on the
Consolidated Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Financial Position of




Synchrony Financial and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-20622-, the related Consolidated
Statements of Earnings, Comprehensive Income, Changes in Equity, and Cash Flows for each of the years in the three- year
period ended December 31, 2623-2024 , and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2623-2024 , in conformity with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles. We also have
audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
Company’ s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024 , based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission,
and our report dated February 8-7 , 2624-2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal
control over financial reporting. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’ s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to
those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. Critical Audit Matter The critical audit matter communicated below is a
matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a
critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are
not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the
accounts or disclosures to which it relates. Allowance for Credit Losses on Loan Receivables As discussed in Notes 2 and 5 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Company’ s allowance for credit losses (ACL) as of December 31, 2023-2024 was $
10, 5H-929 million. The Company estimated and recognized losses on loan receivables upon origination of the loan, based on
expected credit losses for the life of the loan balance as of the period end date. Expected credit loss estimates for the December
31, 26232024 ACL involved modeling of loss projections attributable to existing loan balances, considering historical
experience, current conditions, and future expectations for pools of loans with similar risk characteristics over the reasonable
and supportable forecast period. The model considers a macroeconomic forecast, with unemployment as the primary
macroeconomic variable. The Company used an enhanced migration analysis to estimate the likelihood that a loan will progress
through the various stages of delinquency. After the reasonable and supportable forecast period, the Company reverted to
historical loss information at the loan receivables segment level. The historical loss information was derived from a combination
of recessionary and non- recessionary performance periods. In determining expected credit losses over the life of the loan
balance, the Company utilized an approach which implicitly considered total expected future payments and applied appropriate
allocations to reduce those payments in order to estimate losses pertaining to measurement date loan receivables. The Company
also performed a qualitative assessment in addition to model estimates and applied qualitative adjustments as necessary. We
identified the assessment of the December 31, 2623-2024 ACL as a critical audit matter. A high degree of auditor effort,
including specialized skills and knowledge, and subjective and complex auditor judgment was involved in the assessment of the
December 31, 2623-2024 ACL due to significant measurement uncertainty. Specifically, the assessment encompassed the
evaluation of the December 31, 2823-2024 ACL methodologies, including the methods and models used to estimate expected
credit losses. The assessment also included an evaluation of the significant assumptions to the December 31, 2623-2024 ACL,
which included: (1) the segmentation of the loan receivables population with similar risk characteristics, (2) the length of the
historical experience, (3) the length of the reasonable and supportable forecast period, (4) the estimated life of the loan, (5) the
reversion to historical loss information, and (6) the macroeconomic forecast. The assessment also included an evaluation of the
conceptual soundness of the models. In addition, auditor judgment was required to evaluate the sufficiency of the audit evidence
obtained. The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design
and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the Company’ s measurement of the December 31,
2623-2024 ACL, including controls over the: * development and approval of the December 31, 2623-2024 ACL methodologies *
development-and-performance monitoring of the models ¢ identification and determination of the significant assumptions used to
estimate the ACL ¢ monitoring of the December 31, 2823-2024 ACL results, trends, and ratios. We evaluated the Company’ s
process to develop the December 31, 2623-2024 ACL by testing certain sources of data, factors, and assumptions that the
Company used, and considered the relevance and reliability of such data, factors, and assumptions. In addition, we involved
credit risk professionals with specialized industry knowledge and experience, who assisted in: * evaluating the Company’ s
December 31, 2623-2024 ACL methodologies for compliance with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles ¢ assessing
the conceptual soundness of the models used by inspecting model documentation to determine whether the models are suitable
for intended use ¢ determining whether the loan portfolio is segmented by similar risk characteristics by comparing to the
Company’ s business environment and evaluating statistical testing performed ¢ evaluating the length of the historical
experience period by comparing to portfolio performance and evaluating the back- testing and sensitivity testing performed *



evaluating the length of the reasonable and supportable period by comparing to model performance, including back testing
results, the quantitative methodology, and industry practice ¢ determining whether the estimated life of the loan is appropriate
based on empirical analysis performed and industry practice ¢ evaluating whether the length of the reversion period is
appropriate based on empirical analysis ¢ evaluating whether the reversion method uses a systematic and rational approach ¢
assessing the historical loss information that is being reverted to by verifying whether the historical loss information captures a
through the cycle estimate and evaluating the consistency of the empirical analysis performed based on industry data and
established methodology ¢ assessing the macroeconomic forecast by evaluating the Company’ s process for evaluating future
expectations of macroeconomic conditions, comparing to portfolio performance, and comparing to publicly available forecasts ¢
evaluating the methods and assumptions used to develop certain qualitative adjustments compared with relevant credit risk
factors and consistency with credit trends. We also assessed the sufficiency of the audit evidence obtained related to the
December 31, 2823-2024 ACL by evaluating the cumulative results of the audit procedures and potential bias in the accounting
estimates. We have served as the Company’ s auditor since 2013. New York, New York INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED
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Statements of Earnings
For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions, except per share data) 20232022202 Hnterest—-- 202420232022Interest
income: Interest and fees on loans (Note 5) $ 21,596 $ 19, 902 $ 16, 881 $15;228Interest on cash and debt seeuritiesS68
securities1 , 049 808 265 43-Total interest ineeme20-income22 , 645 20 , 710 17, 146 452 -Interest expense: Interest on
deposits2-deposits3 , 806 2 , 952 1, 008 566-Interest on borrowings of consolidated securitization entittes346-- entities427 340
196 +69-Interest on senior and subordinated unsecured netes4+9- notes401 419 317 297-Total interest expense3-expense4 , 634
3,711 1,521 45832 Net interest ineemet6-incomel8 , 011 16 , 999 15, 625 H45:239-Retailer share arrangements (3, 407) (3,
661) (4, 331 H4;-528-) Provision for credit losses (Note 5) 6, 733 5, 965 3, 375 #26-Net interest income, after retailer share
arrangements and provision for credit losses7, 871 7, 373 7, 919 8;985-Other income: Interchange revenuel, 026 1, 031 982 886
Protection product revente5+0-revenue562 510 387 284-Loyalty programs (1, 382) (1, 370) (1, 257) £992)-OtherH8—-- Other
(Note 3) 1, 315 118 268 369-Total other ineeme289-incomel , 521 289 380 48+-Other expense: Employee costs1, 872 1, 884 1,
681 H5-56+Professional fees842-fees936 842 832 #82-Marketing and business development 524 527 487 486-Information
processing 803 712 623 550-Other 704 793 714 644-Total other expense 4, 839 4, 758 4, 337 3;963-Earnings before provision
for income taxes2-taxes4 , 553 2 , 904 3, 962 5:-563-Provision for income taxes (Note 15) 1, 054 666 946 1;282-Net earnings $
3,499 $ 2, 238 $ 3, 016 $4;224Net earnings available to common stockholders $ 3,427 $ 2, 196 $ 2, 974 $4:379-Earnings
per shareBaste-share (Note 13) Basic $8.64 $ 5. 21 $ 6. 19 $F40-Diluted $ 8.55$ 5. 19 § 6. 15 $F34-See accompanying
notes to consolidated financial statements. Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income For the years ended December
31 ($ in millions) 262320222021 Net-202420232022Net carnings $ 3,499 $ 2, 238 § 3, 016 $4:22+-Other comprehensive
income (loss) Debt seenrities60-securities10 60 (97 324-) Currency translation adjustments (6) — (12 34-) Employee benefit
plans-plans5 (3) 53 FOther comprehensive income (loss) 9 57 (56 H48-) Comprehensive income $ 3,508 $ 2, 295 $ 2, 960 $45
203-Amounts presented net of taxes. At December 31 ($ in millions) 20232622Assets-20242023Assets Cash and equivalents $
14, 711 $ 14, 259 $108;294-Debt securities (Note 4) 3, 079 3, 799 4-879-Loan receivables: (Notes 5 and 6) Unsecuritized loans
held for investment&t-investment83 , 382 81 , 554 F2,-638Restricted loans of consolidated securitization entities2 1, 339 21,
434 49;-832-Total loan reeetvablestO2-receivables104 , 721 102 , 988 92;476-Less: Allowance for credit losses (10, 929) (10,
571 H9:529F) Loan receivables, ret92-net93 , 792 92 , 417 82,-943-Goodwill (Note 7) 1, 274 1, 018 53485-Intangible assets, net
(Note 7) 854 815 #42-Other assets4-assetsS , 753 4 , 915 4.-660+-Assets held for sale (Note 3) — 256 —Total assets $ 119, 463 $
117, 479 $3+84;-564-Liabilities and EquityDeposits: (Note 8) Interest- bearing deposit accounts $ 81, 664 $ 80, 789 $H,336
Non- interest- bearing deposit aeeeunts364-accounts398 399-364 Total deposits8t-deposits82 , 062 81 , 153 H;735
Borrowings: (Notes 6 and 9) Borrowings of consolidated securitization entities7, 842 7, 267 6;229-Senior and subordinated
unsecured netes§-notes7 , 620 8 . 715 F964-Total borrowings15, 462 15, 982 H449+-Accrued expenses and other habilitiesé
liabilities5 , 359 6 , 334 5,765 Liabilities held for sale (Note 3) — 107 —Total liabilities $ 102, 883 $ 103, 576 $9H;-69+
Equity: Preferred stock, par share value $ 0. 001 per share; 1, 250, 000 and 750, 000 shares authorized at December 31, 2024
and 2023, respectively : 1, 250, 000 and 750, 000 shares issued and outstanding at beth-December 31, 2024 and 2023 and
2622, respectively and aggregate liquidation preference of $ 1, 250 at December 31, 2024 and $ 750 at beth-December 31,
2023 and2022-$ #34-1, 222 $ 734 Common stock, par share value $ 0. 001 per share; 4, 000, 000, 000 shares authorized; 833,
984, 684 shares issued at both December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-; 388, 261, 077 and 4006, 875, 775 and-438;246;755
shares outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respectivelyl | Additional paid- in capital9, 853 9, 775 9-H8
Retained earningst8-- earnings21 , 635 18 , 662 +6;-H6-Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss): Debt securities ( 23)
(33 393-) Currency translation adjustments ( 3844 ) (38) Employee benefit ptans3-plans8 6-3 Treasury stock, at cost; 445, 723,
607 and 427, 108, 909 and-395-767-929-shares at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respectively ( 16, 072) (15, 201)
G437 Total equityl3-equity16 , 580 13 . 903 42;-873-Total liabilities and equity $ 119,463 $ 117, 479 $164;-564




Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Preferred
StockCommon Stock ($ in millions, shares in thousands) Shares Issued AmountShares IssuedAmountAdditional Paid- in
CapitalRetained EarningsAccumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Treasury StockTotal EquityBalance at January 1,
2024750-2022750 $ 734 833,985 $ 1......) Balance at December 31, 2021750 $ 734 833,985 $ 189, 669 $ 14,245 $ (69) $ (10,
925) $ 13, 655 Net earnings — — — — — 3,016 — — 3, 016 Other comprehensive income¢ — — — — — —(56) — (56)
Purchases of treasury stock ——— — — — — (3, 320) (3, 320) Stock- based compensation — — — — 49 (69) — 74 54
Dividends- Series A preferred stock ($ 56. 24 per share) — — — — — (42) — — (42) Dividends- common stock ($ 0. 90 per
share) — — — — — (434) — — (434) Balance at December 31, 2022750 $ 734 833,985$18$9, 718 $ 16,716 $ (125) $ (14,
171)$ 12, 873 Cumulative effect of change in accounting prineipte222—-- principle $&— — — — — 222 — — 222 Adjusted
balance, beginning of period750 $-734 833, 985 $-1 $9, 718 $-16, 938 $(125) $(14, 171) $-13, 095 Net earnings — — — —
— 2,238 — — 2, 238 Other comprehensive incom¢ — — — — — — 57 — 57 Purchases of treasury stock — — — —— —
— (1, 112) (1, 112) Stock- based compensation — — — — 57 (66) — 82 73 Dividends- Series A preferred stock ($ 56. 24 per
share) — — — — — (42) — — (42) Dividends- common stock ($ 0. 96 per share) — — — — — (406) — — (406) Balance at
December 31, 2023750 $ 734 833,985 $ 1 $9, 775 $ 18, 662 $ (68) $ (15,201) $ 13, 903 Censolidated-Statements-Net
earnings — — — — — 3,499 — — 3, 499 Other comprehensive income — — — — — — 9 — 9 Issuance of CashFlows
Forpreferred-stoek560-488-$ 734 833,985 %1 $ 9,570 $ 10,621 $ (51) $ (8,174) $ 12,701 Net earnings —— — — — 4,221 —
— 4,221 Other comprehensive income — — — — — — 488-(18) — (18) Purchases of treasury stock — — — — — — — (
+2 ,608-876 ) (+2 , 068876 ) Stock- based compensation — — — — 7899 ( 56-55 ) — 437459-125 169 Dividends- Sertes#
preferred stock ($ 56.24 per share) — — — — — (42) — — (42) Dividends- common SertesB-preferred-stock ($ 66-0 . 65-88
per share) — — — — — (36500 )  ( 30y Pividends—eommenstoek($+060-500

persharey——————(398)y——
398) Balance at December 31, 2021750 %@%W%&the years ended December 31 ($
in millions) %92—3%92—2%92—1—@&3-1&————— 202420232022Cash flows- operating activitiesNet carnings $ 3,499 $ 2, 238 $ 3, 016 $4;

224-Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash provided from operating activitiesProvision for credit tesses5-losses6 , 733 5,
965 3, 375 #26-Deferred income taxes ( 98) (458) (421) 2—1—9—Depre01at10n and a-mefﬁz&ﬁeﬂ% amortlzat10n481 458 419 %99
Galn on sale of business (I-ﬂefease-l 069 )— 3

; expenses—ard-otherHab 5 60-All other operatlngaeﬁvrﬁes%
act1v1t1es507 735 574 52—2—Changes in operatmg assets and llabllltles, net of effects of acquisitions and dispositions
(Increase) decrease in interest and fees receivable33 (645) (197) (Increase) decrease in other assets (117) 7 21 Increase
(decrease) in accrued expenses and other liabilities (121) 293 (93) Cash provided from (used for) operating aetivitiess
activities9 , 848 8 , 593 6, 694 #-699-Cash flows- investing activitiesMaturity and sales of debt seeuritiesS-securities3 , 616 5 ,
011 3, 984 5:-886-Purchases of debt securities ( 2, 811) (3, 623) (3, 866) Acquisitions {2-, 996-net of cash acquired (1, 935 )—
— Proceeds from sale of business, net of cash and restricted cash sold491 — — Proceeds from sale of loan receivables —
— 3, 930 23-Net (increase) decrease in loan receivables, including held for sale (7, 576) (14, 900) (13, 733 3€6;3%8-) All other
investing activities ( 688) (722 3549-) (549) Cash provided from (used for) investing activities ( 8, 903) ( 14, 234) (10, 2343
4814 Cash flows- financing activitiesBorrowings of consolidated securitization entitiesProceeds from issuance of securitized
debt2-debtl , 694 2 , 294 2, 720 2;-36+Maturities and repayment of securitized debt (1, 125) (1,257) (3, 784 3H2-886-) Senior
and subordinated unsecured notesProceeds from issuance of senior and subordinated unsecured notes746-notes745 740 2, 235
F44-Maturities and repayment of senior and subordinated unsecured notes (1, 850) — (1, 500) 5-566)>-Proceeds from issuance
of preferred stock488 — — Dividends paid on preferred stock (42-72) (42) (42) Net increase (decrease) in depesttsd
deposits879 9 . 437 9, 453 €534)-Purchases of treasury stock (1, 008) (1, 112) (3, 320 H2;-8%6-) Dividends paid on common
stock (398) (406) (434 3560-) All other financing aettvities-activities36 (22) (44) 29-Cash provided from (used for) financing
aetivities9— activities (611) 9, 632 5, 284 (5;204)-Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents, including restricted and held for
sale ameunts3-amounts334 3, 991 1, 744 -9H49-Cash and equivalents, including restricted amounts, at beginning of yearto
yearl4 , 421 10, 430 8, 686 H5685-Cash and equivalents at end of year: Cash and equivalents14, 711 14, 259 10, 294 8;33%+
Restricted cash and equivalents included in other assets59-assets44 50 136 349-Cash and equivalents, including restricted
amounts, held for saleH2-sale — $-112 — Total cash and equivalents, including restricted and held for sale amounts, at end of
year $ 14, 755 $ 14,421 $ 10, 430 $-8;686-Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informationCash paid during the year for
interest $ (4,662) $ (3, 551)$ (1, 356 y$5634-) Cash paid during the year for income taxes $ (1, 087) $ (1, 125) $ (1,290 3%
532 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements NOTE 1. BUSINESS DESCRIPTION Synchrony Financial (the “
Company ) provides a range of credit products through financing programs it has established with a diverse group of national
and regional retailers, local merchants, manufacturers, buying groups, industry associations and healthcare service providers. We
primarily offer private label, Dual Card, co- brand and general purpose credit cards, as well as short- and long- term installment
loans, and savings products insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“ FDIC ™) through Synchrony Bank (the
Bank ") . We conduct our operations through a single business segment. See Note 17. Segment Reporting for additional
information . References to the *“ Company, ” “us” and “ our ” are to Synchrony Financial and its consolidated
subsidiaries unless the context otherwise requires. NOTE 2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES The accompanying consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity
with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles (“ GAAP ). Preparing financial statements in conformity with U. S. GAAP
requires us to make estimates based on assumptions about current, and for some estimates, future, economic and market
conditions (for example, unemployment, housing, interest rates and market liquidity) which affect reported amounts and related
disclosures in our consolidated financial statements. Although our current estimates contemplate current conditions and how we
expect them to change in the future, as appropriate, it is reasonably possible that actual conditions could be different than




anticipated in those estimates, which could materially affect our results of operations and financial position. Among other
effects, such changes could result in incremental losses on loan receivables, future impairments of debt securities, goodwill and
intangible assets, increases in reserves for contingencies, establishment of valuation allowances on deferred tax assets and
increases in our tax liabilities. We primarily conduct our business within the United States and substantially all of our revenues
are from U. S. customers. The operating activities conducted by our non- U. S. affiliates use the local currency as their
functional currency. The effects of translating the financial statements of these non- U. S. affiliates to U. S. dollars are included
in equity. Asset and liability accounts are translated at period- end exchange rates, while revenues and expenses are translated at
average rates for the respective periods. Consolidated Basis of Presentation The Company’ s financial statements have been
prepared on a consolidated basis. Under this basis of presentation, our financial statements consolidate all of our subsidiaries — i.
e., entities in which we have a controlling financial interest, most often because we hold a majority voting interest. To determine
if we hold a controlling financial interest in an entity, we first evaluate if we are required to apply the variable interest entity (*
VIE ”’) model to the entity, otherwise the entity is evaluated under the voting interest model. Where we hold current or potential
rights that give us the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’ s economic performance (*
power ”’) combined with a variable interest that gives us the right to receive potentially significant benefits or the obligation to
absorb potentially significant losses (““ significant economics ), we have a controlling financial interest in , and consolidate, the
VIE. In evaluating whether we have power, we consider the purpose for which the VIE was created, the importance of
each of the activities in which it is engaged and our decision- making role, if any, in those activities that ViE-affeets
s1gn1ﬁcantly determme the entlty s -fttta-re—economlc perfonmnce ﬁnd-as compared to the-other economic interest holders

6 S d 0 8 0 .In determining whether we

o A ybe-significant economics te-a—VH-we
ev. dludte all of our economic interests in the entlty regardless of form (debt,equity,management and servicing fees,and other
contractual arrangements).This evaluation considers all relevant factors of the entity’ s design,including:the entity’ s capital
structure,contractual rights to earnings or losses,subordination of our interests relative to those of other investors,as well as any
other contractual arrangements that might exist that could have the potential to be economically significant. The evaluation of
all facts and circumstances to determine whether we have power and significant economics requires the exercise of
professional judgment . Rights held by others to remove the party with power over the VIE are not considered unless one party
can exercise those rights unilaterally. We consolidate certain securitization entities under the VIE model because we have both
power to dlrect and ugmhcmt economlcs prlmarlly because of Synchrony or the Bank' S role as serv1cer See Note 6.

effered—te—etueered-rt—e&rd—eﬂs-temers— New Accountmg St"mdcnds Newly Adopted Accountmg St"mdcnds In Ma-reh—November
26222023 , the FASB issued ASU Ne—2622-2023 - 62-07 , Segment Reporting FinanetaHnstruments—Creditosses+ Topic
326-280 ): Improvements to Reportable Segment :PreuHed—Bebt—Restﬂteturmgs—aﬂd—Vrnt&ge—Dlsclosures This ASU
ehmfnafes—&mﬁaafatefeeegmﬁen—lmproves reportable segment disclosure requlrements and requlres enhanced

The ( ompany ddopted this

s_u1dance as of -}&ﬂu&ry—l—December 31 %92—3—2024 ona med-rﬁed—renospeetlve bds1s whieh-resulted-inthe-reeognitton-ofthe
ngs-. See Note 17. Segment Reportmg As-arestlt

lssued But Not Yet Adopted Accountmg St"mdcnds ln NevefnberDecember 2023 the FASB 1ssued ASU 2023 97—09

SegmentReporting-Income Taxes (Topic 286-740 ): Improvements to Repertable-Segment-Income Tax Disclosures. This ASU

requires improvesreportable-segment-disclosurc requirements-and-requires-enhaneed-diselosures-of specific categories in the
rate reconciliation, as well as additional qualitative information about signifieantsegmentexpenses-the reconciliation, and

additional disaggregated information about income taxes paid . The Company will adopt this guidance on a retrospective
basis on its effective date, which for us is beginning within our December 31, 2624-2025 Form 10- K. Management does not
expect this guidance to have a material impact on the Consolidated F1nanc1al Statements. [n Deeember-November 2623
2024 , the FASB issued ASU 2623-2024 - 99—03 Ineome Statement Reportmg Comprehenswe 5Faxes—€Fe-p-1e—749)—

dlxdgglegdted information about certaln income ta*es—paid-statement llne items in a tabular format in the notes to the
financial statements . The Company will adopt this guidance on its effective date, which for us is beginning within our

December 31 26252027 Form 10- K and is currently determmms_ the method of adoptlon —We-conduet-our-operations-throtugh




afe—maﬁaged—fer—ﬂae—eeﬂap&w—as—a whe}e-materlal 1mpact to our Consohdated Flnanclal Statements Ca@h and Equlvalents
Debt securities, money market instruments and bank deposits with original maturities of three months or less are included in
cash and equivalents unless designated as available- for- sale and classified as debt securities. Cash and equivalents at December
31,2024 primarily included cash and due from banks of $ 646 million and interest- bearing deposits in other banks of $
14. 0 billion. Cash and equivalents at December 31 2023 prlmarlly 1ncluded cash and due from banks of $ 1 4 b11110n and
interest- bearlng deposm in other banks 0f$ 12 -

Equlvalentq Restricted ca@h and equwalentq repreqent Caqh and equivalents that are not avallable to us due to reqtrlctlonq related
to its use. In addition, our securitization entities are required to fund segregated accounts that may only be used for certain
purposes, including payment of interest and servicing fees and repayment of maturing debt. We include our restricted cash and
equivalents in Other assets in our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. Investment Securities We report investments in
debt securities and equity securities with a readily determinable fair value at fair value. See Note 10. Fair Value Measurements
for further information on fair value. Changes in fair value on debt securities, which are classified as available- for- sale, are
included in equity-other comprehensive income (loss) , net of applicable taxes. Changes in fair value on equity securities are
included in earnings. We regularly review investment securities for impairment using both quantitative and qualitative criteria.
For debt securities, if we do not intend to sell the security, or it is not more likely than not, that we will be required to sell the
security before recovery of our amortized cost, we evaluate other qualitative criteria to determine whether we do not expect to
recover the amortized cost basis of the security, such as the financial health of, and specific prospects for the issuer, including
whether the issuer is in compliance with the terms and covenants of the security. We also evaluate quantitative criteria including
determining whether there has been an adverse change in expected future cash flows. If we do not expect to recover the entire
amortized cost basis of the security, we consider the debt security to be impaired. If the security is impaired, we determine
whether the impairment is the result of a credit loss or other factors. If a credit loss exists, an allowance for credit losses is
recorded, with a related charge to earnings, limited by the amount that the fair value of the security is less than its amortized
cost. Given the nature of our current portfolio, we perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether any credit loss is
warranted. The assessment considers factors such as adverse conditions and payment structure of the securities, history of
payment, and market conditions. If we intend to sell the security or it is more likely than not we will be required to sell the debt
security before recovery of its amortized cost basis, the security is also considered impaired and we recognize the entire
difference between the security’ s amortized cost basis and its fair value in earnings. Realized gains and losses are accounted for
on the specific identification method. Equity Method Investments We use the equity method of accounting for investments
where we have significant influence, but not control, over the operating and financial policies of the investee. Our
assessment of significant influence includes factors such as our ownership interest, legal form, and representation on the
board of directors. The Company generally records the initial investment at cost or fair value, as appropriate.
Subsequently, we adjust each investment for our proportionate share of net income or loss in the investee. We amortize,
where appropriate, differences between the Company’ s cost basis and underlying equity in net assets, which are
reported in Other income. The Company evaluates equity method investments for other- than- temporary impairment
when events or changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying amount of the investment might not be recoverable.
At December 31, 2024, our equity method investments included within Other assets in our Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position totaled $ 816 million, primarily related to our equity interest in Independence Pet Holdings, Inc. See
Note 3. Acquisitions and Dispositions for additional information. Loan receivables primarily consist of open- end consumer
revolving credit card accounts, closed- end consumer installment loans and open- end commercial revolving credit card
accounts. Loan receivables are reported at the amounts due from customers, including unpaid interest and fees , net of
unamortized purchase discounts , deferred income and costs. Loan Receivables Held for Sale Loans purchased or originated
with the intent to sell are classified as loan receivables held for sale and carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value.
Loans initially classified as held for investment are transferred to loan receivables held for sale and carried at the lower of
amortized cost or fair value once a decision has been made to sell the loans. We continue to recognize interest and fees on these
loans on the accrual basis. The fair value of loan receivables held for sale is determined on an aggregate homogeneous portfolio
basis. If a loan is transferred from held for investment to held for sale, any associated allowance for credit loss is reversed
through earnings, and the loan is transferred to held for sale at amortized cost. The amount by which amortized cost basis
exceeds fair value is accounted for as a valuation allowance. The loan is carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value.
Acquired Loans To determine the fair value of loans at acquisition, we estimate expected cash flows and discount those cash
flows using an observable market rate of interest, when available, adjusted for factors that a market participant would consider
in determining fair value. In determining fair value, expected cash flows are adjusted to include prepayment, default rate, and
loss severity estimates. The difference between the fair value and the amount contractually due is recorded as a loan discount or
premium at acquisition. Loans acquired that have experienced more- than- insignificant deterioration in credit quality since



origination (referred to as “ purchased credit deteriorated ” or “ PCD ” assets) are subject to specific guidance upon acquisition.
An allowance for PCD assets is added to the purchase price or fair value of the acquired loans to arrive at the amortized cost
basis. Subsequent to initial recognition, the accounting for the PCD asset will generally follow the Allowance for eredit-Credit
fess-Losses model described below. Loans acquired without a more- than- 1n51gn1ﬁcant credlt deterioration since orlglnatlon are
measured under the Allowance for Credit Losses model described below. As se e5-th p
b2-as-ofJanuary 12623 osses on loan receivables are estimated and recogmzed upon orlglnatlon of the loan based on
expected credit losses for the life of the loan balance as of the period end date. Expected credit loss estimates involve modeling
loss projections attributable to existing loan balances, considering historical experience, current conditions and future
expectations for pools of loans with similar risk characteristics over the reasonable and supportable forecast period. The model
considers a macroeconomic forecast, with unemployment as the primary macroeconomic variable considered. We also perform
a qualitative assessment in addition to model estimates and apply qualitative adjustments as necessary. The reasonable and
supportable forecast period is determined primarily based upon an assessment of the current economic outlook, including our
ability to use available data to accurately forecast losses over time. The reasonable and supportable forecast period used in our
estimate of credit losses at December 31, 2023-2024 was 12 months, consistent with the forecast period utilized since adoption
of CECL. The Company reassesses the reasonable and supportable forecast period on a quarterly basis. Beyond the reasonable
and supportable forecast period, we revert to historical loss information at the loan receivables segment level over a 6- month
period, gradually increasing the weight of historical losses by an equal amount each month during the reversion period, and
utilize historical loss information thereafter for the remaining life of the portfolio. The historical loss information is derived
from a combination of recessionary and non- recessionary performance periods, weighted by the time span of each period.
Similar to the reasonable and supportable forecast period, we also reassess the reversion period and historical mean on a
quarterly basis, considering any required adjustments for differences in underwriting standards, portfolio mix, and other relevant
data shifts over time. We generally segment our loan receivable population into pools of loans with similar risk characteristics at
the major retailer and product level. Consistent with our other assumptions, we regularly review segmentation to determine
whether the segmentation pools remain relevant as risk characteristics change. Our loan receivables generally do not have a
stated life. The life of a credit card loan receivable is dependent upon the allocation of payments received, as well as a variety of
other factors, including the principal balance, promotional terms, interest charges and fees and overall consumer credit profile
and usage pattern. We determine the expected credit losses for credit card loan receivables as of the measurement date by using
a combination of migration analysis, and other historical analyses, which implicitly consider the payments attributable to the
measurement date balance. To do so, we utilize an approach which implicitly considers total expected future payments and
applies appropriate allocations to reduce those payments in order to estimate losses pertaining to measurement date loan
receivables. Based on our payments analyses, we also ensure that expected future payments from an account do not exceed the
measurement date balance. We evaluate each portfolio quarterly. For credit card receivables, our estimation process includes
analysis of historical data, and there is a significant amount of judgment applied in selecting inputs and analyzing the results
produced by the models to determine the allowance for credit losses. We use an enhanced migration analysis to estimate the
likelihood that a loan will progress through the various stages of delinquency. The enhanced migration analysis considers
uncollectible principal, interest and fees reflected in the loan receivables, segmented by credit and business parameters. We use
other analyses to estimate expected losses on non- delinquent accounts, which include past performance, bankruptcy activity
such as filings, policy changes and loan volumes and amounts. Holistically, for assessing the portfolio credit loss content, we
also evaluate portfolio risk management techniques applied to various accounts, historical behavior of different account
vintages, account seasoning, economic conditions, recent trends in delinquencies, account collection management including the
impact of modifications made to borrowers experiencing financial difficulties, forecasting uncertainties, expectations about the
future and a qualitative assessment of the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses. Key factors that impact the accuracy of
our historical loss forecast estimates include the models and methodology utilized, credit strategy and trends, and consideration
of material changes in our loan portfolio such as changes in growth and portfolio mix. We regularly review our collection
experience (including delinquencies and net charge- offs) in determining our allowance for credit losses. We also consider our
historical loss experience to date based on actual defaulted loans and overall portfolio indicators including delinquent and non-
accrual loans, trends in loan volume and lending terms, credit policies and other observable environmental factors such as
unemployment and home price indices. Additionally, the estimate of expected credit losses includes expected recoveries of
amounts previously charged- off and expected to be charged- off. The underlying assumptions, estimates and assessments we
use to provide for losses are updated periodically to reflect our view of current and forecasted conditions, and are subject to the
regulatory examination process, which can result in changes to our assumptions. Changes in such estimates can significantly
affect the allowance and provision for credit losses. It is possible that we will experience credit losses that are different from our
current estimates. Charge- offs are deducted from the allowance for credit losses and are recorded in the period when we judge
the principal to be uncollectible, and subsequent recoveries are added to the allowance, generally at the time cash is received on
a charged- off account. Delinquent receivables are those that are 30 days or more past due based on their contractual payments.
Non- accrual loan receivables are those on which we have stopped accruing interest. We typically continue to accrue interest
until the earlier of the time at which collection of an account becomes doubtful, or in the period the account becomes 180 days
past due, with the exception of non- credit card accounts, for which we stop accruing interest in the period that the account
becomes 90 days past due. The same loan receivable may meet more than one of the definitions above. Accordingly, these
categories are not mutually exclusive, and it is possible for a particular loan to meet the definitions of a non- accrual loan and a
delinquent loan, or be modified to a borrower experiencing financial difficulty, and be included in each of these categories. The
categorization of a particular loan also may not necessarily be indicative of the potential for loss. Loan Modifications to
Borrowers Experiencing Financial Difficulty Our loss mitigation strategy is intended to minimize economic loss and, at times,




can result in rate reductions, principal forgiveness, extensions or other actions, for borrowers experiencing financial difficulty.
We primarily use long- term modification programs for borrowers experiencing financial difficulty as a loss mitigation strategy
to improve long- term collectability of the loans. The long- term modification programs include changing the structure of the
loan to a fixed payment loan with a maturity no longer than 60 months, reducing the interest rate on the loan, and stopping the
assessment of penalty fees. We also make long- term loan modifications for customers who request financial assistance through
external sources, such as through consumer credit counseling service agencies. Long- term loan modification programs do not
normally include the forgiveness of unpaid principal, interest or fees. We may also provide certain borrowers with a short- term
loan modification program (generally up to 3 months) that can include the forgiveness of a percentage of their unpaid principal
balance, interest and / or fees . Effective in 2024, for borrowers that newly enroll in our short- term modification
programs, we no longer charge interest and penalty fees during the term of the program and also typically waive
accrued and unpaid interest and fees at the time of enrollment . We generally do not convert revolving loans to term loans,
outside of loan modification programs for borrowers experiencing financial difficulties. The evaluation of whether a borrower is
experiencing financial difficulty includes our consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances. See Note 5. Loan
Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses for additional information on our loan modifications to borrowers experiencing
financial difficulty. Data related to redefault experience is also considered in our overall reserve adequacy review. Once the loan
has been modified, it only returns to current status ¢if the borrower pays the total minimum payment due or if the loan is rc-
aged Yafter three consecutlve monthly program payments are recelved post the modlﬁcatlon date, subject to re- aglng hmltatlons

e v potte A Charge Offs Net charge offs con51st of the
unpald prlnmpal balance of loans held for 1nvestment that we determme are uncollectible, net of recovered amounts. We
exclude accrued and unpaid finance charges, fees and third- party fraud losses from charge- offs. Charged- off and recovered
accrued and unpaid finance charges and fees are included in interest and fees on loans while fraud losses are included in other
expense. Charge- offs are recorded as a reduction to the allowance for credit losses, and subsequent recoveries of previously
charged- off amounts are credited to the allowance for credit losses. Costs incurred to recover charged- off loans are recorded as
collection expense and are included in ether-Other expense in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings. We charge- off our
loans based upon days contractually past due, which is typically 120 days for our unsecured closed- end consumer
installment loans and loans secured by collateral swhemrand in they—- the are426-period the account becomes 180 days for our
eontraetually-past-due,-and-unsecured open- ended revolving loans whemnrthey-are186-days-eontractuallypast-due-. Unsecured
consumer loans in bankruptcy are charged- off within 60 days of notification of filing by the bankruptcy court or within
contractual charge- off periods, whichever occurs earlier. Credit card loans of deceased account holders are charged- off within
60 days of receipt of notification. Goodwill and Intangible Assets We do not amortize goodwill but test it at least annually for
impairment at the reporting unit level pursuant to ASC 350, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other. A reporting unit is defined
under GAAP as the operating segment, or one level below that operating segment (the component level) if discrete financial
information is prepared and regularly reviewed by segment management. Our single operating segment comprises a single
reporting unit, based on the level at which segment management regularly reviews and measures the business operating results.
When a portion of a reporting unit constitutes a business that is being disposed of, the amount of goodwill to be included in the
carrying amount of the business classified as held for sale is based upon the relative fair values of the business to be disposed of
and the portion of the reporting unit that will be retained. Goodwill impairment risk is first assessed by performing a qualitative
review of entity- specific, industry, market and general economic factors for our reporting unit. If potential goodwill impairment
risk exists that indicates that it is more likely than not that the carrying value of our reporting unit exceeds its fair value, a
quantitative test is performed. The quantitative test compares the reporting unit’ s estimated fair value with its carrying value,
including goodwill. If the carrying value of our reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in an
amount equal to that excess, limited to the amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. The qualitative assessment for
each period presented in the consolidated financial statements was performed without hindsight, assuming only factors and
market conditions existing as of those dates, and resulted in no potential goodwill impairment risk for our reporting unit.
Consequently, goodwill was not deemed to be impaired for any of the periods presented. Definite- lived intangible assets
principally consist of certain costs incurred to develop or acquire capitalized software and customer- related assets including
purchased credit card relationships. Capitalized software is amortized on a straight- line basis over its estimated useful life,
generally 5 years. Customer- related assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Defined- lived intangible assets are
evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not
be recoverable. The evaluation compares the cash inflows expected to be generated from each intangible asset to its carrying
value. If cash flows attributable to the intangible asset are less than the carrying value, the asset is considered impaired and
written down to its estimated fair value. Other Assets Other assets primarily consist of deferred income taxes, contract costs
related to our retail partner agreements and equity investments. Retail partner contract costs are recognized over the life of the
contract with the retail partner and are included as a component of marketing-Marketing and business development expense in
our Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Discontinued Operations and Held for Sale An entity is classified as held for sale in
the period in which management approves and commits to a plan to sell the entity, the entity is available to be sold in its
immediate condition subject to usual and customary terms, the entity is being actively marketed at a reasonable price with other
actions required to complete the plan to sale initiated, the sale is generally probable to be completed within one year, and it is
unlikely that there will be significant changes to the plan to sell. The disposal of an entity should be reported in discontinued
operations if the disposal represents a strategic shift that has, or will have, a major effect on the Company’ s operations and
financial results, otherwise the results of the entity to be disposed continue to be presented within continuing operations on the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Assets and liabilities to be disposed of are have-beenreclassified to held for sale in our



Consolidated Statements of Financial Position - . Revenue
Recognition Interest and Fees on Loans We use the effectlve interest method to recognize income on loans. Interest and fees on
loans is comprised largely of interest and late fees on credit card and other loans. Interest income is recognized based upon the
amount of loans outstanding and their contractual interest rate. Late fees are recognized when billable to the customer. We
typically continue to accrue interest and fees on credit cards until the accounts are charged- off in the period the account
becomes 180 days past due. For non- credit card loans, we stop accruing interest and fees in the period when the account
becomes 90 days past due. Previously recognized interest income that was accrued but not collected from the customer is
reversed. Although we stop accruing interest in advance of payments, we recognize interest income as cash is collected when
appropriate, provided the amount does not exceed that which would have been earned at the historical effective interest rate;
otherwise, payments received are applied to reduce the principal balance of the loan. We resume accruing interest on non- credit
card loans when the customer’ s account is less than 90 days past due and collection of such amounts is probable. Interest
income from aeeruals-en-medifted-loans disclosed as long- term modifications to borrowers experiencing financial
difficulty is accounted for in the same manner as other accrulng loans. Effective in 2024, for borrowers that newly enroll
in our short & : - aged)-only-afterreeeipt-term modification
programs, we no longer charge interest and penalty fees during the term of the program and also typlcally waive
accrued and unpaid interest and fees at Jeastthree—- the time ot
hmitatterrof enrollment onee-a-year;or-twice-tn-a-five—yearperiod-. Dlrect loan orlglnatlon costs on credit card loans are
deferred and amortized on a straight- line basis over a one- year period, or the estimated life of the loan for other loan
receivables, and are included in interest and fees on loans in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings. See Note 5. Loan
Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses for further detail. Other loan and customer- related fees including miscellaneous
fees charged to borrowers are recognized net of waivers and charge- offs when the related transaction or service is provided, and
are included in other-Other income in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Promotional Financing Loans originated with
promotional financing may include deferred interest financing (interest accrues during a promotional period and becomes
payable if the full purchase amount is not paid off during the promotional period), no interest financing (no interest accrues
during a promotional period but begins to accrue thereafter on any outstanding amounts at the end of the promotional period)
and reduced interest financing (interest accrues monthly at a promotional interest rate during the promotional period). For
deferred interest financing, we bill interest to the borrower, retroactive to the inception of the loan, if the loan is not repaid prior
to the specified date. Income is recognized on such loans when it is billable. In almost all cases, our retail partner will pay an
upfront fee or reimburse us to compensate us for all or part of the costs associated with providing the promotional financing.
Upfront fees are deferred and accreted to income over the promotional period. Reimbursements are estimated and accrued as
income over the promotional period. Purchased Loans Loans acquired by purchase are recorded at fair value, which may result
in the recognition of a loan premium or loan discount. For acquired loans with evidence of more- than- insignificant
deterioration in credit quality since origination, the initial allowance for credit losses at acquisition is added to the purchase price
to determine the initial cost basis of the loans and loan premium or loan discount. Loan premiums and loan discounts are
recognized into interest income using the effective interest method over the estimated remaining life of the loans. The
Company develops an allowance for credit losses for all purchased loans, which is recognized upon acquisition, similar to that
of an originated financial asset. Subsequent changes to the expected credit losses for these loans follow the allowance for credit
losses methodology described above under “ — Allowance for Credit Losses. ” Retailer Share Arrangements Most of our
program agreements with large retail and certain other partners contain retailer share arrangements that provide for payments to
our partners if the economic performance of the program exceeds a contractually defined threshold. We also provide other
economic benefits to our partners such as royalties on purchase volume or payments for new accounts, in some cases instead of
retailer share arrangements (for example, on our co- branded credit cards). Although the share arrangements vary by partner,
these arrangements are generally structured to measure the economic performance of the program, based typically on agreed
upon program revenues (including interest income and certain other income) less agreed upon program expenses (including
interest expense, provision for credit losses, retailer payments and operating expenses), and share portions of this amount above
a negotiated threshold. These thresholds and the economic performance of a program are based on, among other things, agreed
upon measures of program expenses. On a quarterly basis, we make a judgment as to whether it is probable that the performance
threshold will be met under a particular retail partner’ s retailer share arrangement. The current period’ s estimated contribution
to that ultimate expected payment is recorded as a liability. To the extent facts and circumstances change and the cumulative
probable payment for prior months has changed, a cumulative adjustment is made to align the retailer share arrangement
liability balance with the amount considered probable of being paid relating to past periods. Other Income Interchange and
Protection Product Revenue Other Income primarily includes interchange and protection product revenue. We earn interchange
revenue at the time the cardholder transaction occurs. Protection product revenue represents fees earned from our Payment
Security offering, which is a debt cancellation product. Fees are assessed and recognized during the monthly coverage period,
based upon a customer' s account balance. Loyalty Programs Our loyalty programs are designed to generate increased purchase
volume per customer while reinforcing the value of our credit cards and strengthening cardholder loyalty. These programs
typically provide cardholders with statement credit or cash back rewards. Other programs include rewards points, which are
redeemable for a variety of products or awards, or merchandise discounts that are earned by achieving a pre- set spending level
on their private label credit card, Dual Card or general purpose co- branded credit card. We establish a rewards liability based on
points and merchandise discounts earned that are ultimately expected to be redeemed and the average cost per point at
redemption. The rewards liability is included in a#eersed-Accrued expenses and other liabilities in our Consolidated Statements
of Financial Position. Cash rebates are earned based on a tiered percentage of purchase volume. As points and discounts are
redeemed or cash rebates and rewards are issued, the rewards liability is relieved. The estimated cost of loyalty programs is




classified as a reduction to ether-Other income in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Other Expense Fraud Losses We
experience third- party fraud losses from the unauthorized use of credit cards and when loans are obtained through fraudulent
means. Fraud losses are included as a charge within ether-Other expense in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings, net of
recoveries, when such losses are probable. Loans are charged- off, as applicable, after the investigation period has completed.
We recognize the current and deferred tax consequences of all transactions that have been recognized in the financial statements
using the provisions of the enacted tax laws. The effects of tax adjustments and settlements from taxing authorities are presented
in our consolidated financial statements in the period they occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax laws
and rates that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. We record valuation allowances to reduce deferred
tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. In making decisions regarding our ability to realize tax assets,
we evaluate all positive and negative evidence, including projected future taxable income, taxable income in carryback periods,
expected reversal of deferred tax liabilities and the implementation of available tax planning strategies. We recognize the
financial statement impact of uncertain income tax positions when we conclude that it is more likely than not, based on the
technical merits of a position, that the position will be sustained upon examination. In certain situations, we establish a liability
that represents the difference between a tax position taken (or expected to be taken) on an income tax return and the amount of
taxes recognized in our financial statements. The liability associated with the unrecognized tax benefits is adjusted periodically
when new information becomes available. We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as
interest expense and provision for income taxes, respectively, in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Fair value is the price
we would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction with a market participant at the
measurement date. In the absence of active markets for the identical assets or liabilities, such measurements involve developing
assumptions based on market observable data and, in the absence of such data, internal information that is consistent with what
market participants would use in a hypothetical transaction that occurs at the measurement date. Observable inputs reflect
market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect our market assumptions. Preference is given
to observable inputs. These two types of inputs create the following fair value hierarchy: Level 1 — Quoted prices for identical
instruments in active markets. Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are not active; and model- derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose
significant value drivers are observable. Level 3 — Significant inputs to the valuation are unobservable. We maintain policies
and procedures to value instruments using the best and most relevant data available. In addition, we have risk management
teams that review valuations, including independent price validation for certain instruments. We use non- binding broker quotes
and third- party pricing services, when available, as our primary basis for valuation when there is limited or no relevant market
activity for a specific instrument or for other instruments that share similar characteristics. We have not adjusted prices that we
have obtained. In the absence of such data, such measurements involve developing assumptions based on internal information
that is consistent with what market participants would use in a hypothetical transaction that occurs at the measurement date. The
third- party brokers and third- party pricing services do not provide us access to their proprietary valuation models, inputs and
assumptions. Accordingly, our risk management, treasury and / or finance personnel conduct reviews of these brokers and
services, as applicable. In addition, we conduct internal reviews of pricing provided by our third- party pricing service for all
investment securities on a quarterly basis to ensure reasonableness of valuations used in the consolidated financial statements.
These reviews are designed to identify prices that appear stale, those that have changed significantly from prior valuations and
other anomalies that may indicate that a price may not be accurate. Based on the information available, we believe that the fair
values provided by the third- party brokers and pricing services are representative of prices that would be received to sell the
assets at the measurement date (exit prices) and are classified appropriately in the hierarchy. Recurring Fair Value
Measurements Our investments in debt and certain equity securities, as well as certain financial assets and liabilities for which
we have elected the fair value option, are measured at fair value every reporting period on a recurring basis. Non- Recurring
Fair Value Measurements Certain assets are measured at fair value on a non- recurring basis. These assets are not measured at
fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustments only in certain circumstances. Assets that are written
down to fair value when impaired are not subsequently adjusted to fair value unless further impairment occurs. Equity
Securities Without Readily Determinable Fair Values The company measures certain equity securities without readily
determinable fair values using observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or a similar investment of the
same issuer when they occur. Changes in observable price changes are recognized in other-Other income in our Consolidated
Statements of Earnings. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Carried at Other than Fair Value The following is a
description of the valuation techniques used to estimate the fair values of the financial assets and liabilities carried at other than
fair value. In estimating the fair value for our loan receivables, we use a discounted future cash flow model. We use various
unobservable inputs including estimated interest and fee income, payment rates, loss rates and discount rates (which consider
current market interest rate data adjusted for credit risk and other factors) to estimate the fair values of loans. When collateral
dependent, loan receivables may be valued using collateral values. For demand deposits with no defined maturity, carrying
value approximates fair value due to the liquid nature of these deposits. For fixed- maturity certificates of deposit, fair values are
estimated by discounting expected future cash flows using market rates currently offered for deposits with similar remaining
maturities. The fair values of borrowings of consolidated securitization entities are based on valuation methodologies that utilize
current market interest rate data, which are comparable to market quotes adjusted for our non- performance risk. Borrowings
that are publicly traded securities are classified as level 2. Borrowings that are not publicly traded are classified as level 3. The
fair values of the senior and subordinated unsecured notes are based on secondary market trades and other observable inputs
and are classified as level 2. NOTE 3. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS inJanuary-On March 1, 2024, we announeed
eur-agreement-to-aequire-acquired Ally Financial Inc.' s point - of - sale financing business (" Ally Lending ") for cash



consideration of $ 2. 0 billion. This acquisition deepens our presence and reach in the home improvement and health and
wellness sectors, including high- growth specialty areas such as roofing, HVAC, and windows, as well as in cosmetic,
audiology, and dentistry . The assets-ofAlly Lending acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination using
the acquisition method of accounting and, accordingly, assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their
estimated fair value as of the acquisition date. There were no adjustments to the fair value of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed (measurement period adjustments) related to the acquisition during the three months ended
December 31, 2024. During the year ended December 31, 2024, measurement period adjustments were recognized related
to the acquisition as detailed in the table below. ($ in millions) Amounts Recognized as of Acquisition Date (as previously
reported as of March 31, 2024) Measurement Period AdjustmentsAmounts Recognized as of Acquisition Date (as
adjusted) Assets acquiredCash $ 34 $ — $ 34 Loan receivables (a) 1, 875 (198) 1, 677 Intangible assets, net23 (5) 18
Other assets2 — 2 Total $ 1, 934 § (2623—203) $ 1, 731 Liabilities assumedOther liabilities (16) 2 (14) Total net
identifiable assets acquired $ 1,918 $ (201) $ 1, 717 Less: Total cash consideration paid $ 1,969 $ — $ 1, 969 Goodwill $
5182018 252 (a) Loan discounts are recognized into interest income over the estimated
remaining life of the acquired loans. The amounts above represent the estimated fair values of the respective assets
acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of acquisition. The valuation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
is complete. The estimated fair values reflect market participant assumptions about facts and circumstances existing at
the acquisition date. The measurement period adjustments reflected above did not result from events occurring
subsequent to the acquisition date. The goodwill recognized related to the acquisition is tax- deductible and reflects the
expected synergies and operational efficiencies arising from the transaction. The acquisition primarily included
approximatety-loan receivables with an unpaid principal balance of $ 2. 2 billion ef. These loan receivables are reported
within Consumer installment loans in Note S. Loan Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses. To determine the fair
value of loans at acquisition, we estimate expected cash flows and discount those cash flows using an observable market
rate of interest, when available, adjusted for factors that a market participant would consider in determining fair value.
In determining fair value, expected cash flows are adjusted to include prepayment, default rate, and loss severity
estimates . The transaetion-difference between the fair value and the amount contractually due is recorded as a loan
discount or premium at acquisition. Including the impact of measurement period adjustments, the loan discount at the
acquisition date was $ 469 million, which is to be amortized into interest income over the estimated remaining life of the
loans, as described within Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. The interest
and fees related to the acquired business are included in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings subsequent to the
acquisition date and totaled $ 320 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. This amount includes amortization of
the loan discount recognized at acquisition of $ 162 million. Expense activities, including those associated with the
acquired business, are managed for the Company as a whole. Loans acquired without a more- than- insignificant credit
deterioration since origination are measured under the Allowance for Credit Losses model, as described within Note 2.
Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. The Company’ s best estimate of contractual cash
flows not expected to etese-irbe collected at the date first-guarter-of acquisition was $ 180 million, which is included within
our Allowance for credit losses, and recognized through Provision for credit losses in our Consolidated Statements of
Earnings for the year ended December 31, 2024 +-. Included in the acquisition was $ 64 million of PCD assets that were
not immediately written off at the acquisition date and are subject to the-eempletien-specific guidance upon acquisition.
An allowance for PCD assets of eustomary-elosing-$ 39 million was recorded at the date of acquisition. Subsequent to
initial eonditions—- recognition , the accounting for the PCD assets will generally follow the Allowance for Credit Losses
model described within Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies . [n Nevember
March 2623-2024 , we sold entered-nto-anagreement-for-the-sale-ef-our wholly- owned subsidiary, Pets Best Insurance
Services, LLC (“ Pets Best ”’) to Poodle Holdings, Inc. (“ Buyer ™) for consideration comprising a combination of cash and an
equity interest of less than 10 % in Independence Pet Holdings, Inc., (“ IPH ”) an affiliate of Bu\ er. -Sttbjeet—ln connectlon
with the sale, IPH also appointed to-two Synchrony executives to regulate P A stoms
eondittons;the-transaetionis-its board expeeted-to-etose-in-the-firstquarter-of %9%4—&ﬂd—rs—expeefed—te-dlrect0rs The sale of
Pets Best resuit-resulted in the recognition of a gain on sale of § 1. 1 billion or $ 802 million, net of tax in the three months
ended March 31, 2024 . The pre- tax gain amount te-be-has been recognized swi-be-within the Other component of Other
income in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings. The Company’ s initial equity investment in IPH was recorded in
Other assets on our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position and is accounted for under the equity method of
accounting. The investment was recorded at its estimated fair value at the date acquired of $ 605 million. The estimated
fair value at the acquisition date was determined using a weighted average methodology of three approaches: a market
approach which includes using a multiple of projected revenues, precedent transactions and an intrinsic value analysis.
The market- multiple approach was established based on a selected group of publicly traded companies. The use of
selected precedent transaction multiples was calibrated to the valuation outcome using the market approach. Intrinsic
value analysis determines implied multlples primarily based upon recent market studies and forecasted performance.
The change in the carr y ing &meuﬂt—value of our equlty mvestment ﬂet—assefs—e-ﬁpefs—Bes{—&ﬂd-&te—ﬁnal—va-}u&&eﬁ—e-f




. NOTE 4. DEBT SECURITIES All

of our debt securities are claiqlﬁed as avallable for- sale and are held to meet our hqu1d1ty objectives or to comply with the
Community Reinvestment Act (“ CRA ). Our debt securities consist of the following: December 31, 2023Beeember
2024December 31,

2023GrossGrossGr0ssGrossAmortlzedunreahzedunreahzedEstlmatedAmortlzedunreahzedunreahzedEstlmated ($in
millions) costgainslossesfair valuecostgainslossesfair valueU. S. government and federal agency $1,841$3 $—$1,844§$ 2,
264818 (1)$ 2,264 State and municipall7 $3-94+75— $( 53-1 ) 16 $3;-864-State-and-munteipaHHo——0-10 — — 10
Residential mortgage- backed (a) 324 — (35) 289 392 — (38) 354 467—49-4H8-Asset- backed (b) 9194 (1) 922 1, 167 4 (8)
1, 163 599—19)-580-Other8 — — 8 8 — — 8 Total (+¢ ) $3,109 $ 7 Fotal-$ (€37 ) 53,0798 3,841 $§5$(47)$3,799 %
500-5—$22)y-$4,879(a) All of our residential mortgage- backed securities have been issued by government- sponsored
entities and are collateralized by U. S. mortgages. (b) Our asset- backed securities are collateralized by credit card and auto
loans. (¢) At December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2822-, the estimated fair value of debt securities pledged by the Bank as
collateral to the Federal Reserve to secure Federal Reserve discount window advances was $ 551 million and $ 360 millienand
$160-million, respectively. The following table presents the estimated fair values and gross unrealized losses of our available-
for- sale debt securities: In loss position forLess than 12 months12 months or
moreGrossGrossEstimatedunrealizedEstimatedunrealized ($ in millions) fair valuelossesfair valuelossesAt December 31,
2024U. S. government and federal agency $ 199 § — $ — $ — State and municipall2 (1) 3 — Residential mortgage-
backed5 — 279 (35) Asset- backed79 (1) 4 — Other — — — — Total (a) $ 295 $ (2) $ 286 $ (35) At December 31, 2023U.
S. government and federal agency $ 495 $ — $ 399 § (1) State and municipal — — 9 — Residential mortgage- backedl — 346
(38) Asset- backed171 — 244 (8) Other — — & — Total (a) $ 667 $ — §$ 1, 006 $ (47) At(a) Consists of 224 and 250
securities in gross unreahzed loss posmons as of December 31, 2024 %Q%U—S—gevemmeﬂt—and 2023 -fedefa-l-ageﬁey—$—3—

respectively. ate-a i ; o
W@%&%&%MHMWS—%@)—We regularly review debt §eCLlr1t16§ for
impairment resulting from credit loss using both qualitative and quantitative criteria, as necessary based on the composition of
the portfolio at period end. Based on our assessment, no material impairments fer-from credit losses were recognized during the
period. We presently do not intend to sell our debt securities that are in an unrealized loss position and believe that it is not more
likely than not that we will be required to sell these securities before recovery of our amortized cost. Contractual Maturities of
Investments in Available- for- Sale Debt Securities At AmertizedEstimated-WetghtedAt-December 31, 2023-2024 ($ in
millions) eestfair-valaeAverage-yield(a)-Duc Within-within 1 yearDue eﬂe—ye&r—$—2—74§—$—2—7-3-8—4%%1*fter—after one-1 year
through fiwe-5 yearsDue after 5 ycars through 10 yearsDue after 10 yearsTotalU. S. government and federal agency $ 79
1,192 $ 7225652 $ — $ — $ 1, 844 State and municipal — 3 3 10 16 Residential mortgage- backed — 17 123 149 289
Asset- backedS35 387 — — 922 Other — 8 — — 8 Total estimated fair value $ 1, 727 $ 1,067 $ 126 $ 159 $ 3, 079
Amortized cost $ 1,724 $1,064 $ 136 $ 185 $ 3, 109 Weighted average yield (a) 4.7 % 4.6 % 1.8 % 2 . 3 % 4 After-five
years-throughten-years-$179-51671. 4 8% After-ten-years-$198-51+722-0-"% (a) Weighted average yield is calculated based
on the amortized cost of each security. In calculating yield, no adjustment has been made with respect to any tax- exempt
obligations. All securities are presented above based upon contractual maturity date, except our asset- backed securities which
are allocated based upon expected final payment date. We expect actual maturities to differ from contractual maturities because
borrowers have the right to prepay certain obligations. There were no material realized gains or losses recognized for the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and-26824-. Although we generally do not have the intent to sell any specific
securities held at December 31, 2023-2024 , in the ordinary course of managing our debt securities portfolio, we may sell
securities prior to their maturities for a variety of reasons, including diversification, credit quality, yield, liquidity requirements
and funding obligations. NOTE 5. LOAN RECEIVABLES AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES At December 31 ($
in millions) 20232022€redit-20242023Credit cards $ 96, 818 § 97, 043 $87-636-Consumer installment doans3-loans5 , 971 3 ,
977 3;856-Commercial credit products1, 826 1, 839 4,-682-Other 106 129 +82-Total loan receivables, before allowance for
credit losses (a) (b) (c) $ 104,721 $ 102, 988 $92476-(a) Total loan receivables include $ 21. 3 billion and $ 21. 4 bithenatd
$198-billion of restricted loans of consolidated securitization entities at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respectively.
See Note 6. Variable Interest Entities for further information entheserestrieteddoans-. (b) At December 31, 2024 and 2023 and
2022~ loan receivables included deferred costs, net of purchase discounts and deferred income, of $ (212) million and $ 213
million aad-$23Fmitlien, respectively . (c) At December 31, 2024 and 2023, $ 20. 7 billion and $ 22. 4 billion , respectively,
of loan receivables were pledged by the Bank as collateral to the Federal Reserve to secure Federal Reserve discount window
advances. Allowance for Credit Losses (a) (b) ($ in millions) Balance at January 1, 2024Provision charged to operations (c)
Gross charge- offsRecoveriesOtherBalance at December 31, 2024Credit cards $ 10, 156 $ 6, 005 $ (7, 133) $1,224$7 $
10, 259 Consumer installment loans279 595 (416) 45 39 542 Commercial credit products131 135 (147) 8 — 127 Other5
(3) (1) ——1Total $10,571 $ 6,732 $ (7,697) $ 1,277 $ 46 $ 10, 929 ($ in millions) Balance at January 1, 2023Impact of
ASU 2022- 02 AdoptionPost- Adoption Balance at January 1, 2023Provision charged to operations (e-d ) Gross charge-
offsRecoveriesBalance at December 31, 2023Credit cards $ 9,225 $ (294) $ 8,931 $ 5,536 $ (5, 263) $952 $ 10, 156
Consumer installment loans208 1 209 259 (218) 29 279 Commercial credit products87 (1) 86 164 (128) 9 131 Other7 — 7 (1)
(1) — 5 Total $9, 527 $(294) $ 9,233 $ 5,958 $ (5,610) $990 $ 10, 571 ($ in millions) Balance at January 1, 2022Provision
charged to operationsGross charge- offsRecoveriesOtherBalance at December 31, 2022Credit cards $ 8, 512 $ 3, 105 $ (3, 202)
$810% —$ 9,225 Consumer installment loans115 173 (97) 17 — 208 Commercml credit produetsS‘) 91 (70) 7 — 87 Other2 6
(1)——7T0tal$8 688$3 375$(3 370)$834$*$9 527 ¢$n ala Ste




Fotal-$10,265-$726 531481 $844-$1-5-8,688(a) The allowance ror credit losses at December 31, 2024 2023 sand 2022

and-202+-reflects our estimate of expected credit losses for the life of the loan receivables on our Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position at December 31, 2024, 2023 -and 2022 and202+, which inelade-includes the consideration of current and
expected macroeconomic conditions that existed at those dates. (b) Comparative-informationts-Excluded from the table above
are allowance for credit losses for loan receivables acquired and immediately written off within the period presented . (c)
Provision for credit losses in aceordanee-the Consohdated Statements of Earnlngs for the year ended December 31,2024
also includes amounts associated with P

balance sheet credit exposures recorded in Accrued expenses and other hablhtles in the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position . (e-d ) Provision for credit losses in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the year ended December
31, 2023 includes $ 7 million associated with a forward loan portfolio purchase recorded in Accrued expenses and other
liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. The reasonable and supportable forecast period used in our
estimate of credit losses at December 31, 2023-2024 was 12 months, consistent with the forecast period utilized since the
adoption of CECL. Beyond the reasonable and supportable forecast period, we revert to historical loss information at the loan
receivables segment level over a 6- month period, gradually increasing the weight of historical losses by an equal amount each
month during the reversion period, and utilize historical loss information thereafter for the remaining life of the portfolio. The
reversion period and methodology remain unchanged since the adoption of CECL. Losses on loan receivables, including those
which are modified for borrowers experiencing financial difficulty, are estimated and recognized upon origination of the loan,
based on expected credit losses for the life of the loan balance at December 31, 2623-2024 . Expected credit loss estimates are
developed using both quantitative models and qualitative adjustments, and incorporates a macroeconomic forecast , as
described within Note 2 . The-Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. Our current
estimate of expected credit losses is based on the current and forecasted economic conditions at the balance sheet date
inflaeneed, which reflects our expectations eurrentestimate-of expeeted-the macroeconomic environment. There have been
no significant changes in our overall expectation of future credit losses during whieh-refleets-ourexpeetations-of-the
maeroeeonomie-environment-year ended December 31, 2024 . We eentinte-continued to experience a decrease in payment
rates and have also experienced an increase in delingaenetes-andnet charge- offs during the year ended December 31, 2623
2024 as compared —We-expeetnet-eharge—offs-to eontintie-to-inerease-the prior year . These conditions are reflected in our
current estimate of expected credit losses -whieh-remaitrgenerally-eonsistent-with-the-prier-quarter-. Our allowance for credit
losses increased to $ 10. 6-9 billion during the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , primarily reflecting due-to-growthinloan
reeetvables;partially-offsetby-the-these conditions and reservereduetionrassoetated-with-the adeptierrimpact of ASH2622~-
62-the Ally Lending acquisition . See Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for
additional information on our significant accounting policies related to our allowance for credit losses. Delinquent and Non-
accrual Loans The following table provides information on our delinquent and non- accrual loans: At December 31, 2024 ($ in
millions) 30- 89 days delinquent90 or more days delinquentTotal past due90 or more days delinquent and accruingTotal
non- accruingCredit cards $ 2,229 $ 2,431 $ 4, 660 $ 2, 431 $ — Consumer installment loans139 39 178 — 39
Commercial credit products45 42 87 42 — Total delinquent loans $ 2, 413 $ 2, 512 $ 4, 925§ 2, 473 $ 39 Percentage of
total loan receivables2. 3 % 2.4 % 4.7 % 2.4 % — % At December 31, 2023 ($ in millions) 30- 89 days delinquent90 or
more days delinquentTotal past due90 or more days delinquent and accruingTotal non- accruingCredit cards $ 2, 375 $ 2,290 $
4,665 9% 2,290 $ — Consumer installment loans96 23 119 — 23 Commercial credit products61 40 101 40 — Total delinquent
loans $ 2 532 $2,353 $ 4, 885 $ 2,330 $ 23 Pereent"lge oftotal loan reeervables2 5%2.3%4.7 % 2 3% Aeﬂ-rdsé%

Qunhty lndreators Our loan recervables porttoho includes both secured and unsecured loans.Secured loan reeervables are largely
comprised of consumer installment loans secured by equipment.Unsecured loan receivables are largely comprised of our open-
ended consumer and commercial revolving credit card loans.As part of our credit risk management activities,on an ongoing
basis,we assess overall credit quality by reviewing information related to the performance of a customer’ s account with
us,including delinquency information,as well as information from credit bureaus relating to the customer’ s broader credit
performance.We utilize VantageScore credit scores to assist in our assessment of consumer credit quality. VantageScore credit
scores are obtained at origination of the account and are refreshed,at a minimum quarterly,but could be as often as weekly,to
assist in predicting customer behavior.We categorize these credit scores into the following three credit score categories:(i) 651
or higher,which are considered the strongest credits;(ii) 591 to 650,considered moderate credit risk;and (iii) 590 or less,which
are considered weaker credits. There are certain customer accounts ,including for our commercial credit products,for which a
VantageScore credit score #s-may not be available where we use alternative sources to assess their credit quality and predict
behavior. The following table provides the most recent VantageScore credit scores ,or equivalent, available for our revolving
credit card and commercial credit product customers at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022- respectively,as a percentage
of each class of loan receivable.The table below excludes 0.3 % and-8-4-%-of our total loan receivables balance for our credit
cards and commercial credit products at both December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022;respeetively-, which represents those
customer accounts for which a VantageScore eredit score ,or equlvalent is not available. AtDeeember312023262265+-At
December 3120242023651 or591 t0590 or651 0r591 t0590 0rh1gher650 lesshlgher650 lessCredlt 3H922—€$—m—mﬂ-heﬁ39—39-

e&d&cards73%l9%8%72%l9%9%$—%@$ﬁ+@$ﬁﬁ%ﬁ—ﬁ+%—%fmﬁm%ﬂeﬂ%ﬁﬁéﬂ%—
+4-Commercial credit produets44--- products 83 i

Pereentage-of totalHoanreeetvables2—6-% +-7 % 3-10 % 83 % 10 % 7 % +Consumer Installment Loans Delinquency
trends are the primary credit quality indicator for our consumer installment loans, which we use to monitor credit



quality and risk within the portfolio . 7%5—-23%-The tables below include information on our consumer installment loans
by origination year. The amounts for the current year period include information related to loan receivables associated
with the Ally Lending acquisition. See Note 3. Acquisitions and Dispositions for additional information. Consumer
[nstallment Loans by Origination YearBy origination yearAt ex-December 31, 2024 ($ in millions)
20242023202220212020PriorTotalAmortized cost basis $ 2,581 $ 1,761 $ 1, 005 $ 424 $ 166 $ 34 $ 5, 971 30- 89 days
delinquent $47 $44 $303 128581 $ 139 90 for—- or the-more days delinquent $ 13$13$9$3$1$ —$39 By
origination year-yearAt endedDeeember—---- December 31, 2023 (§ in millions) 20232022202120202019PriorTotal Amortized
cost basis $ 2,097 $ 931 $541$312%$69 $27$ 3,977 30- 89 days delinquent $44 $25$ 15893828 1 $ 96 90 or more days
delinquent $ 11$6$4$25—$—$23 Gurreﬁt—peﬂed-gfess-Gross eharge-Charge - offs for Consumer Installment Loans
by Origination YearBy $-65-$-84-$42-$19-$-5$3-$ 218 Byorigination searAt-yearFor the years ended ($ in millions)
20242023202220212020PriorTotalDecember 31,2024 $ 555 178 $ 117 $46 $16 $ 4 $ 416 December 31,2023 8 —$65 8
84542519 $ 889218 The Company adopted ASU 2022 %&ﬂmrﬁ%@%%%@%%@%@%@#)%@l&lﬂeﬁeﬁh%&wﬁ&ed-ee%
02 as of January 1, 2023 on a modified retrospective basis $-through a cumulative adjustment to retained earnings. The
guldance 1s applncable for all loans modlfied to borrowers experlencmg ﬁnancnal dlfﬁcultles since J anuary 1, 2023 44-1—$

ttse—te—memte%eredt&qﬁ&hﬁykaﬂd-ﬂs{ewﬁhm—fhe—peﬁfehe— See Note 2 chs 01‘ Plesentdtlon dnd Sumdey of Slgmhcant

Accounting Policies- Allowance for Credit Losses- Loan Modifications to Borrowers Experiencing Financial Difficulty for
addltlonal information on our significant aecountmg pollCles related to loan modifications to borrowers expenencmﬂ financial

loan modmcatlons made to borrowers experiencing fnmnudl dlthculty during the peﬂed—perlods presented which do not
include loans that are classified as loan receivables held for sale: ¥ear-Years ended December 3120242023 3+52023<$ in
millions) Amount (a) % of Total Class of Loan ReceivablesAmount (a) % of Total Class of Loan ReceivablesLong- term
modificationsCredit cards $ 1,743 1.8 % $ 1, 573 1. 6 % Consumer installment loans — — % — — % Commercial credit
produetsé-products10 0. 5 % 6 0. 3 % Short- term modificationsCredit eards628-cards948 1. 0 % 628 0. 6 % Consumer
installment loans — — % — — % Commercial credit products] — % 1 — % Total $2,7022.6 % $ 2,208 2. 1 % (a)
Represents balance at enrollment date. Financial Effects of Loan Modifications to Borrowers Experiencing Financial
Difficulty As part of our loan modifications to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty, we may provide multiple
concessions to minimize our economic loss and improve long- term loan performance and collectability. For long- term
modifications made in the year-years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the financial effect of these modifications reduced
the weighted- average interest rates by 97 % for both periods . For short- term modifications made in the year-years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, unpaid balances of $ 316 million and $ 186 million , respectively, were forgiven . Additionally,
effective in 2024, for borrowers that newly enroll in our short- term loan modification programs, we no longer charge
interest and penalty fees during the term of the program and also typically waive accrued and unpaid interest and fees at
the time of enrollment . Performance of Loans Modified to Borrowers Experiencing Financial Difficulty The following table
tables provides— provide information on the performance of loans modified to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty
which have been modified subsegtenttoJantary+;-2623-within the previous 12 months from the applicable balance sheet
date and rematrremained in a modification program at the periods presented: Amortized cost basisAt December 31, 2623
2024 (8 in millions) Current30- 89 days delinquent90 or more days delinquentTotal past due (a) Long- term

modificationsCredit cards $ 987 $ 169 $ 136 $ 305 Consumer installment loans — — — — Commercial credit products4
11 2 Short- term modificationsCredit cards65 37 45 82 Consumer installment loans — — — — Commercial credit
products — — — — Total delinquent modified loans $ 1, 056 $ 207 $ 182 § 389 Percentage of total loan receivablesl. 0 %

0.2%0.2 % 0.4 % Amortized cost basisAt December 31, 2023 (§ in millions) Current30- 89 days delinquent90 or more days
delinquentTotal past due (a) Long- term modificationsCredit cards $ 861 $ 180 $ 141 $ 321 Consumer installment loans — —
— — Commercial credit products2 1 1 2 Short- term modificationsCredit cards53 32 41 73 Consumer installment loans — —
— — Commercial credit products — — — — Total delinquent modified loans $ 916 § 213 $§ 183 $ 396 Percentage of total loan
receivables0. 9 % 0.2 % 0.2 % 0.4 % (a) Once a loan has been modified, it only returns to current

status ¢if the borrower pays the total minimum payment due or if the loan is re- aged yafter three consecutive monthly
program payments are received post the modification date. Payment Defaults The following table presents the type, number and
amount of loans to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty that enrolled in a long- term modification program durirg-within
the year-ended-Deeember3+-previous 12 months from the applicable balance sheet date , 2623-and experienced a payment
detault and charoed off during the ye&ﬁperlods presented Yeal ended December 31, 2024Year 2—92—3—(—$—rn—m1-1-heﬂs—&eeetm-ts




f6999—$—7§§—$—11'196{ onsumer 1n§tallment loan@ e Commercml credit pfed-uefs‘l-—productsl 2 )—— 2 4—’Fe’fa-l-Total98
$ 270 96 1:359-§ 235 Of the loans modified to borrowers experiencing {662-$757-$1210Finanetalfinancial Effeetsof
FPRs-difficulty that enrolled in a short- term modification program within the previous 12 months from the applicable
balance sheet date, 61 % and 54 % had fully completed all required payments and successfully exited the program
during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Troubled Debt Restructurings The following tabte
information on loan modifications for the year ended December 31, 2022 is presents-presented in accordance with the
types-and-finanetal-applicable accounting standards in effeets— effect of-at that time. For the year ended December 31,
2022, toans—- loan modified-and-receivables of $ 996 million enrolled in a modification plan that was accounted for as a
troubled debt restructurlng (“ TDR ”), for whlch substantlally all related to our credit card loans For TDR% made during

interest income was forgone as compared to the 1nterest eCOgH

that would have been feeeféed—wet-h—earned under the orlgmal terms of the termsﬁvef&ge—reeefded—mvesﬁﬂe&&nferest—meeme

6 a h ate-and Xperlenced a payment default and charged- off during the prier
yea-r—peﬂeds» perlodpfeseﬂted- Years ended December 31, 20222021 (...... % 88 % 6 % 6 % Unfunded Lending Commitments
We manage the potential risk in credit commitments by hmltlng the total amount of credit, both by individual customer and in
total, by monitoring the size and maturity of our portfolios and by applying the same credit standards for all of our credit
products. Unused credit card lines available to our customers totaled approximately $ 433 billion and $ 427 biien-and-$-4H7
billion at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622-, respectively. While these amounts represented the total available unused
credit card lines, we have not experienced and do not anticipate that all of our customers will access their entire available line at
any given point in time. Interest Income by Product The following table provides additional information about our interest and
fees on loans, including merchant discounts, from our loan receivables, including held for sale: For the years ended December
31 ($ in millions) 26232022202 +Credit-—--- 202420232022Credit cards (a) $ 20,554 $ 19, 341 $ 16, 471 $34:-886-Consumer
installment oans464—- loans854 401 287 24+-Commercial credit produetst56-products179 150 117 Other9 +63— 10 Othert6-6
4-Total (b) $21,596$ 19,902 $ 16, 881 $345;228-a) Interest income on credit cards that was reversed related to accrued
interest and fees receivables written off was $ 2. 4 billion, $ 1. 8 billion yand $ 1. | biienand-$1-0-billion for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 --and 2022 and2021-, respectively. (b) Deferred merchant discounts to be recognized in interest
income at December 31, 2623-2024 and December 31, 2622-2023 , were $ 1. 8 billion and $ 1. 9 bithionand-$+—Fbillion,
respectively, which are included in Accrued expenses and other liabilities in our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.
NOTE 6. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES We use VIEs to securitize loan receivables and arrange public and private asset-
backed financing in the ordinary course of business through Synchrony Card Issuance Trust, as well as private asset-
backed financing through Synchrony Credit Card Master Note Trust and Synchrony Sales Finance Master Trust .
Investors in these entities only have recourse to the assets owned by the entity and not to our general credit. We do not have
implicit support arrangements with any VIE and we did not provide non- contractual support for previously transferred loan
receivables to any of these VIEs in the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-. Our VIEs are able to accept new
loan receivables and arrange new asset- backed financings, consistent with the requirements and limitations on such activities
placed on the VIE by existing investors. Once an account has been designated to a VIE, the contractual arrangements we have
require all existing and future loan receivables originated under such account to be transferred to the VIE. The amount of loan
receivables held by our VIEs in excess of the minimum amount required under the asset- backed financing arrangements with
investors may be removed by us under removal of accounts provisions. All loan receivables held by a VIE are subject to claims
of third- party investors. In evaluating whether we have the power...... of the VIEs will be issued. The loan receivables in these
entities have risks and characteristics similar to our other finaneing-loan receivables and were underwritten to the same standard.
Accordingly, the performance of these assets has been similar to our other comparable loan receivables, and the blended
performance of the pools of receivables in these entities reflects the eligibility criteria that we apply to determine which
receivables are selected for transfer. Contractually, the cash flows from these finaneingloan receivables must first be used to
pay third- party debt holders, as well as other expenses of the entity. Excess cash flows, if any, are available to us. The creditors
of these entities have no claim on our other assets. The table below summarizes the assets and liabilities of our consolidated
securitization VIEs described above. At December 31 (8§ in millions) 20232022Assets-20242023 Assets [.oan receivables, net (a)
$19,439 $ 19, 537 $48;-645-Other assets (b) 44 47 6+Total $ 19, 483 $ 19, 584 $48;-676-LiabilitiecsBorrowings $ 7, 842 $ 7,
267 $6;227-Other habilittes3Hliabilities27 23-31 Total $ 7, 869 $ 7, 298 $-6;250-(a) Includes $ 1. 9 billion and $ 1. 89 billion
of related allowance for credit losses resulting in gross restricted oans— loan receivables of $ 21. 3 billion and $ 21. 4 bithen
and-$19-8-billion at December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622- respectively. (b) Includes $ 40 million and $ 45 millienand-$56
million of segregated funds held by the VIEs at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively, which are classified as
restricted cash and equivalents and included as a component of Other assets in our Consolidated Statements of Financial



Position. The balances presented above are net of intercompany balances and transactions that are eliminated in our consolidated
financial statements. We provide servicing for all of our consolidated VIEs. Collections are required to be placed into segregated
accounts owned by each VIE in amounts that meet contractually specified minimum levels. These segregated funds are invested
in cash and cash equivalents and are restricted as to their use, principally to pay maturing principal and interest on debt and the
related servicing fees. Collections above these minimum levels are remitted to us on a daily basis. Income (principally, interest
and fees on loans) earned by our consolidated VIEs was $ 4. 4 billion, $ 3. 9 billion ;-and $ 3. 7 bithesand-$4—+billion for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;and 2022 and2624-, respectively. Related expenses consisted primarily of provision for
credit losses of $ 963 million, $ 857 million yand $ 365 millenand-$-085) -million for the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023 yand 2022 and-2024- respectively, and interest expense of $ 427 million, $ 340 million ;-and $ 196 mithernand-$169
million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 ard-2624-, respectively. These amounts do not include
intercompany transactions, principally fees and interest, which are eliminated in our consolidated financial statements. Non-
consolidated VIEs As part of our community reinvestment initiatives, we invest in funds that invest in affordable housing
properties and receive affordable housing tax credits for these investments. We account for these investments using the
proportional amortization method, where the costs of the investment are amortized in proportion to the income tax
credits and other income tax benefits received. These investments are included in Other assets within our Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position totaled $ 776 million and $ 736 mithonand-$55Fmillion at December 31, 2023-2024 and
December 31, 2022-2023 | respectively, and represents our total exposure for these entities. Addittonatty-For the years ended
December 31 . we-have-2024, 2023 and 2022, provision for income taxes included amortization of $ 90 million, $ 71
million and $ 44 million, respectively, and tax credits and other tax benefits of $ 108 million, $ 90 million and $ 56
million, respectively, associated with investments in affordable housing properties. Our other investments in non-
consolidated VIEs whieh-totaled $ 274 million and $ 252 mitlerand-$236-million at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-,
respectively , are included in Other assets within our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position . At December 31,
%92—3—2024 the Company also has—had mvestment commltments of S -1-8-8—191 mllllon related to these mnv estments —Fe-H-he

properties-within-ineome-tax-expense-or-benefit- NOTE 7. (J()ODWILL AND OTHER INTAN(JIBLE ASSETS (‘{a in mllhons)
20232022Balanee-20242023Balance at January 1 $ 1, 018 $ 1, 105 Change in amounts $13+65Aleeated-allocated to
disposition of held-forsale-business (a) 4 (87) Goodwill recognized upon acquisition252 — Balance at December 31 § 1,274
$1,018$3165 (a) The change in the year ended December 31, 2024 was based upon the carrying
amount of net assets of Pets Best and the final valuation of consideration received at closing. [ntangible Assets26232622At
Assets20242023At December 31 (§ in millions) Gross carrying amountAccumulated amortizationNetGross carrying
amountAccumulated amortizationNetCapitalized software $ 2,361 $ (1,569) $ 792 $ 2, 065 $ (1, 302) $ 763 Other $ 195 $
(133) $62 $204 $ (152) $ 52 Total $2,556 $ ( |, 677702) $ 854 $ 2,269 S (1,

H60)-$85TFotal $2,269-$1-454) § 815 $45-922-$-180)-$742 During the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , we
recorded additions to intangible assets of § 392-363 million, primarily related to capitalized software expenditures , as well as
intangible assets of $ 18 million related to the Ally Lending acquisition. See Note 3. Acquisitions and Dispositions for
additional information . Amortization expense was $ 324 million, $ 294 million ;-and $ 252 mitherand-$209-million for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 aﬁd%@%l— respeem e]y ,and is included wrt-htn—as a component of Other
expense in our C onsolldated Statements of Earnings —A

expense for exlstmg intangible assets over the next five calendar years to be as follows (S in mllhons)
20242625202620272028Amertization—--- 20252026202720282029 Amortization cxpense $ 283-295 § 245-222 § +54-165 $ 9%
110 $ 5647 NOTE 8. DEPOSITS 26232022At+At December 31 ($ in millions) 20242023 Interest AmountAverage-rate(ay
AmeuntAverage-rate-{e)-Interest— bearing deposits : Money market and other demand deposits $ 2, 264 $ 1, 853 Savings28,
605 26, 220 Certificates of depositDirect41, 055 38, 546 Brokered5, 891 10, 123 Brokered sweep accounts3, 849 4, 047
Total interest- bearing deposits81, 664 30, 789 Total non 3—9-%-$H;336+-5%Nen— interest- bearing depeosits364
depos1ts398 364 —399—T0tal depOSltS S 82 062 $ 81, 15% Certificates of $7;735(a) Based-oninterestexpensefor-the

y ; se-deposits— Deposit batanees—At December 31, 2024, our certificates of
dep0s1t maturlng over the next ﬁve years and thereafter were as follows: ($ in millions)
20252026202720282029ThereafterCertificates of deposit $ 36, 740 $ 4,283 $ 3,053 $1,555% 1, 168 $ 147 At December
31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, interest—bearing-direct certificates of deposits— deposit inetaded-of $ 11. 2 billion and $ 10. 0
billion and-$F2-biien, respectively, were of denominations at or exceeding eertifieates-of deposit-thatexeeeded-applicable
FDIC insurance limits, which are generally $ 250, 000 per depositor for each account ownership category. These amounts
include partially insured certificates of deposit. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, eur-interest—bearing-time-the portion of these
direct certificates of depesﬁs—= deposn estlmated to be unlnsured m&&&rﬁg—eve%ﬂ&eﬂe*t—ﬁve—ye&rs—&nd—&rerea&eﬁﬁere—as
was feltews:=—5$ 3 #rm

fPhe—abeve—rﬂ&&rﬂt-y—tab-}e-e*e{-udes%—Z-S— -1—7 b11110n and ot demand-depos its-with-no-defined-mat 156 t 526-3 .2—3
billion , respectively. Brokered certificates of deposit are savmgs—&eeeﬂﬂ%s—assumed to be 1nd1v1dual depos1t balances

within applrcable FDIC insurance limits . Brokered Sweep Deposits Our In-addition;-at Deeember34;2023we-had-$4-6




Jel-l-l-len—e-f—blroker netw01k depo%lt iweepq are procured through a program arranger who channels brokerage account deposits to
; 5 bove ble-. Unless extended, the contracts associated with these broker network
depom sweeps Wlll ternnnate between 2025 and 2026 NOTE 9. BORROWINGS 20232022A+£20242023At December 31 ($ in
millions) Maturity dateInterest RateWeighted average interest rateOutstanding Amount (a) (b) Outstanding Amount (a) (b)
Borrowings of consolidated securitization entities: Fixed securitized borrowings2025- 28263-20273 . 37 %- 5. 74 % 4. 6273 %
$4,917 $ 3, 417 $2,39F Floating sccuritized berrowings2624-borrowings2025 - 20266-20275 . 16-14 %- 65 . 38-53 %, 65 .
22-29 % 3-2 , 856925 3, 850 Total borrowings of consolidated securitization entitiesS-entities4 . 4794 % 7, 842 7, 267 6,227
Senior unsecured notes: Synchrony Financial senior unsecured notes: Fixed senior unsecured netes2024-notes2025 - 20312. 8%
88 %- 5. 15 % 4.22-19 % 4, 637 6, 480 6;-473-Fixed- to- floating senior unsecured notes (c) 20305. 94 % 5. 94 % 745 —
Synchrony Bank senior unsecured notes: Fixed senior unsecured notes2025- 20275. 40 %- 5. 63 % 5. 49 % 1, 497 1, 494 4549+
Total senior unsecured notes4. 45-66 % 6, 879 7, 974 #-964-Subordinated unsecured notes: Synchrony Financial subordinated
unsecured notes: Fixed subordinated unsecured notes20337. 25 % 7. 25 % 741 —741 Total senior and subordinated unsecured
notes4. 6991 % 7, 620 8, 715 #-964-Total borrowings $ 15, 462 $ 15, 982 $34449Ha) Includes unamortized debt premiums,
discounts and issuance costs. (b) The Company may redeem certain borrowings prior to their original contractual maturity dates
in accordance with the optional redemption provision specified in the respective instruments. (¢) $ 750 million principal
amount issued in August 2024. Interest rate fixed through August 1, 2029; resets August 2, 2029 to floating rate based on
compounded Secured Overnight Financing Rate (" SOFR") plus 213 basis points. Debt Maturities The following table
summarizes the maturities of the principal amount of our borrowings of consolidated securitization entities and senior and
subordinated unsecured notes over the next five years and thereafter: ($ in millions)
26242625202620272028ThereafterBorrowings—--- 20252026202720282029ThereafterBorrowmgs $—4—22§—$ 5, 399—650 $ 3,
250$3 700$—$650$2 660 : tpa

%93—3—7—250 %—Addmonal Sourcei of L1qu1d1ty We have undrawn Conlnntted and uncommltted capa01ty unde1 certain credlt
facilities, primarily relatec-te-from private lenders under our securitization programs , subject to customary borrowing
conditions, and also have access to the Federal Reserve discount window. At December 31, 2023-2024 and2022-, we had an
aggregate of $ 2. 6 billion of undrawn capacity under our securitization financings, of which $ 2. 1 billion was committed
and $ 450 million was uncommitted. At December 31, 2023, we had an aggregate of $ 2. 5 billion of undrawn eommitted
capacity under our 9ecurmzat10n ﬁnanemgq subjeet—te-ettsfeﬂaary—befreﬁ&ng—eendﬁ-wﬁs—of which all was committed. At
December 31 , 2024 frem-priv ; prog and 2023. we had an aggregate of $ 500 65
bither-million of undrawn Conlnntted capacity under our unieeured revolvmg credit facility with private lenders. At December
31,2024 and 2023 and-2022-, we had an aggregate of $ 11. 5 billion and $ 10. 4 billion and-$-0—3-bitken-, respectively,
undrawirof available borrowing capacity through the Federal Reserve discount window betrewing-eapaeity-based on the
amount and type of assets pledged. NOTE 10. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS For a description of how we estimate fair
value, see Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. The following tables present our
assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis. At December 31, 2024 ($ in millions) Level 1Level 2Level
3Total (a) AssetsDebt securitiesU. S. government and federal agency $ — $ 1, 844 § — § 1, 844 State and municipal — —
16 16 Residential mortgage- backed — 289 — 289 Asset- backed — 922 — 922 Other — — 8 8 Other (b) 14 — 6 20 Total
$14 $3,0559$308$ 3,099 LiabilitiesOther (c) — — 11 11 Total $ — $ — $ 11 $ 11 At December 31, 2023 ($ in millions)
Level 1Level 2Level 3Total (a) AssetsDebt securitiesU. S. government and federal agency $ — $ 2,264 § — $ 2, 264 State and
municipa
14 — 10 24 Total $ 14 $ 3 780 $ 28 $ 3, 822 LiabilitiesOther (e

862-530-54 906 iabilittesOther{fe)———FF Fotal $—$—$7$7(a) For the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023
and2022-, there were no fair value measurements transferred between levels. (b) Other is primarily Comprlsed of equity
investments measured at fair value, which are included in Other assets in our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position, as
well as certain financial assets for which we have elected the fair value option which are included in Loan receivables in our
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. (c) Other includes ts-primartty-eomprised-of-certain financial liabilities for which
we have elected the fair value option ;whiehk-. These liabilities are included in Accrued expenses and other liabilities in our
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. Level 3 Fair Value Measurements Our Level 3 recurring fair value measurements
primarily relate to state and municipal and corporate debt instruments, which are valued using non- binding broker quotes or
other third- party sources, and financial assets and liabilities for which we have elected the fair value option. For a description of
our process to evaluate third- party pricing servicers, see Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies. Our state and municipal debt securities are classified as available- for- sale with changes in fair value included in
Accumulated other comprehensive income. The changes in our Level 3 assets and liabilities that are measured on a recurring
basis for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-26822-were not material. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Carried at Other Than Fair Value CarryingCorresponding fair value amountAt December 31, 2623-2024 ($ in millions)
valueTotalLevel 1Level 2Level 3Financial AssetsFinancial assets for which carrying values equal or approximate fair value:
Cash and equivalents (a) $ 14, 259-711 $ 14, 259-711 $ 14, 259-711 $ — $ — Other assets (a) (b) $ 50-44 $ 50-44 $ 44 50-$—S5
—Assetsheldforsale (e} $ H2- S H2-$H2-$ — § — Financial assets carried at other than fair value: Loan receivables, net (€
c)$9293 407785 $ 164106 , 76+632 $ — & — $ +04-106 , 761632 Financial Liabilities (d) Financial liabilities carried at
other than fair value: Deposits (e) $ 8382 ,453-062 $ 86-82 , 935256 $ — $ 80-82 , 935256 $ — Borrowings of consolidated
securitization entities $ 7, 267-842 $ 7, 256-871 § — $ 34 , 4H4+-950 $ 3-2 , 839-921 Senior and subordinated unsecured notes $



&7, H5620 $ 87 , 423502 $ — $ 87 ,423-502 $ — CarryingCorresponding fair value amountAt December 31, 2022-2023 ($
in millions) valueTotalLevel 1Level 2Level 3Financial AssetsFinancial assets for which carrying values equal or approximate
fair value: Cash and equivalents (a) $ +6-14 , 294-259 $ 16-14 . 294-259 § 4+6-14 , 294-259 § — $ — Other assets (a) (eb ) $ 436
50 $ 43650 $ 43650 $ — $ — Assets held for sale (f) $ 112 $ 112 $ 112 § — § — Financial assets carried at other than fair
value: Loan receivables, net (d-¢ ) $ 8292 ,936-407 $ 94104 ,339-761 $ — S — $94-104 , 339-761 Financial Liabilities (d)
Financial liabilities carried at other than fair value: Deposits (e) $ 7481 , 735153 $ 70-80 , 685935 5 — $ 70-80 , 685935 § —
Borrowings of consolidated securitization entities $ 67 , 227267 $ 67 , 27250 $ — $ 2,327-$-3, 880-411 $ 3, 839 Scnior and
subordinated unsecured notes $ -8 , 964-715 $ 78 , 530423 § — $ F-8 , 5360423 § — (a) For cash and equivalents and
restricted cash and equivalents, carrying value approximates fair value due to the liquid nature and short maturity of these
instruments. (b) This balance relates to restricted cash and equivalents, which is included in ether-Other assets. Excludes
accrued interest receivables of $ 25 million and $ 14 mllllon at December 31 2024 and 2023 respectlvely, for whlch
carrying value approximates fair value. (c ynehades -0 e ents-and-$ eash
and-equivatents—d-) Excludes financial assets for Wthh we have elected the falr Value option. Under Certaln retall partner
program agreements, the expected sales proceeds in the event of a sale of their credit card portfolio may be limited to the
amounts owed by our customers, which may be less than the fair value indicated above. (d) Excludes accrued interest payable
of $ 339 million and $ 397 million, included in Accrued expenses and other liabilities, in our Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, for which carrying values approximate fair value. (e)
Includes demand deposits with no defined maturity. (f) Includes $ 19 million of cash and equivalents and $ 93 million of
restricted cash and equivalents. At or for the year ended December 31 ($ in millions) 26232022Carrying—---
20242023Carrying Value $ 270 $ 245270 Upward adjustments (a) — 17 FDownward adjustments (a) ( 7) (6 H3-)

(a) Between January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2623-2024 , cumulative upward and downward
carrying value adjustments were $ 205 million and $ (44-21 ) million, respectively. NOTE 11. REGULATORY AND
CAPITAL ADEQUACY As a savings and loan holding company and a financial holding company, we are subject to
regulation, supervision and examination by the Federal Reserve Board and subject to the capital requirements as prescribed by
Basel III capital rules and the requirements of the Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. The Bank is a
federally chartered savings association. As such, the Bank is subject to regulation, supervision and examination by the Office of
the Comptroller of the Currency of the U. S. Treasury (the “ OCC ™), which is its primary regulator, and by the Consumer
Financial Protection Bureau (“ CFPB ). In addition, the Bank, as an insured depository institution, is supervised by the FDIC.
Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and, possibly, additional discretionary actions by
regulators that, if undertaken, could limit our business activities and have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines, we must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of
our assets, liabilities and certain off- balance- sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The capital
amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings and
other factors. Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require us and the Bank to maintain
minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the tables below) of Total, Tier 1 and common equity Tier 1 capital (as defined in the
regulations) to risk- weighted assets (as defined), and of Tier 1 capital to average assets (as defined). For Synchrony Financial to
be a well- capitalized savings and loan holding company, the Bank must be well- capitalized and Synchrony Financial must not
be subject to any written agreement, order, capital directive, or prompt corrective action directive issued by the Federal Reserve
Board to meet and maintain a specific capital level for any capital measure. The Company elected to adopt the option provided
by the interim final rule issued by joint federal bank regulatory agencies, which largely delayed the effects of CECL on its
regulatory capital. The -Begrnmng—m—t-he—ﬁrst—quaﬁe%e%@%%—t-he—effects were are-betng-phased- in over a three- year period
through 2024 and will be fully phased- in beginning in the first quarter of 2025. Under the interim final rule, the amount of
adjustments to regulatory capital deferred until the phase- in period included both the initial impact of our adoption of CECL at
January 1, 2020 and 25 % of subsequent changes in our allowance for credit losses during the two- year period ended December
31,2021, collectively the “ CECL regulatory capital transition adjustment . At December 31, 2623-2024 only 58-25 % of the
CECL regulatory capital transition adjustment is deferred in our regulatory capital amounts and ratios, as compared to #5-50 %
at December 31, 2022-2023 . At December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, Synchrony Financial met all applicable requirements
to be deemed well- capitalized pursuant to Federal Reserve Board regulations. At December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, the
Bank also met all applicable requirements to be deemed well- capitalized pursuant to OCC regulations and for purposes of the
Federal Deposit Insurance Act. There are no conditions or events subsequent to December 31, 2023-2024 that management
believes have changed the Company’ s or the Bank’ s capital category. The actual capital amounts, ratios and the applicable
required minimums of the Company and the Bank are as follows: At December 31, 2623-2024 ($ in millions) ActualMinimum
for capital adequacy purposesAmountRatio (a) AmountRatio (b) Total risk- based capital $ 45-17 , 464344-407 16 . 9-5 % $ 8,
277433 8. 0 % Tier | risk- based capital $ 43-15 , 33442239 14 . 9-5 % $ 6, 208-325 6. 0 % Tier | leverage $ 43-15 , 334+
23912 .79 % $ 4, 563717 4. 0 % Common equity Tier | capital $ 42-14 , 66642-017 13 . 23 % $ 4, 656744 4. 5 % At
December 31, 20222023 ($ in millions) ActualMinimum Aefua-l—(e)—M-tmmtﬂﬁ—for capital adequacy purposesAmountRatio (a)
AmountRatio (b) Total risk- based capital $ 15,464 14 ;25345-. 59 % $ 78 , 369277 8. 0 % Tier 1 risk- based capital $ 13,
026144-334 12 . 49 % $5-6 , 527208 6. 0 % Tier | leverage $ 13,02642-334 11 . 7 % $ 4,0896-563 4. 0 % Common equity Tier
1 capital $ 12,29243-600 12 . 3-2 % $ 4, +45-656 4. 5 % At December 31, 2023-2024 ($ in millions) ActualMinimum for
capital adequacy purposesMinimum to be well- capitalized under prompt corrective action provisionsAmountRatio (a)
AmountRatio (b) AmountRatioTotal risk- based capital $ +4;943-15,916 15 . 3-8 % $ -8 , 822-037 8. 0 % $ 9-10 , 778-046 10.
0 % Tier 1 risk- based capital $ +2;-886-13 , 80513 . 2-7 % $ 5-6 , 867027 6. 0 % $ 78 , 822037 8. 0 % Tier | leverage $ 13,
80512.4% $4.88042-4664 . 0 % $ 430240955, 377582 5. 0 % Common equity Tier | capital $ 425-886-13 , 80513 .




27 % $ 4,40808-521 4.5 % $ 6,356-530 6. 5 % At December 31, 20222023 ($ in millions) ActualMinimum Aetaal-(e}
Mintmum-for capital adequacy purposesMinimum to be well- Capltahzed under prompt corrective action
provisionsAmountRatio (a) AmountRatio (b) AmountRatioTotal risk- based capital $ +3-14 , 86016943 15 . +3 % $ 67 , 88+
822 8.0 % $89,60+778 10. 0 % Tier | risk- based capital $ 12, 744-44-880 13 . 82 % $ 5,4+6+867 6. 0 % $ 6-7 , 88+-822 8. 0
% Tier 1 leverage $ 12, 880 H443-39%$3812- 124 0% $ 4, 765302 4.0 % $ 5,377 5. 0 % Common equity Tier 1 capital
$12,H414-880 13 . 82 % $ 34, 876400 4. 5 % $5-6 , 594356 6. 5 % (a) Capital ratios are calculated based on the Basel 111
Standardized Approach rules. Capital amounts and ratios at December 31, 2023-2024 in the above tables reflect the applicable
CECL regulatory capital transition adjustment. (b) At December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, Synchrony Financial and the
Bank also must maintain a capital conservation buffer of common equity Tier 1 capital in excess of minimum risk- based capital
ratios by at least 2. 5 percentage points to avoid 11m1ts on Capltal distributions and certain dlscretlonary bonus payments to
executive officers and s1m11ar employees e or-period-a ntshave beenreeasttorefleetthe :

fermation—he Bank may pay dividends on its stock, with consent or non- objection from the OCC and the Federal Reserve
Board, among other things, if its regulatory capital would not thereby be reduced below the applicable regulatory capital
requirements. NOTE 12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS The following summarizes information related to the Synchrony
benefit plans and our remaining obligations to General Electric Company and its subsidiaries (“ GE ) related to certain of their
plans. Savings Plan Our U. S. employees are eligible to participate in a qualified defined contribution savings plan that allows
them to contribute a portion of their pay to the plan on a pre- tax basis. We make employer contributions to the plan equal to 3
% of eligible compensation and make matching contributions of up to 4 % of eligible compensation. We also provide certain
additional contributions to the plan for employees who were participants in GE' s pension plan at the time of Synchrony' s
separation from GE in November 2015 (the “ Separation ”). The expenses incurred associated with this plan were $ 93 million,
$ 88 million yand $ 80 mitherand-$69-million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 -and 2022 and-2024-
respectively. Health and Welfare Benefits We provide health and welfare benefits to our employees, including health, dental,
prescription drug and vision for which we are self- insured. The expenses incurred associated with these benefits were $ 139
million, $ 134 million ;-and $ |14 mitherand-$H3-million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 rand 2022 and202+
, respectively. GE Benefit Plans and Reimbursement Obligations Prior to the Separation, our employees participated in various
GE retirement and retiree health and life insurance benefit plans. Certain of these retirement benefits vested as a result of the
Separation. Under the terms of the Employee Matters Agreement between us and GE, GE will continue to pay for these benefits
and we are obligated to reimburse them. The principal retirement benefits subject to this arrangement are fixed, life- time
annuity payments. The estimated liability for our reimbursement obligations to GE for retiree benefits was $ 165 million and $
171 mitherand-$363-million at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively, and is included in Accrued expenses and
other liabilities in our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. NOTE 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE Basic earnings per
share is computed by dividing earnings available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per common share reflects the assumed conversion of all dilutive securities, which
are calculated using the treasury stock method. The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per
common share: Years ended December 31, ('$ in millions, except per share data) 202320222024Net-202420232022Net earnings
$3,499 $ 2,238 § 3, 016 $4;224Preferred stock dividends (4272 ) (42) (42) Net earnings available to common stockholders
$3,42782, 196§ 2, 974 $4479-Weighted average common shares outstanding, baste424-basic396. 5 421 . 2 480. 4 5646
Effect of dilutive seeurities2-securities4 . 12 . 3 3. 0 4—FWeighted average common shares outstanding, éifative423
dilutive400 . 6 423 . 5 483. 4 569-3-Earnings per basic common share $ 8. 64 $ 5. 21 $ 6. 19 $F46-Earnings per diluted
common share $ 8.55 $ 5. 19 § 6. 15 $F34-We have issued certain stock- based awards under the Synchrony Financial 2014
and 2024 Long- Term Incentive PlanrPlans . A total of less than 1 million, 4 million ;-and 3 mithesand+4-million shares for
the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;and 2022 and2024-, respectively, related to these awards, were considered anti-
dilutive and therefore were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per common share. NOTE 14. EQUITY AND
OTHER STOCK RELATED INFORMATION The following table summarizes the Company' s preferred stock issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-. SeriesIssuance DateRedeemable by Issuer BeginningPer Annum
Dividend RateLiquidation Preference per ShareTotal Shares OutstandingDecember 31, 2623Beeember-2024December 3 1, 2622
2023 ($ in millions, except per share data) Series A (a) November 14, 2019November 15, 20245. 625 % $ 1, 000750, 000 $ 734
$ 734 Series B (a) February 23, 2024May 15, 20298. 25 % (b) $ 734-1, 000500, 000 $ 488 $ — §$ 1, 222 1222000000 $ 734
(a) Issued as depositary shares, each representing a 1 / 40th interest in a share of the corresponding series of non- cumulative
perpetual preferred stock. Dividends are payable quarterly on February 15, May 15, August 15 and November 15 at a fixed rate,
in each case when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors. (b) Through May 14, 2029; resets May 15, 2029 and each
date falling on the fifth anniversary at S- Year Treasury Rate plus 4. 044 %. Dividends and Share Repurchases During the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 -and 2022 and202+-, we declared and paid common stock dividends of $ 1. 00, $ 0. 96 5
and $ 0. 90 and-$-6—88-per share of common stock, or $ 398 million, $ 406 million yand $ 434 mithefard-$-506-million,
respectively. We also declared and paid dividends on our Series A 5. 625 % fixed rate non- cumulative perpetual preferred
stock and dividends-ef$56-—24-pershare;or-our Series B 8. 250 % fixed rate reset non- cumulative perpetual preferred
stock totaling $ 72 million, $ 42 million and $ 42 million, for each of the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 s-and 2022
and-2021, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company repurchased an aggregate of 33-22 . 6-5
million shares of our common stock for $ 1. 40 billion, which does not reflect costs and taxes associated with the purchase of
shares. The cost of share repurchases, including direct and incremental costs associated with repurchasing, is recorded as a
reduction of shareholder’ s equity. In April 2623-2024 , we announced that the Board of Directors approved an incremental



share repurchase program of up to $ 1. 0 billion through June 30, 2025 (the" 2024 plan {the" April 2023-Share Repurehase
Pregram-") and at December 31, 2023-2024 we had $ 600 million remaining -share-repurehase-program-under the 2024 plan .
In all instances, our share repurchase programs are subject to market conditions and other factors, including legal and regulatory
restrictions and required approvals , if any . Synchrony Financial Incentive Programs We have established the Synchrony
Financial 2644-2024 Long- Term Incentive Plan (- whieh-wereferte-as-the <" 2024 Incentive Plan —Fhe-"), along with prior
Ineentive-incentive Plan-plans which permits— permit us to issue stock- based, stock- denominated and other awards to
officers, employees, consultants and non- employee directors providing services to the Company and our participating affiliates.
Available awards under the 2024 Incentive Plan include stock options and stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and
restricted stock units (“ RSUs ), performance share units (“ PSUs ) and other awards valued in whole or in part by reference to,
or otherwise based on, our common stock (other stock- based awards), and dividend equivalents. Each RSU is convertible into
one share of Synchrony Financial common stock. A total of 35-26 . 6-9 million shares of our common stock (including
authorized and unissued shares) are available for granting awards under the 2024 Incentive Plan. Our grants generally vest over
a three- year term on either an annual pro rata proportional basis, starting with the first anniversary of the award date, or at the
end of the term of the award on a cliff basis, provided that the employee has remained continuously employed by the Company
through such vesting date. For PSUs, the number of shares of common stock that will ultimately be awarded is contingent upon
meeting certain pre- defined financial goals over a designated three- year performance period, and can range from 0 % to 150 %
of the number of PSUs awarded. In addition, the final number of shares of common stock to be awarded is also subject to a Total
Shareholder Return (" TSR " ) modifier of /- 20 % based on our TSR performance relative to peers over the designated three-
year performance period . Compensation expense related to esr-equity awards is recorded as a component of Employee costs
in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings, with a corresponding adjustment to equity, net of tax, included within our
Consolidated Statements of Equity. At December 31, 2023-2024 , there were 4-1 . 4-9 million stock options issued and
outstanding and 5-7 . 8-0 million unvested other stock- based awards, comprising 3-4 . 54 million RSUs and 2. 4-6 million
PSUs. The total unrecognized compensation cost related to these awards at December 31, 2023-2024 was $ 464144 million,
which is expected to be amortized over a weighted average period of 1. 9 years. NOTE 15. INCOME TAXES Earnings before
Provision for Income Taxes For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2023202220245-202420232022U . S. $ 4,519 $
2,873 $ 3, 947 $5:483-Non- U. S. 34 31 15 28-Earnings before provision for income taxes $ 4,553 $ 2, 904 §$ 3, 962 $-5;503
For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 202320222024+Cuarrent-—--- 202420232022Current provision for income
taxesU. S. Federal $ 990 $ 943 § 1, 145 $895-U. S. state and teeaHF-locall55 171 217 +63-Non- U. S. 7 10 5-5 Total current
provision for income taxesl, 152 1, 124 1, 367 5-863-Deferred provision (benefit) for income taxesU. S. Federal ( 80) ( 384)
(352) +80-U. S. state and local ( 17) (73) (71) 46-Non- U. S. (1) (1) 2 €B-Deferred provision (benefit) for income taxes ( 98) (
458) (421) 249-Total provision for income taxes $ 1, 054 $ 666 $ 946 $3;282-Reconciliation of Our Effective Tax Rate to the
U. S. Federal Statutory Income Tax Rate For the years ended December 34202326222024+5-31202420232022U . S. federal
statutory income tax rate21. 0 % 21. 0 % 21. 0 % U. S. state and local income taxes, net of federal benefit3-benefit2 .43 . 53. 6
3—4-All other, net (0.3) (1. 6) (0. 79) Effective tax rate22-rate23 . 1 % 22 . 9 % 23. 9 %23—3-% Significant Components
of Our Net Deferred Income Taxes At December 31 (§ in millions) 20232022AssetsAHowanee----- 20242023 AssetsAllowance
for credit losses $ 2, 718 $ 2, 626 $2;366-Compensation and employee benefitsi49-benefits133 128-149 Other assets}66—
assets216 +93-166 Total deferred income tax assets before valuation aHewanee2-allowance3 , 067 2 , 941 2,687 Valuation
allowance ( 20) ( 18 33-) Total deferred income tax assets $ 3, 047 $ 2, 923 $2,-674-LiabilitiesOriginal issue discount $ ( 262)
$ (365 3$€504-) Goodwill and identifiable intangibles (&197 ) (198) Investment securities (a) (193 ) (587 ) Other liabilities (a)
(465105 ) (+49-108 ) Total deferred income tax liabilities ( 757) ( 728 H846-) Net deferred income tax assets $ 2,290 $ 2, 195

$+-828- (a) Prior period amounts have-beerrreeasttorefleet-the-ehange-in the table above are

Unrecognlzed Tax Beneﬁts Reconcﬂlanon of

Unrecognlzed TaX Beneﬁtq ($ in mllhons) %92—3%92%Ba}aﬁee-20242023Balance at January 1 $ 230 $ 267 $274-Additions: Tax
positions of the current yeard8-97year39 40 Tax positions of prior years2— years +— 2 Reductions: Prior year tax positions (
20) (47 33 Settlements with tax authorities ( 7) ( 1) —Expiration of the statute of limitation ( 35) (31 332-) Balance at
December 31 $ 207 $ 230 $267-Portion of balance that, if recognized, would impact the effective income tax rate $ 163 $ 182 $
+7#+The amount of unrecognized tax benefits that is reasonably possible to be resolved in the next twelve months is expected to
be $39-36 m11110n of Wthh $ 3—1—28 mllhon 1f recognlzed Would reduce the eefnp&ny—Company s tax expen%e and effective

§ asset—1 he Company continued to participate Voluntarlly in the IRS
Comphance A%surance Proceqs (“ CAP ”) program for the 2623-2024 tax year —aﬂd—t-hus—t-he—ta-)&ye&r—ts—tmder—l-fks-feﬁew— We
expect that the IRS review of our 2823-2024 return will be substantially completed prior to its filing in 2624-2025 . During the
current year, the IRS completed its examination of our 2622-2023 tax year, which was our only other year subject to current IRS
audit. Additionally, we are under examination in various states going back to 2014. We believe that there are no issues or claims
that are likely to significantly impact our results of operations, financial position or cash flows. We further believe that we have
made adequate provision for all income tax uncertainties that could result from such examinations. Interest expense and
penalties related to income tax liabilities recognized in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings were not material for all periods
presented. NOTE 16. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL INFORMATION The following tables present parent company
financial statements for Synchrony Financial. At December 31, 2023-2024 , restricted net assets of our subsidiaries were $ +2-14
.42 billion. Condensed Statements of Earnings For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 20232022202 Hnterest-----



2024202320221Interest income: Interest income from subsidiaries $ 365 $ 355 $ 134 $-6F-Interest on cash and debt seeurities34
- securities41 34 § +-Total interest ineome389-income406 389 142 68-Interest expense: Interest on senior and subordinated
unsecured notes335-notes319 335 279 264-Total interest e*peﬂse%—?vé—expense319 335 279 264-Net interest income (expense) 87
54 (137 396-) Dividends from bank substdiartest-subsidiaries600 1, 450 3, 150 2,606-Dividends from nonbank
substidiariesto2-subsidiaries147 102 290 +47-Other ineomet35—- incomel, 214 135 122 327-Other expense262-expense236
202 177 292-Earnings before expense / ( benefit ) from income taxes!, 812 1, 539 3, 248 2;-586-Expense / (Benefit-benefit )
from income taxes-taxes259 (10) (46 326-) Equity in undistributed net earnings (loss) of substédiartesé83-subsidiaries1 , 946
683 (278) -669-Net earnings $ 3,499 $ 2, 238 § 3, 016 $422+-Comprehensive income $ 3,508 $ 2, 295 $ 2, 960 $4;263
Condensed Statements of Financial Position At December 31 ($ in millions) 20232022 AssetsCash—--- 20242023 AssetsCash and
equivalents $ 2, 680 $ 3, 214 $3;287-Debt seeurities49-securities37 68-49 Investments in and amounts due from subsidiaries
(a) 19, 938 18, 285 +6;338-Goeedwii25-Goodwill30 59-25 Other assets337-326-assets945 337 Total assets $ 23,630 $ 21,910 %
20,-076-Liabilities and EquityAmounts due to subsidiaries $ 351 $ 316 $287-Senior and subordinated unsccured aetes?
notes6 , 123 7 , 221 6;-473-Accrued expenses and other liabilities 576 470 437-Total habilitiesSliabilities7 , 050 8 , 007 #1497
Equity: Total equityd3-equityl6 , 580 13 , 903 +2,-873-Total liabilitics and equity $ 23,630 $ 21, 910 $208,670-(a) Includes
investments in and amounts due from bank subsidiaries of $ 15. 7 billion and $ 14. 0 bihenand-$32-4-billion at December 31,
2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively. Condensed Statements of Cash Flows For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions)
202320222021 Cash—--- 202420232022Cash flows- operating activities Net earnings $ 3,499 $ 2, 238 $ 3, 016 $4;224
Adjustments to 1u0nc1lu net mmmgs to cash provided from opualmg activitiesDeferred income fa*es9—taxe5122 9(1)34
eerease-trother-ass e penses-an h ; 6-Equity in
undlslllbuud net (Larnm(*s) loss of subsidiaries ( 1, 946) ( 68? 278 Galn on sale 0fbusmess (1 699—069 ) — — All other
operating aetivitiesto+-activities169 101 28 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and
dispositions (Increase) decrease in other assets (166 16) 19 (28) Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses and other
liabilities (15) 21 (4) Cash provided from (used for) operating aetivittest-activities744 1 , 705 3, 289 25-66+-Cash flows-
investing activities Net (increase) decrease in investments in and amounts due from substdiartes-subsidiaries95 (898) 265 645
Maturity and sales of debt seenrtttest4-securities12 14 2 | 44-Purehases-Proceeds from sale of business594 debtseeurities-—
— 53-All other investing activities ( §) (45) (6 H432-) Cash provided from (used for) investing aetivities-activities696 (929)
280 552-Cash flows- financing activities Senior and suberdinated unsecured notesProceeds from issuance of senior and
subordinated unsecured notes746-notes745 740 745 F44-Maturities and repayment of senior unsecured notes (1, 850) — (750)
750)-Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock488 — — Dividends paid on preferred stock (42-72 ) (42) (42) Purchases of
treasury stock (1, 008) (1, 112) (3, 320 HZ-8%6-) Dividends paid on common stock ( 398) (406) (434 3566-) Increase
(decrease) in amounts due to substdiaries-subsidiaries82 (7) 14 4-All other financing aetivittes-activities39 (22) (41) 32-Cash
provided from (used for) financing activities ( 1, 974) ( 849) (3, 828) 3;388)-Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents ( 534) (
73) (259 3445 Cash and equivalents at beginning of year3, 214 3, 287 3, 546 3;:#24+-Cash and equivalents at end of year § 2,
680 $ 3,214 % 3,287 $3;546-NOTE 17 . SEGMENT REPORTING We conduct our operations through a single business
segment, which derives interest and fee income earned on our credit products we offer to our customers. Our credit
products include private label, dual, co- brand and general purpose credit cards, as well as short- and long- term
installment loans. Revenue generating activities are aligned through five sales platforms (Home & Auto, Digital,
Diversified & Value, Health & Wellness and Lifestyle). Those platforms are organized by the types of partners we work
with to reach our customers. Substantially all of our interest and fees on loans and long- lived assets relate to our
operations within the United States. Pursuant to FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC ) 280, Segment
Reporting, operating segments represent components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is
available that is regularly evaluated by the chief operating decision maker in determining how to allocate resources and
in assessing performance. The chief operating decision maker, our President and Chief Executive Officer, uses
consolidated net earnings to assess the performance and profitability of our single business segment. While revenue
generating activities are aligned through our five sales platforms, expense activities, including funding costs, credit losses
and operating expenses, are managed for the Company as a whole. As a result, detailed profitability information for
each sales platform is not used by our chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker uses
consolidated net earnings to assess performance by comparing to and monitoring against budget and prior year results.
This information is used to manage resources to drive business and net earnings growth, including investment in key
strategic priorities, as well as determine the Company' s ability to return capital to shareholders. The following table
presents segment information for the periods presented herein: For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions)
2024202320221Interest and fees on loans $ 21, 596 $ 19, 902 $ 16, 881 Interest on cash and debt securities1, 049 808 265
Total interest income22, 645 20, 710 17, 146 Total interest expense4, 634 3, 711 1, 521 Net interest income18, 011 16, 999
15, 625 Retailer share arrangements (3, 407) (3, 661) (4, 331) Reserve build (release) 313 1, 345 839 Net charge- offs6, 420
4, 620 2, 536 Provision for credit losses6, 733 5, 965 3, 375 Other income: Other income452 289 260 Gain on sale of
business (Note 3) 1, 069 — — Gain on sale of loan portfolio — — 120 Total other incomel, 521 289 380 Other expense:
Employee costs1, 872 1, 884 1, 681 Professional fees936 842 832 Marketing and business development 524 527 487
Information processing 803 712 623 Fraud- related operational losses192 288 173 Other segment items (a) S12 505 541
Total other expense 4, 839 4, 758 4, 337 Provision for income taxes1, 054 666 946 Net earnings $ 3,499 $ 2,238 § 3, 016
(a) Represents the total amount of other expenses included in net earnings, including postage and various other
corporate overhead items such as facilities costs and telephone charges. Our segment assets represent our total assets as
presented on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. NOTE 18 . LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND
REGULATORY MATTERS In the normal course of business, from time to time, we have been named as a defendant in various




legal proceedings, including arbitrations, class actions and other litigation, arising in connection with our business activities.
Certain of the legal actions include claims for substantial compensatory and / or punitive damages, or claims for indeterminate
amounts of damages. We are also involved, from time to time, in reviews, investigations and proceedings (both formal and
informal) by governmental agencies regarding our business (collectively, “ regulatory matters ), which could subject us to
significant fines, penalties, obligations to change our business practices or other requirements resulting in increased expenses,
diminished income and damage to our reputation. We contest liability and / or the amount of damages as appropriate in each
pending matter. In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, we establish an accrued liability for legal and regulatory
matters when those matters present loss contingencies which are both probable and reasonably estimable. Legal proceedings and
regulatory matters are subject to many uncertain factors that generally cannot be predicted with assurance, and we may be
exposed to losses in excess of any amounts accrued. For some matters, we are able to determine that an estimated loss, while not
probable, is reasonably possible. For other matters, including those that have not yet progressed through discovery and / or
where important factual information and legal issues are unresolved, we are unable to make such an estimate. We currently
estimate that the reasonably possible losses for legal proceedings and regulatory matters, whether in excess of a related accrued
liability or where there is no accrued liability, and for which we are able to estimate a possible loss, are immaterial. This
represents management’ s estimate of possible loss with respect to these matters and is based on currently available information.
This estimate of possible loss does not represent our potential maximum loss exposure. The legal proceedings and regulatory
matters underlying the estimate will change from time to time and actual results may vary significantly from current estimates.
Our estimate of reasonably possible losses involves significant judgment, given the varying stages of the proceedings, the
existence of numerous yet to be resolved issues, the breadth of the claims (often spanning multiple years), unspecified damages
and / or the novelty of the legal issues presented. Based on our current knowledge, we do not believe that we are a party to any
pending legal proceeding or regulatory matters that would have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition
or liquidity. However, in light of the uncertainties involved in such matters, the ultimate outcome of a particular matter could be
material to our operating results for a particular period depending on, among other factors, the size of the loss or liability
1mp0§ed and the level of our earnlngs for that perlod and could adversely affect our business and reputation. -Be}ew—ts—a

and Procedureg Under the dlrectlon of our Chief Executlve Officer and Chlef Financial Ofﬁcer we evaluated the effectlveneis
of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) under the Exchange Act), and based
on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2023-2024 . Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting There was no
change in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2623-2024 that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Report on
Management' s Assessment of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting The management of Synchrony Financial (** the
Company ) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company
as defined by Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 and 15d- 15. The Company' s internal control over financial reporting is designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external reporting purposes in accordance with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles. The Company' s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable
detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the Company' s assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that the Company' s receipts and expenditures are made only in accordance with authorizations of the
Company' s management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company' s assets that could have a material effect on its financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Although
any system of internal control can be compromised by human error or intentional circumvention of required procedures, we



believe our system provides reasonable assurance that financial transactions are recorded and reported properly, providing an
adequate basis for reliable financial statements. The Company’ s management has used the criteria established in Internal
Control- Integrated Framework (2013 framework) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“ COSO ”) to evaluate the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting. The
Company’ s management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2623-2024 and has concluded that such internal control over financial reporting is effective. There are no material
weaknesses in the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting that have been identified by the Company’ s
management. KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the consolidated financial statements
of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2823-2024 and has also issued an audit report, which is included in “
Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ” of this Form 10- K Report, on internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2023-2024 under Auditing Standard No. 2201 of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (“ PCAOB ”). OTHER KEY INFORMATION



